Oil Prices and the Trade Balance of Sub-Saharan African Countries: The Roles of Oil Price Volatility, Real Exchange Rates, and Financial Integration.

Halima Munzali Jibril

Submitted in accordance with the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

The University of Leeds, Department of Economics, Leeds University Business School.

November 2016

Intellectual Property Statement

The candidate confirms that the work submitted is her own and that appropriate credit has been given where reference has been made to the work of others. This copy has been supplied on the understanding that it is copyright material and that no quotation from the thesis may be published without proper acknowledgement.

© 2016. The University of Leeds. Halima Munzali Jibril.

Acknowledgements

I praise and thank Almighty Allah for granting me the opportunity to undertake this research, for giving me the required hope, guidance, and health. All praise is due to Him.

Special thanks go to my supervisor, Kausik Chaudhuri, whose support, guidance, and 'tough love' have motivated me to push my limits. Thank you for being a mentor and a friend. I thank Annina Kaltenbrunner for her patient intellectual guidance and emotional support. Her ideas and attention to detail have greatly improved the quality of this research. I am thankful for the guidance and support of Kevin Reilly which, although received early on, has been very helpful until the end. I am also grateful to Malcolm Sawyer for his invaluable feedback on this thesis.

I wish to thank the Leeds University Business School for the scholarship that made this research financially possible. I am grateful to Luisa Zanchi, Dan Coffey and Virginie Pérotin who believed in me and encouraged me to undertake this PhD.

The PhD experience would not have been the same without the good fun with my friends and colleagues, Grace Essien and Tolulope Akinfemisoye. Thanks for being my sounding boards. I am also thankful to Michael Ononugbo for helping source part of the data used in this research, and for useful advice.

I am especially grateful to my family. I wish to thank my father, whose unwavering belief in me has inspired and motivated me, and whose financial support has always been available. My mother has supported me in every possible way. I wish to thank her for the sacrifices she has made to make this PhD successful- her support has been constant, untiring and loving. I am thankful to my siblings who have encouraged and prayed for me throughout this journey. I especially thank Mubarak who has drawn on his own PhD experience to guide and encourage me whenever the going got tough.

Last but not least, I am very grateful to my husband, Umar, for his love, support and encouragement. Thanks for sharing my joy, my tears and the everyday stress of my PhD. I also wish to thank Adeelah, just for being there- my constant source of joy.

Abstract

This thesis empirically examines the effects of oil prices on the trade balances of oil importing and exporting Sub-Saharan African countries. These countries depend heavily on international trade for foreign exchange and economic growth, and fluctuations in oil prices have direct implications for their terms of trade. This thesis contributes to the oil price-trade balance literature by focusing on three aspects of this relationship that are unexplored. First, this thesis introduces the issue of nonlinear oil price effects to the trade balance literature. Using a Threshold Vector Autoregressive Model, it estimates asymmetric and threshold effects of oil prices on the trade balance, focusing on oil price volatility as the source of nonlinearity. Nonlinearities are shown to be stronger in the effects of oil price volatility shocks than oil price level shocks: volatility shocks have larger effects on the trade balance when they occur in an already volatile environment, and decreases in oil price volatility have larger effects than increases. Second, this thesis pioneers the empirical investigation of the role of real exchange rates in determining the effects of oil prices on the trade balance. Using a Cross Section Dependence robust panel data method, this thesis shows that real exchange rate depreciations reduce the effects of oil prices on the trade balances of SSA countries, while real appreciations reinforce these effects. Third, this thesis is the first study to empirically investigate how higher international financial risk sharing affects the response of the trade balance to oil prices. To do this, it employs a Panel Smooth Transition Regression model. The results show that oil importing SSA countries that are well integrated in global financial markets, with higher access to foreign funds, fare better when the oil price is high: they are able to avoid large fluctuations in their nonoil trade balances by smoothing nonoil consumption.

Table of Contents

Acknowledgements 2
Abstract
List of Abbreviations
Chapter 1: Introduction 11
Chapter 2: Overview of the Sub-Saharan African Economy 19
Chapter 3: Nonlinear effects of oil price shocks on Nigeria's trade balance: Evidence from a Threshold Vector Autoregressive Model
3.1. Introduction:
3.2. Literature Review:
3.2.1. Nonlinear effects of oil price level and volatility shocks on macroeconomic activity:
3.2.2. The effects of oil price level and volatility shocks on the trade balance: 35
3.3. Data and Methodology: 39
3.3.1. The Theoretical Model 39
3.3.2. Methodology:
3.3.2.1. Testing for the TVAR and Estimating the Threshold Values:
3.3.2.2. Nonlinear Impulse Response Functions:
3.3.3. Data:
3.4. Results
3.4.1. Testing the nonlinear model 48
3.4.2. Response of the trade balance to shocks
3.4.2.1. Response of the oil trade balance to shocks:
3.4.2.2. Response of the non-oil trade balance to shocks:
3.4.2.3. Response of the overall trade balance to shocks:
3.4.3. Robustness to alternative volatility measure:
3.5. Discussion of results:
3.6. Conclusions:
Chapter 4: Oil Prices and Bilateral Trade Balances of Sub-Saharan African Countries: What are the roles of exchange rates?
4.1. Introduction
4.2. Literature Review:
4.2.1. Oil prices and the trade balance:
4.2.2. Exchange rates and the trade balance:
4.2.3. The oil price-exchange rate nexus:
4.3. Data and Methodology: 81
4.3.1. The Model:
4.3.2. The Method:
4.3.3. Data:
4.4. Results:
4.4.1. Tests for Cross Section Dependence

4.4.2. Long run heterogeneous impacts of oil prices and exchange rates on the trade balance
4.4.2.1. Oil exporters (Angola, Cameroon and Nigeria)
4.5. Discussion of results102
4.6. Conclusions:
Chapter 5: Oil Prices and Trade Balances of sub-Saharan African Countries: The Role of International Financial Integration107
5.1. Introduction:
5.2. Literature review:110
5.3. Data and Methodology:116
5.3.1. The PSTR model:
5.3.2. Linearity Tests and Parameter Estimation117
5.3.3. The empirical model:118
5.3.4. Data:
5.3.5. Variable transformations and measurements:
5.4. Results:
5.4.1. Linearity tests:
5.4.2. PSTR estimation results:128
5.4.2.1. The effects of oil prices on the trade balances of the full sample of SSA countries:
5.4.2.2. The effects of oil prices on the trade balance of SSA oil importers:134
5.4.2.3. The effects of oil prices on the trade balance of SSA oil exporters:135
5.4.2.4. Robustness to alternative trade balance measures:
5.4.2.5. Robustness to the inclusion of crisis dummies:141
5.5. Discussion of Results:146
5.6. Conclusions:
Chapter 6: Conclusions150
References155
Appendices:

Table of Figures

Figure 2.1: Average GDP growth rate of SSA countries and oil price growth rate.	.19
1980-2012	19
Figure 2.2: Average trade as a percentage of GDP for SSA countries: 1980-2012	.20
Figure 2.3: Oil prices and average terms of trade of SSA oil importers and exporters, 1980-2012	.22
Figure 2.4: Oil prices and the average trade balance of SSA oil importers and exporters: 1980-2012	.23
Figure 2.5: Oil price volatility, 1980-2012	.23
Figure 2.6: Oil and non-oil commodity price indices. 1980-2012	25

Figure 2.7: Average Financial Integration of developing countries by region, 1980-2011
Figure 3.1: The Oil Price and Nigeria's Overall Trade Balance46
Figure 3.2: Standard Deviation measure of oil price volatility and its threshold value
Figure 3.3: Response of the oil trade balance to shocks conditional on regime: Standard deviation measure of volatility
Figure 3.4: Response of the nonoil trade balance to shocks conditional on regime: Standard deviation measure of volatility
Figure 3.5: Response of the overall trade balance to shocks conditional on regime: Standard deviation measure of volatility
Figure 3.6: GARCH (1, 1) measure of oil price volatility and its threshold value57
Figure 3.7: Response of the oil trade balance to shocks conditional on regime: GARCH measure of volatility60
Figure 3.8: Response of the nonoil trade balance to shocks conditional on regime: GARCH measure of volatility61
Figure 3.9: Response of the overall trade balance to shocks conditional on regime: GARCH measure of volatility62
Figure 4.1: proportion of total SSA trade represented by sample countries (84.6% of total SSA trade)85
Figure 4.2: Proportion of SSA trade accounted for by chosen trading partners, 1991-2011 (62% of total trade)
Figure 4.3: Percentage of total trade accounted for by chosen trading partners, period average
Figure 4.4: Oil and Non-oil Price Indices
Figure 5.1 Financial integration, logarithm124
Figure 5.2a: Financial Integration by SSA country (Logarithm): 1990-2010).125
Figure 5.2b: Financial Integration by SSA country (Logarithm) (Cont'd): 1990-2010)

List of Tables

Table 3.1: Unit Root Tests 4	7
Table 3.2: Descriptive Statistics 4	7
Table 3.3: Test for Threshold VAR4	8
Table 4.1: Test for Cross-Sectional Dependence (CSD)	1
Table 4.2. Long run heterogeneous Common Correlated Effects Mean Group estimation of bilateral trade balance equation for Angola, 1990-2011	3
Table 4.3. Long run heterogeneous Common Correlated Effects Mean Group estimation of bilateral trade balance equation for Cameroon, 1990-20119	3
Table 4.4. Long run heterogeneous Common Correlated Effects Mean Group estimation of bilateral trade balance equation for Nigeria, 1990-2011	4
Table 4.5. Long run heterogeneous Common Correlated Effects Mean Groupestimation of bilateral trade balance equation for Ethiopia, 1990-20119	7

Table 4.6. Long run heterogeneous Common Correlated Effects Mean Group estimation of bilateral trade balance equation for Ghana, 1990-201197
Table 4.7. Long run heterogeneous Common Correlated Effects Mean Groupestimation of bilateral trade balance equation for Kenya, 1990-2011
Table 4.8. Long run heterogeneous Common Correlated Effects Mean Group estimation of bilateral trade balance equation for South Africa, 1998-201198
Table 4.9. Long run heterogeneous Common Correlated Effects Mean Groupestimation of bilateral trade balance equation for Tanzania, 1990-2011
Table 4.10. Short run average Common Correlated Effects Mean Group estimation of bilateral trade balance equations for SSA countries, 1990-2011100
Table 4.11. Long run average Common Correlated Effects Mean Group estimation of bilateral trade balance equations for SSA countries, 1990-2011101
Table 4.12. Cross Section Dependence robust Fixed Effects regression of thebilateral trade balance equations of SSA countries, 1990-2011
Table 5.1: Descriptive Statistics, full sample124
Table 5.2a: Linearity Tests: Full sample ($ ho - values$)
Table 5.2b: Linearity Tests: Oil importers (ρ – values)
Table 5.2c: Linearity Tests: Oil exporters (ρ – values)
Table 5.3a: Panel Smooth Regression Model estimates of the overall tradebalance equation for SSA countries, 1990-2010.
Table 5.3b: Panel Smooth Regression Model estimates of the non-oil tradebalance equation for SSA countries, 1990-2010.
Table 5.4a: Panel Smooth Regression Model estimates of the overall tradebalance equation for oil importing SSA countries, 1990-2010.
Table 5.4b: Panel Smooth Regression Model estimates of the non-oil tradebalance equation for oil importing SSA countries, 1990-2010.
Table 5.5: Panel Smooth Regression Model estimates of the non-oil tradebalance equation for oil exporting SSA countries, 1990-2010137
Table 5.6a: Panel Smooth Regression Model estimates of the overall trade balance (as a percentage of GDP) equation for SSA countries, 1990-2010138
Table 5.6b: Panel Smooth Regression Model estimates of the nonoil trade balance (as a percentage of GDP) equation for SSA countries, 1990-2010138
Table 5.6c: Panel Smooth Regression Model estimates of the oil trade balance(as a percentage of GDP) equation for SSA countries, 1990-2010.
Robustness to Alternative Trade Balance Measures: Oil importers
Table 5.7b: Panel Smooth Regression Model estimates of the nonoil tradebalance (as a percentage of GDP) equation for oil importing SSA countries,1990-2010.140
Table 5.7c: Panel Smooth Regression Model estimates of the oil trade balance (as a percentage of GDP) equation for oil importing SSA countries, 1990-2010.140
Table 5.8a: Panel Smooth Regression Model estimates of the overall tradebalance equation for the full sample of SSA countries (with crisis dummies),1990-2010.142
Table 5.8b: Panel Smooth Regression Model estimates of the nonoil tradebalance equation for the full sample of SSA countries (with crisis dummies),1990-2010.143
Table 5.9a: Panel Smooth Regression Model estimates of the overall tradebalance equation for the of SSA oil importers(with crisis dummies), 1990-2010.143

Table 5.9b: Panel Smooth Regression Model estimates of the nonoil trade	
balance equation for the of SSA oil importers (with crisis dummies), 1990-	
2010	44
Table 5.10: Panel Smooth Regression Model estimates of the nonoil trade	
balance equation for the of SSA oil exporters (with crisis dummies), 1990-	
2010	44

List of Appendices

Appendix A: Response of Nigeria's Nonoil, Oil and Overall Trade Balances to shocks- Conditional on Volatility Regimes:	164
Appendix B: SSA countries and their bilateral trade balances with major tradi partners:	ing 176
Appendix C: Descriptive Statistics	180
Appendix D: Price Elasticities of Oil Demand for Sample SSA Countries	182
Pooled mean group estimation of the price elasticity of demand for oil - 1990 2011	'- 182
Appendix E- Unit Root Tests:	183
Appendix F- Data sources	183
Appendix G- List of sample countries:	184
Appendix H: Grouping of countries by average levels of international financia integration, 1990-2011	l 185
Appendix I: Linearity tests for models when controlling for the 2008-2009 crisis.	186

List of Abbreviations

ADF	Augmented Dickey-Fuller
CBN	Central Bank of Nigeria
CCE	Common Correlated Effects
CCEMG	Common Correlated Effects Mean Group
CSD	Cross Section Dependence
CEMAC	Central African Economic and Monetary Community
CPI	Consumer Price Index
DOTS	Direction of Trade Statistics
DSGE	Dynamic Stochastic General Equilibrium
ECA	Excess Crude Account
ECOWAS	Economic Community of West African States
EIA	Energy Information Agency
EU	European Union
FDI	Foreign Direct Investment
GARCH	Generalised Autoregressive Conditional Heteroscedasticity
GDP	Gross Domestic Product
GIRF	Generalised Impulse Response Function
GMM	Generalised Method of Moments
HLM	Harberger-Laursen-Metzler
IFS	International Financial Statistics
IIP	Index of Industrial Production
IMF	International Monetary Fund
IRF	Impulse Response Functions
KPSS	Kwiatkowski, Phillips, Schmidt and Shin
MG	Mean Group
ML	Marshall-Lerner
MTVAR	Multivariate Threshold Vector Autoregressive Model
NAFTA	North American Free Trade Agreement

NBS	National Bureau of Statistics (Nigeria)
NER	Nominal Exchange Rate
NOTB	Non-Oil Trade Balance
OECD	Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development
OPEC	Organization of Petroleum Exporting Countries
OPM	Oil Price - Macroeconomy
OTB	Oil Trade Balance
PSTR	Panel Smooth Transition Regression
PTR	Panel Threshold
REER	Real Effective Exchange Rate
RER	Real Exchange Rate
ROP	Real Oil Price
SD	Standard Deviation
SSA	Sub-Saharan Africa
SWF	Sovereign Wealth Fund
TB	Trade Balance
TVAR	Threshold Vector Autoregressive Model
UK	United Kingdom
UN	United Nations
UNCTAD	United Nations Conference on Trade and Development
US	United States
VAR	Vector Autoregressive Model
WAEMU	West African Economic and Monetary Union
WDI	World Development Indicators
WEO	World Economic Outlook
ZA	Zivot -Andrews

Chapter 1: Introduction

The effects of oil price shocks on the macro economy are of interest to many researchers and policy makers. This interest was primarily spurred by the observed correlation between oil price increases and US macroeconomic performance since the 1970s, when the US became dependent on imported oil. In his seminal paper, Hamilton (1983) showed that 7 out of 8 US recessions were preceded three to four quarters earlier by an oil price shock¹. Given the importance of oil as an input into production and as a consumption good, a large number of researchers have examined the link between oil prices and economic performance for both oil importing and oil exporting countries (Hamilton, 1983, Hamilton, 2008, Hamilton, 2011, Mork et al., 1994, Lee et al., 1995, Elder and Serletis, 2010, Farzanegan and Markwardt, 2009, Lorde et al., 2009, Mehrara and Sarem, 2009). This thesis examines the effects of oil prices on the trade balances of oil importing and oil exporting Sub-Saharan African (SSA) countries, with particular focus on the roles of oil price volatility, real exchange rates, and international financial risk sharing in shaping these effects.

Oil price shocks can affect economic performance through a number of channels². An oil price increase may result in lower output levels because it represents an increase in the cost of production (Barsky and Kilian, 2004). To the extent that oil and capital equipment are complements, the reduction in oil use will also render some capital redundant, leading to further declines in output. Oil price increases also disrupt consumption decisions by reducing consumer purchases of energy intensive durable goods, with repercussions on the rest of the economy (Hamilton, 2008). If oil price shocks are associated with high oil price volatility- which is usually the case- then uncertainty regarding the future path of oil prices could make economic agents delay irreversible consumption and investment expenditures as they wait for new information, lowering macroeconomic performance in the process (Bernanke, 1983). Oil price increases may also increase domestic inflation, which often results in tight monetary policy responses that eventually exacerbate the effects on the economy (Cunado and De Gracia, 2005, Cologni and Manera, 2008, De Gregorio, 2012, Bodenstein et al., 2012, Bernanke et al., 1997). Oil prices have also been shown to affect stock market prices for both oil importing and exporting countries, with implications for business profits and

¹ An oil price 'shock' in the context of this thesis is used to refer to unexpected increases or decreases in the level of the oil price.

² Barsky and Kilian (2004) and Hamilton (2008) provide a review

investment decisions (Wang et al., 2013, Cunado and Perez de Gracia, 2014, Gil-Alana and Yaya, 2014, Sadorsky, 2014, Elder and Serletis, 2010).

In contrast to most studies that have focused on the effects of oil prices on the domestic economy, this thesis adopts more of an international perspective and examines how oil prices affect the goods trade balance. There is a surprisingly small body of literature on the oil price-trade balance relationship, with the most notable studies being those by Backus and Crucini (2000), Kilian et al. (2009) and Bodenstein et al. (2011)³. This is despite the importance of trade as a key driver of economic growth for most economies, and oil as the most internationally traded commodity. Fluctuations in oil prices, through the terms of trade, can have major implications for the trade balance. Examining this issue is important because oil price induced trade deficits are potentially harmful to economic growth. These deficits do not reflect, for example, increased importation of investment and consumption goods that could raise macroeconomic performance. Rather, given a reasonably low price elasticity of demand for oil, these deficits represent a transfer of wealth from oil importers to exporters if the oil price rises; or a reduction in wealth for oil exporters if the oil price decreases. Though these wealth transfer effects, oil price induced trade deficits have implications for both oil and nonoil consumption and investment levels (Bodenstein et al., 2011).

As noted by Kilian et al. (2009), the small number of studies on the oil price-trade balance relationship does not indicate a lack of interest in the issue. Researchers and policy makers tend to regard the relationship as an obvious one, as it is a common assumption in policy discussions that oil price shocks affect the trade balances of countries, depending on whether they are net oil exporters or importers. There is often a concern that oil importing countries need to borrow from abroad to cushion unfavourable terms of trade shocks, leading to accumulation of external debt. At the same time, it is argued that this international risk sharing is not always sufficient to ensure that the impacts of oil price shocks on the domestic economy are completely offset (Kilian et al., 2009, Le and Chang, 2013). Recently, the theoretical model of Bodenstein et al. (2011) showed that the oil price-trade balance relationship is more complex than is usually assumed: it depends crucially on the response of the nonoil trade balance, which is in turn determined by a host of other factors. In light of this, and given the emergence of large global current account imbalances that are commonly, in

³ Earlier studies spurred by the work of Harberger (1950) and Laursen and Metzler (1950) are reviewed in a later section.

part, attributed to oil prices, researchers have begun to re-examine the link between oil prices and the trade balance.

The small number of studies makes it difficult to draw any kind of generalisations on the effects of oil prices on the trade balance since these studies are mostly country specific. The Dynamic Stochastic General Equilibrium (DSGE) models of Backus and Crucini (2000) and Bodenstein et al. (2011) are the main theoretical studies in this literature⁴. However, the former model is calibrated for a subset of OECD countries, the latter for the US economy only. Kilian et al. (2009) empirically examine the effects of oil prices for a wide range of oil exporters and importers. However, many low income countries, including SSA, are excluded from their analysis. Country specific empirical studies include Le and Chang (2013) and Arouri et al. (2014). Overall, these studies find that oil price increases improve the trade balance for oil exporters and deteriorate it for oil importers. Still, the studies are too few to constitute a consensus on the empirical effect of oil prices on the trade balance.

This thesis contributes to this literature by examining the effects of oil prices on the trade balances of oil importing and oil exporting Sub-Saharan African countries. SSA countries are examined for a number of reasons: both SSA oil importers and exporters depend heavily on trade for economic growth, oil prices have major implications for their terms of trade, they have limited opportunities for international risk sharing, and they have received little attention in the literature. For these countries more than others, and especially for SSA oil importers, adverse terms of trade shocks arising from oil price changes may have a greater effect on overall economic performance. In addition to examining SSA countries, this thesis focuses on three issues that have not been investigated in the empirical literature for any country. First, this thesis investigates whether oil price volatility induces nonlinearities in the effects of oil prices on the trade balance. Second, this thesis examines whether real exchange rate changes influence the response of the trade balance to oil prices. Third, this thesis examines the role of international financial risk sharing in determining the effects of oil prices on the trade balance⁵.

⁴ Backus and Crucini (2000) actually focus on the effects of oil prices on the terms of trade, but Bodenstein (2011) build on many aspects of their model to examine the impact of oil prices on the trade balance.

⁵ As with Kilian et al. (2009) and Le and Chang (2013), this thesis focuses on the effects of oil prices on the trade balance without considering the income component of the current account

The focus of this thesis on the role of oil price volatility in determining the effects of oil prices on the trade balance is motivated by the findings of the wider oil price-macro economy (OPM) literature. When the oil price collapse of the mid-1980s failed to produce an economic boom in oil importing economies, many researchers started to explore the possibility that oil price increases are more important than decreases (Hamilton, 2003, Lorde et al., 2009, Elder and Serletis, 2010, Elder and Serletis, 2011, Lee et al., 1995, Huang et al., 2005, Jiménez-Rodríguez and Sánchez, 2005). The volatility of oil prices was shown to be one source of this asymmetry as higher volatility, assumed to have a negative effect, exacerbates the negative effects of oil price increases while reducing the positive effects of decreases for oil importers (Ferderer, 1997, Elder and Serletis, 2011). The effects of oil price volatility on economic growth has also been found to depend on its level (Huang et al., 2005). This nonlinearity in the effects of the oil price and its volatility has been completely ignored by studies on the trade balance. It can be argued that because the oil market is volatile, trade volumes may only be affected by increased volatility when it exceeds a tolerable threshold. In addition, the relatively low price elasticity of demand for oil means the decisions of economic agents regarding the intensity of oil use may not be altered by small changes in oil prices (Kilian and Vigfusson, 2011b). Whether the trade balance would respond more to oil price increases than to decreases is also unknown. This issue is important given the academic debate about the empirical validity of studies that have found asymmetric effects of oil prices on output (Hamilton, 2011, Kilian and Vigfusson, 2011b, Kilian and Vigfusson, 2011a, Herrera et al., 2015). No study has examined any type of nonlinearity in the effects of oil prices on the trade balance.

Addressing this gap in the literature, this thesis examines the nonlinear effects of oil prices on the trade balance, with particular focus on oil price volatility as the determinant of nonlinearity. These effects are investigated for the largest SSA oil exporting country, Nigeria. A Threshold Vector Autoregressive Model (TVAR) model is used to determine whether the effects of oil price level and volatility shocks depend on an oil price volatility threshold, and whether there are asymmetries in these effects. The responses of both oil and nonoil trade balances are considered. The results show

position which will be affected by oil price changes, such as royalty payments and remitted profits by oil companies. This is because, as noted by Kilian et al. (2009), any effect of oil prices on the income balance will be difficult to interpret unless the composition of the asset and liability positions of the countries are known.

that high oil price volatility makes the effects of oil price level shocks on the trade balance more dramatic. Unlike the findings of studies on economic growth however, volatility does not induce significant asymmetries in the effects of oil price level shocks on the trade balance. It is found that oil price volatility shocks have larger effects on the trade balance when volatility is above its threshold value, and the initial impact of an increase in volatility is negative only when volatility is already high. There are also asymmetries of volatility shocks, as decreases in volatility have larger effects than increases. These findings show that trade volumes are more affected by reduced oil price volatility than they are by increased volatility. Indeed, it is found that lower oil price volatility stimulates trade in both oil and nonoil goods.

The second contribution of this thesis is the examination of the role of real exchange rates in determining the effect of oil prices on the trade balance. This is motivated by the theoretical model in Bodenstein et al. (2011). They show that the effects of oil price increases on the trade balance are associated with the transfer of wealth from oil importers to exporters. Under the model assumptions, the oil component of the trade balance will always deteriorate for oil importers and improve for oil exporters. Reduced wealth and a real depreciation of the exchange rate, however, lead to a nonoil balance improvement for oil importers. In the same way, higher wealth and a real appreciation deteriorate the nonoil balance for oil exporters. In both cases, the nonoil balance response partly offsets the response of the oil balance, such that the overall trade response is reduced. If the model prediction holds, then exchange rate management can be used to limit exposure to oil shocks. No study has tested this empirically, despite the established links between oil prices and exchange rates; and between exchange rates and the trade balance⁶.

This thesis addresses this gap in the literature by examining how bilateral real exchange rates determine the effects of oil prices on the overall trade balances of 8 major Sub-Saharan African economies -3 oil exporters, 5 oil importers- and 11 of their main trading partners. Here, a Cross Section Dependence (CSD) robust estimator, the Pesaran (2006) Common Correlated Effects Mean Group (CCEMG) estimator, is employed. Slope heterogeneity is allowed for each SSA country across different trading partners. It is found that, on average, oil prices have insignificant effects on the trade balance of SSA countries. However, the disaggregate bilateral estimates reveal considerable

⁶ There are many studies on the oil price-exchange rate nexus, and on the effects of depreciations of the trade balance. These are reviewed in a later section.

heterogeneity, with positive and negative effects for both oil importers and exporters. These bilateral effects are however mostly positive, even for oil importers. The results indicate a strong nonoil trade adjustment for SSA countries. It is argued that the results reflect, in part, the correlation between nonoil commodity prices -the main exports of SSA oil importers - and oil prices. For oil exporters, insignificant average oil price effects may reflect a dampened oil trade surplus since these countries import refined petroleum products, owing to the poor state of their refineries. For both groups of countries, a strong nonoil trade adjustment is particularly likely because their low levels of integration in global financial markets mean their consumption smoothing opportunities are limited, necessitating a large nonoil trade adjustment (Bodenstein et al., 2011). Importantly, it is found that for bilateral trade balances where the oil price effect is positive, subsequent real exchange rate changes are unlikely to further influence trade quantities, such that appreciations have positive effects and depreciations have negative effects on the trade balance. Conversely, where an oil price increase deteriorates the trade balance, subsequent depreciations succeed in improving the trade balance, and appreciations deteriorate it. Consistent with these results, it is also found that bilateral exchange rate depreciations tend to reduce both the positive and negative effects of oil prices on the trade balance, while appreciations reinforce these effects.

The third contribution of this thesis is the examination of the role of international financial integration in determining the response of the trade balance to oil prices. This is motivated by the previous results which point to a strong nonoil balance response to oil prices for SSA countries. The model in Bodenstein et al. (2011) shows that a potential reason for this, and one that fits the situation of SSA countries, is a low level of international risk sharing. Oil importers that are well integrated in international financial markets can access foreign capital to smooth nonoil consumption when the oil price is high. This limits the need to finance the oil trade deficit by reducing nonoil imports, such that only a small nonoil surplus is required, implying a high overall trade balance response. In the same way, well integrated oil exporters are likely to save oil revenue windfalls abroad rather than spend them on goods imports, again limiting the nonoil trade response. Therefore, the low levels of financial integration of SSA countries imply that they are relatively unable to smooth consumption in response to oil shocks; they have to sustain large fluctuations in their nonoil balances. No study has

empirically examined the role of financial integration in mediating the effect of oil prices for any country.

This thesis examines the importance of financial integration in the transmission of oil shocks, and determines the levels of integration required for SSA countries to access its consumption smoothing benefits. To do so, it utilizes the Panel Smooth Transition Regression (PSTR) model of Gonzalez et.al. (2005) using data on 37 SSA countries – 8 oil exporters and 29 oil importers. Here, the effects of oil prices are allowed to differ across countries and time periods, depending on the threshold level of integration. It is found that the nonoil balances of SSA oil importers with levels of integration below the estimated thresholds are more affected by oil prices. Above the threshold, the response of the nonoil balance is much smaller. These findings support the view that higher financial integration aids in consumption smoothing when the oil price is high. For oil exporters, the response of the nonoil trade balance is also found to depend on a financial integration threshold, but this nonlinearity is not robust to alternative model specifications. The weak results for oil exporters potentially reflect their small sample size, which complicates analysis especially in the threshold setting.

Through these three novel empirical studies, this thesis contributes to our knowledge of the effects of oil prices on the trade balance for SSA countries. It also brings forth important aspects of this relationship that are unexplored, opening up avenues for future research. For example, the roles of oil price volatility, real exchanges rates, and international risk sharing can have important implications for the trade balances of other countries. This is worth investigating especially given the recent volatility in oil prices. Additionally, the results of this thesis provide valuable insights for SSA policy makers. For instance, the findings show that for Nigeria and potentially other oil exporting developing countries, policy makers need not concern themselves with increases in volatility when volatility is initially at low levels, and that decreases in volatility are more important for stimulating trade in both oil and nonoil goods. Second, the results suggest that exchange rate devaluation can be used as a policy tool to cushion negative effects of oil prices on the trade balance. In addition, the results show that greater financial openness would help SSA oil importers smooth nonoil consumption in the event of terms of trade and income shocks associated with oil price increases.

The remainder of this thesis is organised as follows: Chapter 2 presents an overview of the economy of Sub-Saharan Africa, with particular emphasis on the issues relevant for

this thesis. Chapter 3 presents an empirical study on the threshold effects of oil price level and volatility shocks on Nigeria's trade balance. Chapter 4 examines the role of real exchange rate adjustments in determining the effects of oil price shocks on the bilateral trade balances 8 SSA countries. In Chapter 5, the role of international financial integration in mediating the effects of oil price increases on the trade balance of 37 SSA countries is examined. Chapter 6 presents a general conclusion of the thesis and provides policy recommendations.

Chapter 2: Overview of the Sub-Saharan African Economy

Sub-Saharan Africa is one of the least developed and least globally integrated regions of the world. The region also has the highest number of formally identified economies that are incapable of catering for the basic needs of their people (Naudé, 2010). This is despite considerable improvements in the region's economic growth over the years. The upper panel of Figure 2.1 shows that compared to the 1980s and early 1990s, SSA countries have generally enjoyed around 4% annual growth on average during the last two decades. The figure shows that the GDP growth of SSA oil exporters has been more volatile than for oil importers, and it coincides with oil price movements, as shown in the lower panel of Figure 2.1. Increases in oil exporters' GDP growth rates are preceded about a year earlier by an increase in the oil price growth. The same is true for reductions in GDP growth.





Sources: Author's calculations using data from the World Bank's World Development Indicators (WDI) and International Monetary Fund's International Financial Statistics (IFS). Notes: The GDP growth rates are calculated as the first difference of log real GDP (constant 2005 US dollars) multiplied by 100.The growth in the real oil price is the log first difference of the real oil price. Over the years, SSA countries have increased their openness to trade. Figure 2.2 shows that trade as a percentage of GDP reached an average of 70% in 2012. This increasing openness along with terms of trade movements were found be associated with more than half the economic growth experienced by SSA countries over 1980-2010 period (IMF, 2015). The importance of SSA to the world economy stems from its role as a major supplier of raw materials for industrialized countries and as an important market for the finished products of developed and emerging markets. The main export commodities of SSA are crude oil, iron ore, coal, cotton, coffee, cocoa, copper and platinum (IMF 2015). These exports are almost exclusively the sources of government revenue and foreign exchange. The structure of Africa's exports is undiversified, with mineral products accounting for 67% of exports, and food exports accounting for close to 6% (Draper and Biacuana, 2009). South Africa is the only significant exporter of manufacturing exports, accounting for over 50% of manufacturing exports from the region. SSA countries are also ill-diversified with respect to their trading partners. By the late 2000s, EU-27 accounted for 34% of SSA's exports, followed by NAFTA and Asia, with each accounting for over 23%.



Figure 2.2: Average trade as a percentage of GDP for SSA countries: 1980-2012

Source: Author's calculations using data from International Monetary Funds' Direction of Trade Statistics (DOTS)

Notes: Trade as a percentage of GDP is calculated as the sum of total exports and imports as a percentage of GDP

SSA's high dependence on primary commodity exports, limited development of their manufacturing and service sectors; and large agricultural sectors make the region

particularly susceptible to trade shocks (Kose and Riezman, 2001, Muhanji and Ojah, 2011). Within a dynamic stochastic small open economy model calibrated to represent a typical African economy, Kose and Riezman (2001) showed that trade shocks account for almost half of the variation in aggregate output for African countries. The impact on the various components of aggregate output is even higher: trade shocks account for 80% and 86% of fluctuations in aggregate consumption and investment respectively. Furthermore, trade shocks were found to account for at least a third of the variation in employment and non-traded goods output; and are even more important than world interest rates in determining foreign asset holdings. Deaton and Miller (1995) find that negative trade shocks, and commodity price shocks in particular, complicate macroeconomic management for SSA countries and lead to fiscal and current account deficits. Muhanji and Ojah (2011) show that commodity price shocks lead to accumulation of external debt for SSA countries. Trade has also been shown to be the main channel through which these countries are affected by global economic shocks (Allen and Giovannetti, 2011, Berman and Martin, 2012). Therefore, for these countries more than others, large trade deficits would have negative implications for economic growth.

An important source of trade shocks is fluctuations in the price of crude oil. Figure 2.3 shows how the terms of trade of SSA countries vary with oil price shocks. The terms of trade of oil exporters move in tandem with oil prices, and the reverse is the case for oil importers. This is also true for the trade balance, as shown in Figure 2.4. Here, it is also evident that oil importers have sustained much larger trade deficits than oil exporters over the years. This suggests that the oil price plays a major role in determining the terms of trade and trade balances of SSA countries. Figure 2.5 shows the annual volatility of oil prices. It can be seen that oil price volatility is highest during periods of particularly high or low oil prices. The spikes in volatility correspond to the oil glut in the mid-1980s, the 1990/1991 oil shock due to reduced supplies following Iraq's invasion of Kuwait, the oil price fluctuations in the late 1990s associated the East Asian crisis, reduced oil production from Venezuela and Iraq in 2003, the mid-2008 oil price 'bubble' and the subsequent collapse following the onset of the global financial crisis⁷. Thus, in addition to the challenges posed by oil price level movements, SSA countries also have to deal with the potential effects of higher uncertainty. To the extent that oil price uncertainty reduces economic activity by delaying investment and consumption

⁷ Hamilton 2011 provides a historical review of oil price shocks

decisions (Bernanke, 1980, Bloom, 2009), its negative effect could exacerbate the effects of unfavourable oil price changes while limiting the gains from favourable oil price movements (Ferderer, 1997).





Sources: Author's calculations using data from the World Bank's World Development Indicators (WDI) and International Monetary Fund's International Financial Statistics (IFS).

Notes: The oil price is the nominal US dollar 3 spot price index (the average of Dubai, UK Brent and Texas spot oil prices, as reported by the IMF IFS) and the terms of trade is the export price index divided by the import price index.



Figure 2.4: Oil prices and the average trade balance of SSA oil importers and exporters: 1980-2012



Ņ

Sources: Author's calculations using data from International Monetary Funds' International Financial Statistics (IFS) and Direction of Trade Statistics (DOTS) Notes: The oil price is the log real 3 spot US dollar oil price, and the trade balance is calculated as the natural logarithm of the ratio of total exports to total imports.



Figure 2.5: Oil price volatility, 1980-2012

Source: Author's calculations using data from International Monetary Funds' International Financial Statistics (IFS)

Notes: the oil price is the nominal 3 spot US dollar oil price. The annual oil price volatility is measured as the standard deviation of the four (average) quarterly oil prices within each year.

SSA countries have some features that complicate their level of exposure to oil price shocks. First, due to the poor state of their oil refineries, SSA oil exporters import a

large proportion of their refined petroleum needs. This means that even as their oil export earnings increase with oil prices, their oil import bill also rises. Thus, any improvement in their oil trade balance would be less than if they imported no oil at all. Second, the prices of SSA oil importers' primary commodity exports tend to be positively correlated with the oil price, as shown in Figure 2.6. This implies that with an oil price increase, their nonoil trade balance may improve not only through a real exchange rate depreciation (as in Bodenstein et al. (2011)), but also because the prices of their commodity exports are relatively higher. This will be the case especially if the oil price increase is driven by a booming world economy, such that there is an increase in the demand for primary commodities⁸. Third, SSA is one of the least integrated regions in global financial markets (World Bank 2012). Figure 2.7 compares the level of financial integration of SSA countries to other developing countries in Asia, Middle East and North Africa. Here, integration is measured as the sum of total foreign assets and foreign liabilities as a percentage of GDP. SSA and developing Asia have maintained average integration levels of less than 200% of GDP until the late 2000s when SSA integration increased. This is much lower than the integration level of Middle East and North African countries, averaging over 300% of GDP over the past two decades. Their relatively low integration level means SSA countries are less able to smooth consumption through international risk sharing in the face oil price shocks, and might sustain larger nonoil trade fluctuations than countries with access to foreign funds (as in Bodenstein et al., 2011).

⁸ Kilian (2009) show that historically, oil price shocks have mainly been the result of precautionary oil demand shocks or global "aggregate demand shocks" that raise the demand of all raw materials needed by a booming world economy, as opposed to the supply side shocks that have been advanced in the earlier literature e.g. Hamilton (1983)



Figure 2.6: Oil and non-oil commodity price indices. 1980-2012

Sources: International Monetary Fund's International Financial Statistics (IMF IFS) and World Bank's Global Economic Monitor (GEM) Commodities Database.

Notes: The oil price index is the 3 spot US dollar oil price index, while the nonoil price index is sourced from the World Bank's database. Non-oil price index consists of prices of Food, Beverages, Agricultural raw materials and Industrial Metals and Precious metals.



Figure 2.7: Average Financial Integration of developing countries by region, 1980-2011

Source: Authors calculations using data from the extended and updated version of the dataset created by Lane and Milesi-Ferretti (2007)

Notes: Financial integration is calculated as the sum of total foreign assets and liabilities as a percentage of nominal GDP, all in US dollars. Developing Asia consists of Bangladesh, Bhutan, Brunei Darussalam, Cambodia, China, Fiji, India, Indonesia, Lao P.D.R., Malaysia, Maldives, Nepal, Papua New Guinea, Papua New Guinea, Philippines, Samoa, Solomon Islands, Sri Lanka, Thailand and Tonga. Middle East and North Africa consists of Algeria, Bahrain, Djibouti, Egypt, Iran, Jordan, Kuwait, Lebanon, Libya, Morocco, Oman, Qatar, Saudi Arabia, Syria, Tunisia, United Arab Emirates, and Yemen. SSA consists of all SSA countries for which data is available.

There are currently 47 countries in Sub-Saharan Africa, and 13 of them have produced and exported crude oil at some point. These are Angola, Benin, Cameroon, Chad, Congo, Cote d'Ivoire, Democratic Republic of Congo, Equatorial Guinea, Gabon, Ghana, Nigeria, Sudan, and South Sudan. At present, Benin, Cameroon and Cote d'Ivoire are no longer consistent net exporters of oil. The rest are net oil importers. These are Botswana, Burkina Faso, Burundi, Cabo Verde, Central African Republic, Comoros, Eritrea, Ethiopia, Guinea, Guinea-Bissau, Kenya, Lesotho, Liberia, Madagascar, Malawi, Mali, Mauritius, Mozambique, Namibia, Niger, Rwanda, São Tomé and Príncipe, Senegal, Seychelles, Sierra Leone, South Africa, Somalia, Swaziland, Tanzania, The Gambia, Togo, Uganda, Zambia and Zimbabwe.

In sum, given the importance of trade for the economic growth of Sub Saharan African countries, the importance of oil prices for their terms of trade, and factors that

potentially complicate their oil price- trade balance relationship, it is important to examine the dynamics of this relationship for SSA countries.

Chapter 3: Nonlinear effects of oil price shocks on Nigeria's trade balance: Evidence from a Threshold Vector Autoregressive Model

3.1. Introduction:

Oil prices have experienced significant surges and downturns over the years. The volatility of oil prices implies uncertain terms of trade for SSA countries and volatile oil revenues for SSA oil exporters. Volatility represents a source of risk and uncertainty regarding the future path of oil prices, leading economic agents to delay irreversible investment and consumption decisions as they wait for useful information on future oil prices (Bernanke, 1980, Bloom, 2009). Oil price volatility can also influence the effects of oil prices on the economy in a nonlinear way. For an oil importing country, the negative impacts of oil price volatility have been shown to exacerbate negative effects of oil price increases and limit the gains from oil price decreases (Ferderer, 1997). Many studies have examined the nonlinear impacts of oil prices on various macroeconomic variables for oil importers and exporters, but not in relation to the trade balance. This chapter fills this gap by examining the nonlinear effects of oil price level and volatility shocks on the trade balance of the largest SSA oil exporter, Nigeria.

The bulk of the oil price- macro economy (OPM) literature focuses on the effects of oil prices and their volatilities on output and investment (Hamilton, 1983, Hamilton, 2008, Hamilton, 2011, Mork et al., 1994, Lee et al., 1995, Elder and Serletis, 2010, Farzanegan and Markwardt, 2009, Lorde et al., 2009, Mehrara and Sarem, 2009). This literature has shown that the effects of oil price level shocks are asymmetric, with positive oil price shocks having a higher impact than negative shocks for oil importing economies (Hamilton, 2003, Lorde et al., 2009, Elder and Serletis, 2010, Elder and Serletis, 2011, Lee et al., 1995). The attention turned towards asymmetry following the weaker relationships between US GDP data and oil price increases after 1985, as the oil price collapse in 1986 failed to produce an economic boom. This asymmetry has been shown to result from the effects of oil price volatility, (Ferderer, 1997, Elder and Serletis, 2010, Elder and Serletis, 2011). The effects of volatility itself may be nonlinear because large scale or long term investments may not be affected by small changes in oil prices which will generate low levels of volatility (Kilian and Vigfusson, 2011b, Huang et al., 2005). Van Robays (2012) show that oil price fluctuations have higher impacts on economic activity in uncertain times, and Jobling and Jamasb (2015) show that countries can tolerate oil price increases up to a certain point, after which they begin to adjust consumption levels.

The OPM literature has recently started to move towards examining the effects of oil prices on the trade balance (Backus and Crucini, 2000, Kilian et al., 2009, Bodenstein et al., 2011, Le and Chang, 2013). This recent focus on the trade balance stems not only from its importance for macroeconomic performance, but also because the past two decades have seen high global current account imbalances which are considered to be, at least in part, the result of oil price movements (Kilian et al., 2009, Rebucci and Spatafora, 2006). Studies on the oil price-trade balance relationship generally find that oil price increases improve the trade balance for oil exporters and deteriorate it for oil importers. However, they do not address the issue of nonlinearities in the effect of the oil price on the trade balance. Bodenstein et al. (2011) provide a theoretical framework where the effects of oil prices on the trade balance work through wealth transfer from oil importers to exporters, and a consequent nonoil trade adjustment. However, the authors acknowledge that the linear framework adopted in their model is at odds with advancements in the broader OPM literature, where the role of asymmetries has been stressed. This chapter addresses this gap in the literature by examining the nonlinear, asymmetric and threshold effects of oil price level and volatility shocks on the trade balance.

There are reasons to believe the effects of the oil price and its volatility on the trade balance are plausibly nonlinear. First, the relatively low price elasticity of demand for oil means that small changes in the level of the oil price might not affect the quantity of traded oil and nonoil goods. Indeed, Kilian and Vigfusson (2011b) point out that large scale or long term investment demand is unlikely to be affected by small changes in oil prices which will generate low levels of volatility. Second, in line with Lee et al. (1995), increases in the level of the oil price may have higher impacts in an environment of stable prices than where prices have been known to be volatile. Third, as noted by Van Robays (2012), periods of high volatility may be associated with higher use of hedging instruments and futures markets, such that increases in oil price volatility may have a lower effect on oil demand when volatility is already high. On the other hand, given a historically volatile oil market and different degrees of risk aversion of traders, an increase in oil price volatility may only affect trading decisions when volatility is sufficiently high. Also, some channels through which trade is affected by oil price fluctuations, such as transportation costs, may only be affected when volatility exceeds

a tolerable threshold. These are valid questions to investigate for the trade balance where the literature is young. If these nonlinearities do exist, and are strong, then conclusions and inferences made from linear models would be misleading.

To examine these nonlinear effects, this chapter focuses on one oil exporting country, Nigeria. Nigeria is not only the largest oil exporting country in Sub-Saharan Africa, it is also the largest economy on the continent. According to the US Energy Information Administration (EIA), Nigeria was the world's 4th largest exporter of Liquefied Natural Gas in 2012, and the 6th largest exporter of crude oil in 2013 (IEA, 2013). Its imports generally consist of energy intensive durable goods, food items, as well as refined petroleum products. Nigeria has been studied very little with regards to its trade balance despite the importance of oil to its economy. It is thus an ideal candidate for examining the oil price-trade balance relationship while addressing potential nonlinearities suggested by the broader OPM literature⁹.

This chapter utilises the Threshold Vector Autoregressive (TVAR) model of Balke (2000). The TVAR model is attractive for this study because it allows the estimation of asymmetries between positive and negative shocks, as well as non-proportional effects of large and small shocks within the threshold model. This comprehensive analysis of nonlinearities is desirable since no form of nonlinearity has been examined for the trade balance. In this chapter, a threshold value of oil price volatility is endogenously estimated, on the basis of which the sample is divided into an "upper regime" and a "lower regime", corresponding to high and low values of volatility respectively. A separate TVAR is then estimated for the oil and non-oil components of the trade balance as well as the overall trade balance. This decomposition allows an examination of the theoretical mechanisms through which the oil price affects the trade balance, in line with the model in Bodenstein et al. (2011). The robustness of the results to an alternative threshold measure of oil price volatility is also checked.

Results from non-linear generalized impulse response functions show that oil price level shocks have more dramatic effects on all the trade balance components when volatility is above its threshold value. The presence of asymmetry between increases and

⁹ The choice of country also has to do with data limitations. To implement the TVAR model, a long time series of data (of at least quarterly frequency) is needed for each country. In addition, for meaningful analysis, data on the oil and nonoil components of the trade balance is needed. Such disaggregated quarterly data for SSA countries is unavailable. It is argued that given Nigeria's oil market status and the relative availability of its data, it would be sufficient for this thesis to consider the nonlinear effects of oil prices using only Nigerian data.

decreases in oil prices is found to depend on the measure of volatility used as the threshold variable. Decreases in volatility are found to be more important than increases irrespective of whether volatility is above or below its threshold value, reflecting asymmetric impacts of volatility shocks. The effects of both increases and decreases in volatility are higher when volatility is above its threshold value, reflecting threshold effects. The patterns of the effects show that an increase in volatility hurts the trade balance on impact only if the increase occurs when volatility is already high. Decreases in volatility are found to encourage both oil and nonoil imports within a year of the shock. Overall, high oil price volatility is found to propagate the effects of volatility shocks more dramatic; and reduced oil price volatility is found to stimulate trade in both oil and nonoil goods.

This chapter finds evidence that at least for Nigeria, the effects of oil price volatility on the trade balance are non-linear, depending on the already existing level of volatility. The effects of volatility itself are asymmetric. However, volatility does not consistently induce asymmetries in the effects of oil price level shocks. Although the focus is only on one oil exporting country, the results potentially have important implications for future research. This is because if such nonlinearities are found to hold true for other countries, then future theoretical and empirical work should take them into consideration. There is also an implication for policies designed to insulate the economy against oil price fluctuations, as the underlying volatility environment is found to be an important factor.

The remainder of this chapter is organised as follows. Section 3.2 provides a review of related theoretical and empirical literature. Section 3.3 discusses the data and methodology used. Section 3.4 presents the results and Section 3.5 provides a discussion of the results. Conclusions and recommendations are made in Section 3.6.

3.2. Literature Review:

This chapter is related to two strands of literature. One is the literature on nonlinear effects of oil price level and volatility shocks on macroeconomic activity (OPM). The other is the literature on the effects of these shocks on the trade balance where nonlinearities have not been addressed.

3.2.1. Nonlinear effects of oil price level and volatility shocks on macroeconomic activity:

Most studies in the OPM literature focus on the effects of oil price shocks on output for oil importing countries (Hamilton, 1983, Hamilton, 2008, Hamilton, 2011, Mork et al., 1994, Lee et al., 1995, Elder and Serletis, 2010). Fewer studies have examined the effects on oil exporters (Huang et al., 2005, Farzanegan and Markwardt, 2009, Lorde et al., 2009, Mehrara and Sarem, 2009). Many of these authors have suggested that the relationship between oil price movements and economic growth is asymmetric (Lee et al., 1995, Mork et al., 1994, Hamilton, 2008, Hamilton, 2011, Balke et al., 2002, Sadorsky, 1999). Ferderer (1997) showed that oil price volatility is an important source of this asymmetry. The argument is that large increases or decreases in oil prices are associated with higher volatility which is itself presumed to have negative impacts on the economy. Ferderer (1997) argues that for an oil importing economy, volatility generated by rising oil prices would eventually worsen the negative effects of oil price increases on output, while that arising from falling oil prices would dampen the positive effects of oil price decreases. As such, increases in oil prices would have higher impacts than decreases. Support for asymmetric oil price effects resulting from volatility has been found by Elder and Serletis (2010) and Elder and Serletis (2011). In the context of Nigeria, asymmetries in the effects of oil prices have been found by Aliyu (2011) and Iwayemi and Fowowe (2011). The former found that oil price increases are more important than decreases in explaining Nigeria's output growth, while the latter found the reverse to be the case. In contrast to most studies that consider the role of asymmetries, Kilian and Vigfusson (2011a) find that the effects of oil price increases and decreases on economic growth are symmetric. They argue that this may be the result of widely used oil price measures that are inappropriate for the VAR framework within which most of these asymmetries have been found. However, Hamilton (2011) argues that the results from Kilian and Vigfusson (2011a) suffer from an unstable model specification. There is thus an unresolved academic debate about asymmetries in the effects of oil prices on the economy (see for example Kilian and Vigfusson (2011b),

Hamilton (2011), Kilian and Vigfusson (2014)). The issue is ultimately an empirical one to which this study contributes evidence.

Apart from asymmetric effects resulting from volatility, the analysis in Lee et al. (1995) suggests that the effects of oil prices on the economy might depend on a volatility threshold. They argue that oil price shocks will have a higher impact in an environment of hitherto stable prices, while a shock of a similar size will have a lesser impact where prices have been known to be erratic. In other words, shocks that occur when volatility is low are more important than those that occur when volatility is high. Kilian and Vigfusson (2011b) point out that large scale or long term investments may not be affected by small changes in oil prices which will generate low levels of volatility, also suggesting that oil price shocks will have higher impacts when volatility exceeds a tolerable threshold. Van Robays (2012) shows that a highly uncertain macroeconomic environment is associated with a stronger response of oil prices to oil demand and supply shocks, leading to higher oil price volatility. Using the TVAR model utilized in this chapter, he shows that economic activity is more affected by oil price fluctuations above a macroeconomic volatility threshold.

The effects of oil price volatility have also received attention in the literature. Within partial equilibrium models, Bernanke (1980) and Bloom (2009) show that uncertainty about oil prices will delay irreversible investment and consumption decisions as economic agents wait for new information that could determine the potential returns to investment. This delay in investment will reduce the growth in oil demand and output. On the other hand, Plante and Traum (2012) examine the effects of oil price volatility on macroeconomic aggregates within a real business cycle model. They find that oil price uncertainty is associated with reduced durables consumption, higher precautionary savings, higher investment and real GDP¹⁰. Başkaya et al. (2013) also show within a real business cycle model that an increase in oil price volatility induces precautionary savings which then increase physical investment and output. Since physical investment is less costly than investment in international bonds for countries with limited access to international bond markets, economic agents would use the higher savings for the former, despite its increased riskiness. In line with Bernanke (1980) and Bloom (2009), Ferderer (1997), Jo (2014), and Bredin et al. (2011) empirically find negative effects of oil price volatility on output and investment. Kellogg (2010) and Elder and Serletis

¹⁰ Irreversibility of investment decisions does not alter this outcome.

(2010) also find that oil price volatility reduces investment in the mining industry because of the more direct implications it has on the sector's return to investment. This is in line with Litzenberger and Rabinowitz (1995) who argue that during uncertain times, oil producers might prefer to reduce extraction in the face of oil demand and supply shocks because higher uncertainty raises the value of oil below the ground relative to that above the ground, increasing the response of the oil price. Together, these findings suggest that oil production and oil demand are negatively affected by increases in volatility, implying a deterioration of oil exporters' oil trade balance. On the other hand, Alquist and Kilian (2010) show that higher oil price volatility, if it induces uncertainty for oil importers about future oil supply, is associated with increased precautionary demand for oil by oil importers. If this is the case, then oil price volatility may improve the oil trade balance of oil exporters. If oil exporters also export other primary commodities that are used as inputs in production, as is the case for Nigeria, then their nonoil balance may deteriorate if increased oil price volatility leads to a reduction in demand for their nonoil exports by inducing lower investment in their oil importing trading partners, in line with Bernanke (1980). Alternatively, it might improve if oil volatility leads to a reduction in demand for durables consumption and hence imports, as found in Elder and Serletis (2010). While these studies on the effects of oil price volatility on output and investment have general implications for its potential impact on the trade balance, the implications do not encompass nonlinearities.

Studies that use a threshold model to examine the effects of volatility on the economy include Sadorsky (1999), Huang et al. (2005), Adeniyi et al. (2011), and Van Robays (2012). Sadorsky (1999) uses a zero threshold and finds that increases in volatility have higher effects on stock market activity than decreases. Using a multivariate threshold vector auto regression (MTVAR) model similar to the TVAR, Huang et al. (2005) find that macroeconomic aggregates react more to oil price volatility when it is above its threshold value for Canada, US and Japan. Adeniyi et al. (2011) follow the same threshold method in a similar study for Nigeria. They find no significant threshold effects in the response of Nigeria's GDP growth to oil price volatility. Their results must however be viewed with caution, as they do not test for a nonlinear structure in their data, and they impose an arbitrary threshold value for volatility. The analysis from the TVAR model in Van Robays (2012) shows that oil price volatility is higher in uncertain times, suggesting that its impact on economic activity would also be higher

when volatility is high. Taken together, the findings of these studies suggest that the effect of oil price volatility is higher when volatility is initially above its threshold level.

Overall, none of the studies on the nonlinear effects of oil prices on the economy, or on the linear and nonlinear effects of volatility on the economy, consider the trade balance. This chapter addresses this gap in the literature.

3.2.2. The effects of oil price level and volatility shocks on the trade balance:

The literature on the oil price-trade balance relationship is relatively young and nonlinearities have not yet been studied in this context. The theoretical literature generally shows that the effect of oil price level shocks on the overall trade balance is positive for oil exporting countries and negative for oil importers. However, the positive effects for oil exporters can be offset by their increased wealth and hence increased expenditure on imports, as well as through an exchange rate appreciation. These offsetting effects are manifested through the negative response of the non-oil trade balance which cushions the positive response of the oil trade balance (Bodenstein et al., 2011).

Backus and Crucini (2000) provide a theoretical model in which they augment a stochastic two country growth model with a third country that produces oil. Calibrating the model for the US and EU countries, they show that oil price changes account for much of the variation in the terms of trade between countries. Bodenstein et al. (2011) build on the work of Backus and Crucini (2000) and analyse the effects of oil price changes on a country's trade balance using a Dynamic Stochastic General Equilibrium (DSGE) model. The model consists of two countries- an oil exporter and an oil importer. Oil is used as an input in the production process and as a consumption good. It is shown that oil price changes affect the nonoil trade balance through the transfer of wealth from oil importing countries to oil exporting countries. The combined responses of the oil and non-oil trade balances then determine the response of the overall goods trade balance. Under incomplete international financial markets and low price elasticity of demand for oil, oil price increases lead to a deterioration of the oil trade balance of an oil importing country. This leads to increased wealth transfer to the oil exporter and a reduction in wealth for the importer. This wealth transfer effect leads to a decline in consumption and a depreciation of the real exchange rate of the oil importer, helping to improve the nonoil trade balance. The nonoil trade balance therefore always adjusts to partly offset changes in the oil trade balance. By construction, the effects on the oil
exporter's trade balance are the opposite of that of the oil importer, such that oil price increases lead to a surplus of the oil trade balance. This, working through higher wealth and exchange rate appreciation, leads to a deterioration of the nonoil trade balance. Under incomplete financial markets, the response of the oil trade balance dominates such that the overall trade balance improves.

In a similar argument, Rebucci and Spatafora (2006) posit that any trade surpluses an oil exporter may gain from increased oil prices will be partly offset by increased growth and real exchange rate appreciation. Huynh (2016), in a DSGE model similar to Bodenstein et al. (2011), stresses the importance of energy intensive durable goods in determining the response of the non-energy trade balance. He shows that the demand for durables is negatively affected by oil price increases. For a country like Nigeria whose imports consist significantly of durable goods, this implies that an oil price increase might initially improve the nonoil balance through discouraging importation, and the expected deterioration would occur after the positive wealth effects of the oil price increase sets in.

Abeysinghe (2001) showed that negative growth for oil importers resulting for an oil price increase is transmitted to oil exporters through the trade channel. Korhonen and Ledyaeva (2010) build on the work of Abeysinghe (2001) and show that an unexpected oil price increase will have a positive initial effect on oil exporters and a negative effect on importers. However, since it represents a negative supply shock to importers and lowers their income, their aggregate demand will eventually fall. This will in turn reduce some of the positive effects of the oil price increase for oil exporters because they now face lower demand from their trading partners. On the other hand, oil importers may also enjoy some positive effects of oil price increases on their exports through increased demand from the now wealthier oil exporters. This implies similar conclusions to that of Bodenstein et al. (2011), where the effects on the trade balance in any one direction is partly offset by wealth transfer effects. This implies that, in response to oil price increases, Nigeria's overall trade balance should improve initially as the oil trade balance improves, but it should subsequently deteriorate as higher wealth, increased growth and an appreciated exchange rate lead to nonoil trade balance deterioration.

Empirically, Kilian et al. (2009) studied the relationship between oil prices and external balances for a broad sample of oil importing and exporting countries using data from

1970-2005 and a linear VAR model. Consistent with Bodenstein et al. (2011), they find that oil exporting countries experience an oil trade surplus in response to oil price increases. They find the response of the non-oil trade balance to be negative but not large enough to offset the oil trade surplus, such that the overall trade balance improves. Le and Chang (2013) study the impacts of oil prices on the trade balances of Malaysia (an oil exporter) Singapore (an oil refinery) and Japan (an oil importer). The results from impulse response functions of a VAR show that for Malaysia (an oil exporter), improvements in its oil, non-oil and overall trade balances are associated with unexpected oil price increases. For oil importing Singapore and Japan, the effects are negative. Using monthly data from 1980-2011 and VAR techniques, Arouri et al. (2014) find that India's trade balance is negatively affected by positive oil price shocks. These studies are the only ones that empirically examine the effects of oil prices on the goods trade balance. Other studies have however examined its effects on exports, trade volumes, and current account balances. For instance, Ahmed and O'Donoghue (2010) and Muhammad (2012)) also find that oil price increases are associated with a reduction in exports of Pakistan through inducing an increase in production costs. These negative impacts are expected since Pakistan is an oil importer. Chuku et al. (2011) study the effects of oil price shocks on the Nigerian current account balance. Using quarterly data from 1970 to 2008, he estimates a linear structural VAR model. He finds that unexpected oil price increases lead to an improvement in the current account surplus and a subsequent decline. His variance decomposition analysis show that oil price shocks account for over 15% of the variation in the current account balance. Iwayemi and Fowowe (2011) also find Nigeria's trade balance to be positively affected by oil price increases. Abu-Bader and Abu-Qarn (2010) find that structural breaks in the trade ratios of 57 countries over the period 1957-1993 coincided with oil price shocks, suggesting that these may account for the observed breaks. Bridgman (2008) also show that changes in trade volumes globally can be accounted for by changes in oil prices which affect the cost of transporting tradable goods.

Theoretical literature on the effects of oil price volatility on the trade balance is scarce. The argument is derived from the broader OPM literature - volatility represents a source of uncertainty and risk to both exporters and importers. Chen and Hsu (2012) argue that since uncertainties about the future paths of oil prices would induce risk averse consumers and producers to postpone irreversible consumption and investment expenditures, trade volumes will also reduce. However, the effects should depend on the

response of the oil and non-oil components of the trade balance which these authors do not consider. Another strand of literature focuses on the implications of oil price fluctuations for the transportation of traded goods, given the high dependence on oil as fuel. Here also, high oil price volatility is found to discourage trade (Hummels, 2007, Curtis, 2009, Rubin and Tal, 2008).

Empirically, no study has examined the effects of oil price volatility on the trade balance, but two studies have examined its impact on trade volumes. Chen and Hsu (2012) examine the effects of oil price volatility on bilateral trade volumes using panel data on 84 countries from 1984-2008. They measure the trade volume as the sum of imports and exports of a country. They find that generally, oil price volatility reduces trade volumes. The effect is however found to depend on the source of the shock as well as the role of the country as a net oil importer or exporter in the world market. They find a positive but statistically insignificant effect for oil exporters and a negative, statistically significant effect for oil importers. Shiu-Sheng and Kai-Wei (2013) also study the effect of oil price volatility on bilateral export volumes using a gravity model of international trade and annual data on 117 countries from 1984-2009. They find that volatility has a significant and negative effect on export volumes irrespective of the position of the trading partners as oil importers or exporters in the world market; and that this effect is worsened by increased distance between two countries, pointing to the role of transport costs.

The two studies above focus on trade volumes in order to deduce the effects of volatility on international linkages and globalisation, while this chapter contributes to the empirical literature by focusing on the trade balance. In addition, none of the studies on the effects of oil prices on the trade balance, or the effects of oil price volatility on trade volumes, considers the potential role of asymmetries and threshold effects that have been established in the OPM literature. These are the gaps in the literature that this chapter attempts to fill.

3.3. Data and Methodology:

3.3.1. The Theoretical Model

In this thesis, the theoretical trade balance model adopted is the imperfect substitutes model of Bickerdike-Robinson-Metzler, which is comprehensively discussed in Goldstein and Khan (1985). The key assumption of this model is that domestic goods and foreign goods are not perfect substitutes. Since oil has no close substitutes, this model is better suited to this thesis than the perfect substitutes model. The consumer is assumed to maximise utility subject to a budget constraint. As such, the demand for exports and imports depend on the level of foreign and domestic incomes, as well the relative prices of the trade goods. It is further assumed that the consumer has no money illusion. The Marshallian demand equations for imports M and exports X are given as:

$$M = M(r, Y^{d}); \quad X = X(r, Y^{f}).....(3.1)$$
$$r = e * \frac{P^{f}}{P^{d}}....(3.2)$$

Where *r* is the real exchange rate defined as the nominal exchange rate *e* multiplied by the ratio of the foreign good price (the import price) P^f and the domestic good price (the export price) P^d . Y^d is the domestic income level and Y^f is the foreign income level. The trade balance TB can then be derived as the difference between exports and import values in domestic currency thus:

$$TB = X(r, Y^{f}) - rM(r, Y^{d}).....(3.3)$$
$$TB \equiv TB(r, Y^{d}, Y^{f})....(3.4)$$

Empirically, the real trade values and real foreign and domestic incomes are used. The main caveats of this model relate to the measurement of the real trade data- how trade data are deflated, and the quality of the import and export price proxies (Goldstein and Khan, 1985). As will be discussed, this thesis avoids this problem by measuring the trade balance not as the difference but as the ratio of exports to imports, so that it does not matter whether the trade data are in nominal or real terms.

3.3.2. Methodology:

To determine if the response of the trade balance to changes in the oil price and its volatility depends on a volatility threshold, this study utilizes the Threshold Vector Autoregressive model (TVAR) of Balke (2000). The TVAR is a simple way to capture

possible nonlinearities in the response of economic variables to shocks (Balke, 2000). Unlike alternative threshold models such as Markov Switching models, the TVAR allows the threshold variable to be observed. It also allows the investigation of asymmetric and non-proportional effects within the threshold models, because effects of the shocks are allowed to depend on the size and sign of the shocks as well as the past history of the shocks. The impulse responses are nonlinear and it is possible to distinguish between the response of the trade balance to positive and negative shocks to any endogenous variable during periods of high oil price volatility (upper regime) and low oil price volatility (lower regime). Volatility is itself endogenous in the models estimated, such that shocks to other variables in the system can also result in regime switching. The TVAR estimated for each component of the trade balance is;

$$Y_t = A^1 Y_t + B^1(L) Y_{t-1} + (A^2 Y_t + B^2(L) Y_{t-1} I(C_{t-d} > \gamma)) + U_t \dots \dots (3.5)$$

Where Y_t is a vector of 5 endogenous variables: a measure of world and domestic income; the real oil price; its volatility; the real effective exchange rate; and the relevant component of the trade balance (oil, nonoil or overall trade balance). U_t is a vector of structural disturbances. B^1 and B^2 are lag polynomial matrices while A^1 and A^2 are structural contemporaneous relationships in the two regimes respectively. Both contemporaneous and lagged relationships are allowed to change across regimes. $I(C_{t-d} > \gamma)$ is an indicator function which depends on the threshold variable C_{t-d} , the threshold value γ , an on delay *d*. The indicator function equals 1 when $C_{t-d} > \gamma$ and 0 otherwise. The threshold variable C_{t-d} is the two period moving average of the volatility measure in order to allow for some persistence in the volatility regimes. Regime switching is endogenous since C_{t-d} is a function of oil price volatility which itself is one of the endogenous variables in Y_t . As such, shocks to any of the variables in the VAR which affect oil price volatility may cause a regime switch. At least one lag of the threshold variable is needed (the delay parameter d) and it is set to 1. Setting d = 1 is the practice among most studies using this approach (Balke, 2000, Batini et al., 2012, Afonso et al., 2011). Since the interest is in the response of the trade balance when a regime switch has just occurred, rather than when it occurred long ago, a 1 quarter lag is feasible (Batini et al., 2012). A lag length of two quarters is used in the TVAR. This is the lag length determined by the Akaike Information Criteria (AIC).

It is assumed that there is a recursive structure with the causal ordering as follows: income differential (the difference between world and Nigeria's output), real oil price,

real oil price volatility, real effective exchange rate, and finally the relevant component of the trade balance. It is assumed that the income differential measure, since it contains the world output, is the most exogenous and would affect all the other variables within the same quarter but would only be affected after a lag by shocks to the other variables. We thus assume that even shocks to the oil price will only affect world output after a lag. We order the oil price next because a shock to it will immediately affect the level of oil price volatility. It is also more exogenous than the REER since it is assumed not only to cause a nominal appreciation of the Nigerian currency, the Naira, but also to affect inflation levels, thereby affecting the REER. Finally, the oil, nonoil and overall trade balances are assumed to be the most endogenous since they would respond within the same quarter to changes in income (both domestic and world income), changes in the oil price and hence its volatility, as well as the REER through the latter's implications for relative prices. It is less plausible to assume that changes in the trade balance would affect any of the variables without allowing for a lag. For instance, overall domestic output may only be affected by this period's trade balance in the next period. Nigeria's role as a major oil exporter does not accord it a large role in determining oil prices through its oil exports since oil prices are mainly determined by global economic and/or political conditions, making it unlikely that the oil price or its volatility is contemporaneously endogenous to Nigeria's trade balance¹¹

3.3.2.1. Testing for the TVAR and Estimating the Threshold Values:

In order to estimate the TVAR, the nonlinear structure is tested by imposing the null hypothesis of a linear VAR (no threshold behaviour) against the alternative hypothesis of threshold behaviour. If the threshold value γ was known, then testing the null hypothesis of no threshold would simply entail testing that $A^2 = B^2 = 0$, and a heteroskedasticity-robust Wald statistic would be valid (Hansen, 1996). However, the threshold value is unknown and inference is nonstandard since this value is not identified under the null. To test for a threshold, the method of Hansen (1996) is adopted. Here, the specified TVAR model is estimated by least squares for all possible threshold values. For each value, the hypothesis of equality between the linear and nonlinear models is then tested and the estimated threshold value chosen is the one that maximises the log determinant of the structural residuals. As in Balke (2000), threshold

¹¹ It can be argued that the oil price and its volatility can contemporaneously affect the income measure since the latter contains Nigeria's income. We check the robustness of the results to the alternative ordering where these oil variables are ordered first, and the results remain unchanged. They are available upon request.

values were set so that at least 15% of the observations plus the number of parameters remain in each regime.

3.3.2.2. Nonlinear Impulse Response Functions:

Based on the estimated threshold values, it is possible to examine the response of the trade balance and its oil and nonoil components to shocks across regimes by using nonlinear impulse response functions. Unlike the linear VAR, the moving average representation of the TVAR is not linear in the shocks both across shocks and over time. As shown by Koop et al. (1996), impulse response functions in nonlinear models are dependent on the history of the variables as well as the size and sign of the shocks. The nonlinear Generalised Impulse Response Functions (GIRF) of Koop et al. (1996) are utilised using the bootstrap simulations suggested by Balke (2000)¹². The GIRF is computed as the change in the conditional expectation of a variable Y at horizon k as a result of knowing the value of a particular exogenous shock at time t, u_t . The impulse response function can be written as

$$E[Y_{t+k}|\Omega_{t-1}, u_t] - E[Y_{t+k}|\Omega_{t-1}].....(3.6)$$

 Ω_{t-1} is the initial condition, or the particular history of the variables in the period preceding the shock. This determines whether the system is initially in a high or low volatility regime. To compute the GIRFs, the sign and size of the shocks are specified as +/-2 standard deviation shocks to represent large positive and negative shocks¹³. No restriction of symmetry is placed on the shocks within each regime, and it is possible to see if positive and negative shocks have different impacts. As the initial conditions, each actual observation in the sample during which the economy is in a high volatility regime or low volatility regime is used, so it is assumed that the system is initially in the upper or lower regime. The horizon is set at 12 quarters. Following Balke (2000), the conditional expectations are simulated by drawing random vectors of shocks u_{t+j} , j = 1 to k, and then first simulating a path for the variable conditional only on the initial condition as well as a given realization of the shock u_t . The

¹² The TVAR literature refers to these impulse response functions as "generalised" because they are shock and history dependent, and regime switching can occur during the duration of the shock, as in Koop et al. (1996). However, they are still subject to the composition problem given the structural because the Cholesky decomposition is used.

¹³ The effects of small shocks (+/- 1SD) have also been investigated and they follow the direction of large shocks with smaller magnitudes. Since there are no significant non-proportionalities, only the results for large shocks are reported; those for small shocks are shown in appendix A.

difference between the two provides one estimate of the generalised impulse response at horizon k(Calza and Sousa, 2006). The simulations are repeated 500 times for each initial condition. The average of the simulated impulse responses is then the estimated impulse response at horizon k.

3.3.3. Data:

This study uses quarterly data from 1986Q1 to 2013Q4. The trade balance is decomposed into its oil and non-oil components. This is preferable to using only the overall trade balance because it allows the examination of the mechanisms through which the oil price affects the overall trade balance, as postulated by the model Bodenstein et al. (2011). The data on oil and non-oil exports and imports as well as oil prices are obtained from the Nigerian National Bureau of Statistics (NBS) and the Central bank of Nigeria (CBN). The Bonny Light crude oil price is used as it is Nigeria's reference crude oil price. Quarterly data on Nigeria's oil and non-oil imports have only been compiled since 2008. This data is therefore interpolated based on annual oil and non-oil imports reported by the NBS using Kalman smoothing for log-linear models, with iterated linearizations. Nigeria's Real Effective Exchange Rate (REER), Index of Industrial Production (IIP), Consumer Price Index (CPI), and Advanced countries'¹⁴ (IIP) are obtained from the International Monetary Fund's International Financial Statistics (IFS). The IIP is used due to the unavailability of world GDP data at quarterly frequency. Advanced countries' IIP is then used as a proxy for world IIP as the latter is unavailable for the full sample period at quarterly frequency. The difference between advanced countries' IIP and Nigeria's IIP is used as the measure of income, such that an increase represents higher world income relative to Nigeria's income. The CPI is used to deflate the oil price series. All variables except the volatility measures are expressed in logarithmic first differences.

The real oil price at the t_{th} quarter (rop_t) is measured as the quarterly growth in the real oil price, thus;

$$rop_t = \ln(\frac{op_t}{op_{t-1}}).$$
(3.7)

¹⁴ The 'advanced country' group of the IMF IFS consists of Australia, Austria, Belgium, Canada, Cyprus, Czech Republic, Denmark, Estonia, Finland, France, Germany, Greece, Hong Kong SAR, Iceland, Ireland, Israel, Italy, Japan, Korea, Latvia, Lithuania, Luxembourg, Malta, Netherlands, New Zealand, Norway, Portugal, San Marino, Singapore, Slovak Republic, Slovenia, Spain, Sweden, Switzerland, Taiwan Province of China, United Kingdom, and the United States.

Where op_t is the real oil price in quarter *t*. Throughout this chapter, the growth in the real oil price will be referred to as the real oil price "level" to distinguish it from the real oil price "volatility". As in Elder and Serletis (2010), Le and Chang (2013) and Shiu-Sheng and Kai-Wei (2013), the oil price shocks in this study are not decomposed as oil supply shocks, oil demand shocks and global aggregate demand shocks, as proposed by Kilian (2009). Thus, an oil price shock in this context is best thought of as an average oil shock. Indeed, Bodenstein et al. (2011) show that oil price shocks arising from both oil demand and oil supply shocks have similar qualitative effects on the trade balance. Oil price volatility is measured as the quarterly standard deviation of monthly real oil price growth thus:¹⁵

$$SD_t = \sqrt{\frac{\sum_{m=1}^3 (rop_m - \overline{rop})^2}{3-1}}....(3.8)$$

Where rop_m is the monthly real oil price growth and \overline{rop} is the quarterly mean of rop_m . Thus, for each quarter, the calculated volatility is the standard deviation of the real oil prices of the three months within the quarter.

Other measures of volatility commonly used in the literature are the conditional variance and conditional standard deviation from a Generalised Autoregressive Conditional Heteroscedasticity (GARCH) model. In this chapter, it is checked whether the results are robust to using the conditional standard deviation from a GARCH (1, 1) model for monthly real oil price growth thus:

$$rop_m = \mu_m + \sqrt{\sigma_m^2} \varepsilon_m; \quad \varepsilon_m \sim N(0, 1) \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots (3.9)$$

Where μ_m and $\sqrt{\sigma_m^2}$ are the monthly mean and standard deviation of real oil price growth, rop_m . ε_m is the error term. The GARCH model for the conditional variance, σ_m^2 is:

$$\sigma_m^2 = \omega + \alpha \sigma_{m-1}^2 \varepsilon_{m-1}^2 + \beta \sigma_{m-1}^2 \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots (3.10)$$

The monthly conditional standard deviation, σ_m , is thus:

¹⁵ This standard deviation measure of volatility is also adopted by Chen and Hsu (2012) and Shiu-Sheng and Kai-Wei (2013), among others.

The quarterly conditional standard deviation is then computed as the 3-month average of σ_m :

$$GARCH_t = \frac{\sum_{m=1}^3 \sigma_m}{3}....(3.12)$$

The volatility in each period using the GARCH measure is dependent on the oil price growth and volatility in the previous period, such that is captures the persistence in volatility over time. In contrast, the SD measure in each period depends only on the oil prices within that period, with no information on volatility persistence. While this inherent difference between the two measures is reflected in the results, it is still shown that the main findings are robust to using both measures of volatility.

Finally, the overall trade balance (TB), oil trade balance (OTB) and the nonoil trade balance (NOTB) are defined as the log ratio of exports to imports thus:

$$TB_t = ln\left(\frac{X_t}{M_t}\right); \ OTB_t = ln\left(\frac{OX_t}{OM_t}\right); \ NOTB_t = ln\left(\frac{NOX_t}{NOM_t}\right) \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots (3.13)$$

Where *X*, *OX* and *NOX* are overall, oil and nonoil exports respectively. Similarly, *M*, *OM* and *NOM* are overall imports, oil imports and nonoil imports respectively. Compared to measuring the trade balance as the difference between exports and imports, this measure has the advantage that it is independent of whether the trade data are in nominal or real terms, the trade balance can be expressed in natural logarithmic form since the ratio is non-negative. The trade balance is in surplus when the ratio is above unity, and in deficit when it is below it. Figure 3.1 shows Nigeria's trade balance and the real oil price. It can be seen that the overall trade balance tends to improve when the oil price is high and deteriorate when the oil price is low, especially since the early 1990s.

As a first step, unit root tests are conducted to examine the time series properties of the data. The Augmented Dickey-Fuller (ADF), Kwiatkowski, Phillips, Schmidt and Shin ((1992) (KPSS) test, and the Zivot and Andrews (2002) (ZA) test are used, the latter valid in the presence of structural breaks. Results of the tests are shown in Table 3.1. The ADF test shows that only the income measure is nonstationary. The ZA test shows that the income measure and the overall trade balance are nonstationary. The KPSS test however shows that all series are nonstationary except for the measures of volatility.

For consistency, all the variables except the volatility measures are in logarithmic first differences.¹⁶ Table 3.2 shows the descriptive statistics of the variables.



Figure 3.1: The Oil Price and Nigeria's Overall Trade Balance

Source: Author's calculations using data from Central Bank of Nigeria (CBN).

Notes: The Figure plots the quarterly log growth of the Bonny Light real crude oil price and Nigeria's overall trade balance. Both series have been filtered using the Hodrick and Prescott (1997) filter.

¹⁶ Note that the volatility measures are constructed from the monthly real oil price growth measures, which are already in logarithmic first differences.

Variable	Augmen	ted	Zivot-Andrews			KPSS unit root	
	Dickey-I	Fuller unit	unit root test		test		
	root test						
	Level	Decision	Level	Decision	Break Year	Level	Decision
IIP	-2.59	I(1)	-3.03	I(1)	2008q4	0.52*	I(1)
Differential							
Real oil price	-3.80*	I(0)	-10.5**	I(0)	1991q1	3.28**	I(1)
Real Effective	-5.29**	I(0)	-6.39**	I(0)	1999q1	0.71*	I(1)
Exchange Rate							
Oil price	-9.54**	I(0)	-6.61**	I(0)	1998q2	0.22	I(0)
volatility							
(Standard							
deviation)							
Overall trade	-4.97**	I(0)	-4.74	I(I)	1999q2	0.68*	I(1)
balance							
Non-oil trade	-11.9**	I(0)	4.85*	I(0)	2009q4	1.80**	I(1)
balance							
Oil trade	-7.62**	I(0)	33.21**	I(0)	1992Q3	0.82**	I(1)
balance							
Oil price	9.92**	I(0)	6.08**	I(0)	1998q3	0.11	I(0)
volatility							
(GARCH							
measure)							

Table 3.1: Unit Root Tests

Notes: The null hypothesis for the ADF and ZA tests is the presence of a unit root, while the null for the KPSS is that the series are stationary. (**) denotes significance at 1% level and (*) denotes significance at 5% level. I (1) denotes non-stationary variables; I(0) denotes stationary variables.

Table 5.2. Descriptive Statistics							
Variable	No. Obs.	Mean	Standard Error	Minimu m	Maximum		
Oil price volatility (SD)	116	0.07	0.04	0.01	0.28		
Oil price volatility (GARCH)	116	0.09	0.02	0.06	0.18		
Overall trade balance	115	0.00	0.27	-0.79	0.79		
Oil trade balance	115	-0.04	0.32	-1.58	0.90		
Nonoil trade balance	115	0.01	1.00	-2.12	2.19		
REER	115	-0.01	0.17	-1.30	0.40		
Real oil price	115	-0.03	0.16	-0.74	0.49		
IIP differential	115	0.63	4.03	-38.62	5.11		

Table 3.2: Descriptive Statistics

Notes: All the variables except the two volatility measures are in logarithmic first differences i.e. they represent a growth in a particular variable.

3.4. Results

3.4.1. Testing the nonlinear model

Table 3.3 reports results from the test of a linear VAR model against the alternative of a threshold model using the standard deviation measure of volatility. The null hypothesis of a linear VAR is rejected at 1% level of significance in favour of a threshold VAR for all components of the trade balance. A threshold value of 0.068 is estimated for all the trade balance components. Thus, the relationship between the variables in the TVAR changes when the standard deviation of oil price returns exceeds 6.8%. Figure 3.2 plots the threshold variable against the threshold value. The estimated threshold roughly splits the sample in half, with 55 observations when volatility is above the threshold (upper regime) and 54 observations when it is below it (lower regime). This shows that there are as many periods of high volatility as there are normal/low volatility periods, which is not surprising given that oil prices have been highly volatile over the years.

Trade Balance Component	e Threshold value	LR statistic	Degrees of freedom	No. of Obs. In Upper regime	No. of Obs. In Lower regime	
Non-oil trade balance	e 0.068	320.63 (0.000)	70	55	54	
Oil trade balance	0.068	317.67 (0.000)	70	55	54	
Overall Trade balance	0.068	322.16 (0.000)	70	55	54	

Table 3.3: Test for Threshold VAR

Notes: The threshold variable is the two period moving average of the standard deviation of real oil price returns. p-values for each LR statistic are in parenthesis. The variables in the system are log IIP differential growth, log real oil price growth, oil price volatility, log REER growth, and log growth in the relevant component on the trade balance. The delay parameter = 1.



Figure 3.2: Standard Deviation measure of oil price volatility and its threshold value

Notes: The threshold variable is the two period moving average of the standard deviation of real oil price growth

3.4.2. Response of the trade balance to shocks

Figures 3.3 - 3.5 show the nonlinear generalized impulse response functions computed over a 12 quarter horizon for the oil, nonoil and overall trade balances. Large positive and negative (+/-2SD) shocks are reported to show the asymmetries in the response of the trade balance within each regime. For brevity, only the response to oil price level and volatility shocks are reported. Responses to other variables in the system are shown in Appendix A. The procedure of the nonlinear Impulse Response Functions does not allow the calculation of proper confidence intervals. Thus, following Balke (2000) and Batini et al. (2012), no discussion of statistical significance is presented as this would be inappropriate for the model.

3.4.2.1. Response of the oil trade balance to shocks:

The response of the oil trade balance to oil price level and volatility shocks is shown in Figure 3.3. In both regimes, positive oil price shocks (unexpected increases in the oil price) initially improve the oil trade balance. This is in line with expectations and reflects increasing earnings from oil exports. The effect diminishes after two quarters, turning slightly negative until the fifth quarter when it diminishes to zero. In both regimes, no asymmetry is observed between positive and negative oil price shocks. However, the impacts of oil price shocks are larger in the lower regime, in line with Lee et al. (1995) who find that oil price shocks have a higher impact in a low volatility environment.

With regards to volatility shocks, in the upper regime, positive volatility shocks deteriorate the oil trade balance initially, but improve it after 2 quarters. This improvement is sustained until the 6th quarter when the effect diminishes to zero. Decreases in volatility initially improve the trade balance sharply, then deteriorate it in the 2nd quarter after the shock. The effect starts to diminish by the 3rd quarter but reaches zero only after 10 quarters. Therefore, in the upper regime the initial impact of an increase in volatility is negative, consistent with Elder and Serletis (2010) who find that investment in the oil sector is negatively affected by volatility. Moreover, if as in Litzenberger and Rabinowitz (1995), high volatility discourages oil extraction by increasing the relative value of oil below the ground, the growth in oil exports might be lower. In the same way, delayed investment abroad would reduce the demand for oil and deteriorate the oil balance, in line with Bernanke (1983). In the lower regime, an

increase in volatility improves the oil trade balance on impact, then immediately deteriorates it after one quarter. The oil trade balance response subsequently follows a pattern similar to the upper regime. In contrast to the upper regime, the initial effect of a decrease in volatility is a deterioration of the oil trade balance. By the second quarter, the effect also resembles that in the upper regime. Threshold effects are thus apparent as an increase in volatility hurts the trade balance on impact only if it occurs when the oil market is already volatile. Indeed, it appears that in a low volatility environment, oil exports are actually spurred by increased volatility, perhaps reflecting increased precautionary demand for oil. The findings thus suggest that reduced oil demand due to delays in investment abroad (as advanced by Bernanke (1980)), or lower investment in mining activities and oil extraction (as in Litzenberger and Rabinowitz (1995) and Elder and Serletis (2010)), is more likely to occur if volatility is excessively high. On the other hand, lower levels of volatility are more likely associated with the sort of precautionary demand for oil discussed by, among others, Kilian (2009) and Anzuini et al. (2015). Figure 3.3 also shows that decreases in volatility have larger and more persistent effects in the upper regime. There are asymmetries of volatility shocks, with the initial impacts of positive shocks being more volatile but shorter lived in the lower regime, and negative shocks being larger than positive shocks in the upper regime.



Figure 3.3: Response of the oil trade balance to shocks conditional on regime: Standard deviation measure of volatility.

3.4.2.2. Response of the non-oil trade balance to shocks:

Figure 3.4 shows the response of the nonoil trade balance to oil price level and volatility shocks. In the upper regime, a positive oil price level shock has a volatile effect on the nonoil balance. The nonoil balance first improves but deteriorates after 2 quarters. The effect turns positive again in the third quarter and begins to diminish in the fourth quarter, reaching zero after 8 quarters. As with the oil balance, negative oil price level shocks have symmetric effects to positive shocks. In the lower regime, the effects of oil price shocks are less dramatic and the initial impacts are muted. As in the upper regime, there is an improvement (deterioration) following a positive (negative) oil shock in the 3rd quarter, but this is larger and more persistent in the lower regime. A subsequent deterioration in the nonoil balance also occurs after the 4th guarter, and has a relatively higher magnitude than the upper regime. The effects in the lower regime are more persistent than as they diminish to zero only after 10 quarters. Thus, in both regimes, the effects of oil price increases on the nonoil balance tend to be initially positive, possibly reflecting an immediate reduction in oil intensive durable imports that form a large proportion of Nigeria's imports, in line with Elder and Serletis (2010) and Huynh (2016). The deterioration postulated by Bodenstein et al. (2011) only occurs subsequently but is quite persistent, indicating that positive wealth effects of oil price increases for oil exporters kick in after some time. There are threshold effects as the impacts of oil shocks are more volatile but lower and less persistent in the upper regime, suggesting that high uncertainty makes the effects of oil prices more dramatic but reduces the absolute size of the effects. Again, the latter result is in line with Lee et al. (1995).

For volatility shocks, Figure 3.4 shows that in the upper regime, increases in volatility initially deteriorate the nonoil balance. This effect is however short lived and becomes positive by the 2^{nd} quarter. The response begins to diminish and becomes negligible by the 5^{th} quarter. The effects of decreases in volatility (increases in oil price stability) follow similar patterns to increases but in the opposite direction. However, the effects of decreases in volatility are much larger and more volatile than those of increases. In the lower regime, unlike the upper regime, increases and decreases in volatility have very muted initial impacts on the nonoil balance. Like with the oil trade balance therefore, increased volatility is only harmful on impact if the oil market environment is already volatile. After these initial responses, the effects of both increases and decreases follow similar patterns as the upper regime, but with lower magnitudes. The effects of increases in volatility are particularly muted in the lower regime. Thus, there is evidence

of asymmetry in both regimes, as decreases in volatility are more important than increases. There are also threshold effects across regimes because the effects of volatility shocks are larger in the upper regime. The result that higher volatility propagates the effects of oil volatility shocks is consistent Van Robays (2012). On the other hand, the larger effects of decreases in volatility relative to increases suggest that the decisions of economic agents regarding trade volumes are more responsive to increasing oil price stability. This is perhaps because large increases in stability signal favourable global and domestic economic conditions, thereby stimulating trade. On the other hand, increasing oil price volatility will tend to be perceived as temporary, especially since the oil market experiences frequent hikes and downturns.

3.4.2.3. Response of the overall trade balance to shocks:

Figure 3.5 shows the response of the overall trade balance to oil price level and volatility shocks. In the upper regime, positive oil price shocks initially improve the overall trade balance. The trade balance then deteriorates slightly until the 6th quarter when it diminishes to zero. The effects of negative oil price shocks are symmetric to those of positive shocks. In the lower regime, the initial effects of oil price shocks are lower than the upper regime within the first 2 quarters of the shock, reflecting the initial muted response of the nonoil trade balance in this regime. After the 2nd quarter however, the effects are slightly larger and less volatile than the upper regime. Overall, there are no asymmetries between oil price increases and decreases, but higher volatility makes the effects of oil prices more dramatic.

In the upper regime, increases in volatility have an initial negative impact on the overall trade balance, as with the oil and nonoil balances. The trade balance however improves in the 2^{nd} quarter and diminishes to zero by the 3^{rd} quarter. The effects of negative volatility shocks are again larger and more persistent. In the lower regime, increases in volatility initially improve the trade balance while decreases in volatility deteriorate it, consistent with the responses of the oil and nonoil balances. The subsequent effects follow a similar pattern as the upper regime but are relatively lower. Here also, negative volatility shocks have larger and more persistent effects than positive shocks.

Overall, the response of the overall trade balance reflects the combined responses of the oil and nonoil trade balances, as expected. Here, as in the oil and nonoil balances, the largest effect of volatility shocks in both regimes occurs in the second quarter, where the effect of a decrease in volatility is sharply negative. However, the volatile response

of the nonoil balance to volatility shocks is smoothed out by the relatively modest response of the oil trade balance, such that the response of the overall trade balance is less dramatic.



Figure 3.4: Response of the nonoil trade balance to shocks conditional on regime: Standard deviation measure of volatility.



Figure 3.5: Response of the overall trade balance to shocks conditional on regime: Standard deviation measure of volatility.

3.4.3. Robustness to alternative volatility measure:

Figure 3.6 shows a plot of the GARCH volatility variable as defined in equation (3.12) and its estimated threshold value. Here, there is a relatively lower number of observations in the lower regime (70 and 39 observations in the upper and lower regime respectively). This reflects that the GARCH measure captures not only the level of volatility in each period, as with the standard deviation measure, but also the corresponding volatility persistence. This difference is also reflected in the estimated impulse responses which are more volatile and more persistent than those produced by the standard deviation measure. Figures 3.7, 3.8 and 3.9 show the response of the oil, nonoil and overall trade balances using the GARCH measure.



Figure 3.6: GARCH (1, 1) measure of oil price volatility and its threshold value

Figure 3.7 shows the response of the oil trade balance. Here increases in oil prices continue to have positive initial impacts in both regimes, as with the SD measure. The effects using the GARCH measure are more persistent, as they do not diminish to zero even after 12 quarters. The effects of oil price decreases are fairly symmetric to those of increases in the upper regime, as with the SD measure. In the lower regime however, there is some degree of asymmetry where negative shocks have similar effects to positive shocks in the same direction between the 5th and 7th quarters. The effects of volatility shocks are also more dramatic than using the SD measure. In the upper regime, increases in volatility have a negative initial impact that lasts only until the 1st quarter, as with the SD measure. Here also, decreases in volatility continue to have larger and more volatile effects within the first 3 quarters. The effects in the lower regime considerably lower. The initial effects of increases in volatility in this regime continue to be positive using the GARCH measure, but this effect is shorter lived.

Figure 3.8 shows the response of the nonoil trade balance to shocks. In both regimes, effects of level shocks are again more volatile and persistent than they are using the SD measure. Still however, the IRFs show an initial improvement in the nonoil balance following an oil price increase. Unlike the SD measure however, this effect is also large in the lower regime. As with the SD measure, the subsequent deterioration is much larger in the upper regime, and the improvement in the 3rd quarter is larger and more persistent in the lower regime. The effects of oil price shocks continue to be more dramatic in the upper regime than the lower regime. The GARCH measure shows asymmetries not captured by the SD measure, as oil price increases have larger effects and asymmetries observed using the SD measure are even more potent here. In both regimes increases in volatility have almost no effects throughout the 12 quarter horizon. The effects of decreases in volatility are much larger in both regimes, and the response of the nonoil balance is considerably higher in the upper regime.

Figure 3.9 shows the response of the overall trade balance to shocks. Using the GARCH measure, the initial impacts of oil price shocks are qualitatively similar as using the SD measure. The effects are much larger and more volatile in the upper regime. There are also clear asymmetries here as the impacts of oil price increases are larger and more volatile than those of decreases, especially in the upper regime. With respect to volatility shocks, threshold effects are more apparent than using the SD measure, with the effects of volatility shocks, especially negative shocks, being larger in the upper regime. In both regimes, the asymmetry observed with the SD measure is maintained, with negative shocks having larger effects than positive shocks.

Therefore, the results regarding the general direction of effects and nonlinearities are in most cases qualitatively similar across both measures. The main differences between the IRFs are in relation to oil price level shocks. The GARCH measure of volatility shows asymmetries that are not present using the SD measure, and the effects tend to be larger in the upper regime as opposed to the lower regime observed with the SD measure. Asymmetric effects of oil price level shocks, and differences in the size of the effects, are thus weak and depend on the measure of volatility. This inconclusive evidence supports the argument of Kilian and Vigfusson (2011b) in that nonlinearities with respect to level shocks are sensitive to variable measurements. Still, the finding that these effects are more dramatic in the upper regime is robust to using both volatility

measures. On the other hand, the findings of asymmetries and threshold effects of volatility shocks are very robust.

Figure 3.7: Response of the oil trade balance to shocks conditional on regime: GARCH measure of volatility.









Figure 3.9: Response of the overall trade balance to shocks conditional on regime: GARCH measure of volatility.

3.5. Discussion of results:

Taken together, the results show that the effects of oil price level and volatility shocks on the oil, nonoil and overall trade balance are nonlinear as they depend on an oil price volatility threshold. For oil price level shocks, the response of all trade balance measures are generally more dramatic when volatility exceeds its threshold value. Irrespective of the level of volatility, oil price increases initially improve the oil, nonoil and overall trade balances. This is similar to the findings of Le and Chang (2013) for Malaysia, a developing country oil exporter. The improvement is expected for the oil and overall balances, in line with Bodenstein et al. (2011). For the nonoil balance, it potentially reflects a reduction in oil intensive durable goods imports, such that the expected deterioration occurs after about a year, when positive wealth effects of the price increase become apparent. The subsequent deterioration of the overall balance is consistent with the notion that oil exporters are eventually negatively affected by oil price increases through reduced economic activity (and hence demand) in their oil importing trading partners as well as through their own higher demand for imports (Korhonen and Ledyaeva, 2010, Abeysinghe, 2001, Bodenstein et al., 2011),

With regards to oil volatility shocks, the responses of all trade balance components are higher when volatility is above its threshold value, showing that higher volatility propagates the effects of volatility socks, in line with Van Robays (2012) and Huang et al. (2005). Irrespective of the volatility environment, decreases in volatility have larger effects than increases. This suggests that sudden increases in oil price stability have higher impacts on decisions of economic agents than sudden increases in volatility. A potential explanation for this asymmetry is that increases in stability are perceived to be more permanent than increases in volatility, and also signal a stable global and domestic economy. A consistent finding is that these increases in oil price stability deteriorate all trade balance components within the first year of the shock, indicating an increase in spending on both oil and non-oil imports. Since Nigeria's main non-oil imports consist of energy intensive durable products¹⁷, expenditure on these goods would be positively affected by oil price stability, as would expenditure on the imported refined petroleum needed to fuel these products. The result is an increase in both oil and non-oil imports relative to exports, and a deterioration of all components of the trade balance. This is consistent with Plante and Traum (2012) as well as Başkaya et al. (2013). Although

¹⁷ Main nonoil imports are motor vehicles, large vehicles for transportation of goods, electricity generators and inverters (UN, 2013).

these studies do not consider the effects of volatility decreases, they find that an increase in precautionary savings occurs in response to higher oil price volatility; this is analogous to an increase in consumption spending due to increased oil price stability.

Interestingly, increased volatility only deteriorates the trade balances when volatility is above its threshold, and tends to have a positive effect at lower levels of volatility. Thus, negative impacts such as through reduced investments and hence exports (as in Bernanke (1980) and Bloom (2009)), and increased riskiness of transportation (as in Chen and Hsu (2012)), appear to only set in when volatility has exceeded a certain threshold. When an increase in volatility occurs in a relatively stable environment, it appears to be more likely associated with increased precautionary oil demand.

3.6. Conclusions:

The implications of oil price level and volatility shocks on economic performance are important to academics and policy makers alike. A large body of literature has examined these effects on output. Here, asymmetries have been found, and oil price volatility has been shown to be an important source of these asymmetries. The effects of oil price volatility on the economy have also been shown to be nonlinear. However, these nonlinearities have not been studied in relation to the trade balance, despite the importance of trade as a major channel through which oil prices affect economic growth. It is this gap in the literature that this chapter has addressed.

This chapter utilized the Threshold Vector Autoregressive model (TVAR) of Balke (2000) to provide a comprehensive analysis of nonlinearities in the oil price-trade balance relationship. Quarterly data on Nigerian trade balance and its oil and nonoil components were used. Two oil price volatility measures were used as threshold variables: the standard deviation of the real oil price; and the conditional standard deviation from a GARCH (1, 1) model of the real oil price.

Results from non-linear impulse response functions showed that oil price level shocks have more dramatic effects when oil price volatility is high. Asymmetries between positive and negative oil price shocks were found to depend on the volatility measure, with the GARCH measure displaying asymmetries not captured by the standard deviation measure. For oil price volatility shocks, large threshold and asymmetric effects were found in the response of all components of the trade balance, and using both measures of volatility. Decreases in volatility were found to be more important than increases within regimes, and the magnitudes of the effects were found to be higher in the upper regime. Given the different initial impacts of volatility across regimes, the results show that volatility hurts the trade balance on only when it exceeds a certain threshold. Irrespective of regimes and volatility measure, decreases in volatility sharply deteriorate all trade balance components within a year of the shock, suggesting that sudden increases in oil price stability encourage both oil and nonoil imports. Interestingly, the nonoil trade balance has the largest response to both level and volatility shocks irrespective of regime and volatility measure. This supports the view that the nonoil balance is an important channel through which external balances are affected by oil prices (see Kilian et al. (2009), Bodenstein et al. (2011)).

Overall, high oil price volatility was found to propagate the effects of volatility shocks on the trade balance while making the effects of oil price level shocks more volatile. The analysis in this chapter has focused on only one oil exporting country, and the nonlinearities found may well be present for other oil exporters as well as oil importers. It will thus be desirable for the analysis to be carried out for more countries. Although the limited availability of high frequency data may exclude the possibility of threshold analysis at the global level, the findings have still opened up potential avenues for future research that are worth exploring. There are also implications for the design of theoretical models on the relationship between oil price volatility and trade, as the findings show that the volatility environment plays an important role.

There are policy implications for Nigeria arising from the findings of this chapter. Given that oil accounts for around 70% of government revenue and foreign exchange, oil price volatility is often associated with volatility in fiscal spending and exchange rates. The results show that, as far as the trade balance is concerned, increases in oil price volatility usually have muted impacts, with the largest effects within the first few quarters of the shock. Even these initial impacts are only negative when the oil market environment is already highly volatile. Thus, the use of policies to insulate the economy from high volatility, such as drawing on Nigeria's Excess Crude Account (ECA) or Sovereign Wealth Fund (SWF) to offset potential reductions in oil revenues, would be of more benefit in an already high volatility environment. In fact, the findings of this chapter suggest that decreases in volatility are more important for the trade balance. The results suggest that increased oil price stability deteriorates the overall balance by encouraging higher import expenditure. This overall trade balance deterioration, since it is mainly the result of a nonoil balance deterioration, may signal increased economic activity due to higher oil price stability, such that there is higher demand for both investment and consumption goods.

Chapter 4: Oil Prices and Bilateral Trade Balances of Sub-Saharan African Countries: What are the roles of exchange rates?

4.1. Introduction

The recent oil price collapse and associated adjustment of the exchange rates of various oil exporters has heightened concerns on the effects of oil prices and exchange rates on the macro economy. Through its effects on relative wealth and the terms of trade, an oil price increase is typically associated with real appreciations for oil exporters and depreciations for importers. Theoretically, this relationship has been shown to be important in influencing the response of the trade balance to oil prices (Bodenstein et al., 2011). This chapter empirically examines the role of real exchange rates in determining the effects of oil prices on the bilateral trade balances of oil exporting and oil importing Sub-Saharan African (SSA) countries. While the previous chapter was concerned with the non-linear role of oil price volatility postulated by the wider OPM literature, this chapter engages more with the theoretical oil price-trade balance literature by focusing on the role of real exchange rates in the transmission of oil price movements.

There is a large body of literature on the oil price-exchange rate nexus, which generally finds that oil price increases lead to appreciations for oil exporters and depreciations for importers (Amano and Van Norden, 1998, Chen and Chen, 2007, Korhonen and Juurikkala, 2009, Lizardo and Mollick, 2010, Mohammadi and Jahan-Parvar, 2012, Jahan-Parvar and Mohammadi, 2011, Dauvin, 2014, Reboredo et al., 2014). Theoretically, Bodenstein et al. (2011) show that these oil price induced real appreciations (depreciations) dampen the effects of oil prices on the overall trade balance through deteriorating (improving) the nonoil balance. However, as shown by the vast empirical literature on the effects of exchange rates on the trade balance, in practice, exchange rate changes have ambiguous effects, especially in the short run. (McKenzie and Brooks, 1997, Rose, 1990, 1989, Yol and Baharumshah, 2007, Kodongo and Ojah, 2012, Bahmani-Oskooee and Gelan, 2012, Bahmani-Oskooee and Xu, 2012). For exchange rates adjustments to succeed in correcting external imbalances, first, a nominal devaluation must lead to a real devaluation; and second, the demand for traded goods needs to be sufficiently responsive to the real devaluation, i.e. the Marshall Lerner condition needs to hold. While the first condition is usually met, there is considerable disparity in the empirical findings regarding the second (Reinhart, 1995).

Exchange rates might therefore not affect the oil price-trade balance nexus in the expected way. Empirical studies on the oil price trade-balance relationship do not test whether exchange rate adjustments succeed in limiting the responsiveness of the overall trade balance to oil shocks (Kilian et al., 2009, Le and Chang, 2013, Arouri et al., 2014). This chapter addresses this gap in the literature by being the first empirical study that examines the role of exchange rates in mediating the effects of oil prices on the trade balance.

This chapter also makes an important methodological contribution by addressing the empirical problem of panel Cross Section Dependence (CSD). CSD is pervasive in cross country panel data and, if it exists, renders most conventional panel data estimators inconsistent. All the studies on the effects of oil prices on the trade balance use time series data (Kilian et al., 2009, Le and Chang, 2013, Arouri et al., 2014). Some related studies that examine the effects of oil prices on the current account balance or on trade volumes use cross country panel data but ignore the possibility of CSD (Allegret et al., 2014, Allegret et al., 2015, Chen and Hsu, 2012, Shiu-Sheng and Kai-Wei, 2013). In this chapter, the Pesaran (2006) Common Correlated Effects Mean Group (CCEMG) estimators are used to examine oil price effects with bilateral trade data for 8 major SSA countries and their most important trading partners¹⁸. The model also allows heterogeneous slopes for each SSA country and the estimation of short and long run impacts. This heterogeneity allows the examination of the bilateral exchange rate behaviour for a range of trading partners which can potentially guide trade preferences. It also facilitates the interpretation of results in light of the model in Bodenstein et al. (2011) which is presented in a bilateral framework. The robustness of the results is checked by comparing the aggregate averages of the bilateral estimates with results from a Fixed Effects (FE) estimator with CSD robust standard errors.

The results reveal that aggregate long and short run effects of oil prices on the trade balance are insignificant. The bilateral effects, in turn, show positive and negative oil price effects for both SSA oil importers and exporters. Overall however, positive effects dominate, even for oil importers. Importantly, it is found that for bilateral trade balances where the oil price effect is positive, exchange rates do not have the expected signs. That is, in these cases exchange rate appreciations seem to improve the trade balance,

¹⁸ The SSA countries considered are Angola, Cameroon, Ethiopia, Ghana, Kenya, Nigeria, Tanzania, and South Africa. The trading partners are Canada, China, France, Germany, India, Italy, Japan, Netherlands, Spain, United Kingdom and United States.

whereas depreciations deteriorate it. Conversely, where an oil price increase deteriorates the bilateral trade balance, subsequent depreciations succeed in improving the trade balance, and appreciations deteriorate it. This indicates that the Marshall Lerner condition is more likely to hold when the oil price has a negative effect. Consistent with these results, the interaction terms between the exchange rate and oil price show that exchange rate depreciations dampen both the positive and negative effects of oil prices on the trade balance, while appreciations reinforce these effects.

The prevalence of insignificant average impacts of oil prices, as well as predominantly positive heterogeneous impacts for oil importers potentially point to large responses of the nonoil trade balances for SSA countries, which serves to offset any effect on the oil trade balance (Bodenstein et. al., 2011). Oil importers' exports may increase with oil prices through a number of channels. There may be higher demand for their exports by the now wealthier oil exporters, exchange rate depreciations may stimulate exports and, if higher oil input prices lead to a sufficiently large increase in export prices, the trade balance may improve. At the same time, the demand for their nonoil imports may fall due to lower real wealth. As shown in Figure 2.6, SSA oil importers also export commodities whose prices often move together with oil prices, such that the negative impact of oil prices on the oil component of their trade balances may be offset, or even dominated, by the positive pressures on their nonoil trade balances. On the other hand, SSA oil exporters are frequently importers of refined petroleum imports, potentially limiting the gains from higher oil prices. In addition, the results may reflect the low levels of international financial integration of these countries (Figure 2.7). As shown by Bodenstein et al. (2011), less financially integrated economies are less able to smooth nonoil consumption when the oil price rises, leading to a large nonoil trade adjustment that may offset or even dominate the response of the oil trade balance. The results regarding exchange rates imply that their influence on the oil-price trade balance nexus is not always as predicted by theory: it depends on the direction of the oil price effect.

The remainder of this chapter is organised as follows: Section 4.2 presents the related theoretical and empirical literature. Section 4.3 describes the data used in the study and the empirical models estimated. Results are presented in Section 4.4 and discussed in Section 4.5. Conclusions and policy recommendations are made in section 4.6.

4.2. Literature Review:

This study relates to three strands of literature: the effects of oil prices on the trade balance; the relationship between the exchange rate and the trade balance; and the oil price-exchange rate nexus¹⁹.

4.2.1. Oil prices and the trade balance:

The theoretical literature generally implies that the effect of oil price shocks on the trade balance is positive for oil exporting countries and negative for oil importers. Early theoretical models that analysed the effects of oil prices on the trade balance consider the effects of an oil price induced terms of trade deterioration, where the trade balance is determined residually as the difference between savings and investment.

The effect of a terms of trade deterioration on the trade balance was first examined by Harberger (1950) and Laursen and Metzler (1950) for an oil importing economy. The Harberger-Laursen-Metzler (HLM) result was that a terms of trade deterioration leads to a reduction in real income in terms of importables. This in turn reduces savings out of income and leads to a deterioration of the trade balance (Sen, 1994). Schmid (1976) find within a two country open economy monetary model that increases in the oil price resulting from negative oil supply shocks lead to a deterioration of the trade balance for oil importers and an improvement for oil exporters, with the key feature of the model being a low elasticity of substitution between domestic factors of production and imported oil. However, Obstfeld (1982) find that a terms of trade deterioration resulting from an oil price increase leads to a trade surplus by increasing savings to smooth future consumption since consumers would want to maintain a certain level of utility. Svensson and Razin (1983) and Svensson (1984) find that the effects of an oil price increase depend on whether the increase is temporary or permanent. If the oil price increase is temporary, there is no need to increase savings to smooth future consumption. Rather, current savings fall to smooth current consumption, and investment is unaffected, resulting in deterioration of the trade balance. If however the oil price increase is expected in the future, then savings rise to smooth future consumption and investment falls, leading to a trade balance improvement. A permanent oil price increase is shown to have ambiguous effects. In a similar model,

¹⁹ There is also the "Dutch disease" literature which focuses on how the presence of a natural resource such as oil affects the trade balance through exchange rates. Since the focus of this chapter is on examining the effects of changes in the price of oil for both oil importers and exporters, rather than oil discovery or the resource curse, this literature is not discussed. Magud and Sabatian (2013) provide a recent review of the Dutch disease literature.

Matsuyama (1987) finds that an oil price increase would reduce savings and deteriorate the trade balance if the consequent reduction in income (wealth effect) outweighs the tendency of investors to substitute away from oil (substitution effect). If the substitution effect dominates however, the trade balance improves because lower oil use reduces investment since oil and the capital stock are employed cooperatively. Sen and Turnovsky (1989) find that an oil price increase leads workers to substitute away from labour towards leisure. This substitution effect dominates the negative wealth effect of the price increase that tends to increase labour supply. This in turn leads to dissaving and deteriorates the trade balance. Sen (1990) and Sen (1991) reach similar conclusions.

In these earlier models, the effects of oil price increases on the trade balance of oil importing countries is generally found to be negative. Results also depend on the persistence of the price increase and the relative strength of the wealth and substitution effects it generates. These early models have the limitation that they generally do not consider oil exporting countries; assume perfect international capital mobility or perfect immobility; and define the trade balance in a way that does not allow its decomposition into oil and nonoil components. As recently shown by Bodenstein et al. (2011), all these factors turn out to be important for understanding the trade balance response to oil prices.

Bodenstein et al. (2011) build on the work of Backus and Crucini (2000) and analyse the effects of oil price changes on a country's trade balance using a Dynamic Stochastic General Equilibrium (DSGE) model in which the oil price is endogenously determined and market incompleteness is assumed. Oil is used as an input in the production process and as a consumption good. The effects of oil price changes are shown to depend on the sources of the change, the price elasticity of demand for oil, and the extent to which international financial markets are incomplete. It is shown that oil price increases directly deteriorate the oil trade balance for oil importers and improve it for exporters. This is because the price elasticity of demand for oil is low, such that the oil import bill rises even as oil importers substitute away from oil. A higher oil import bill constitutes a transfer of wealth from oil importers to oil exporters. For oil importers, the lower wealth deteriorates the terms of trade and depreciates the real exchange rate. This depreciation aids the improvement in the nonoil component of the trade balance by discouraging imports, and by making exports even cheaper for the now wealthier oil exporters. For oil exporters, higher wealth and a real appreciation lead to a deterioration of the nonoil balance. By aiding the adjustment of the nonoil balance in a way that
offsets the response of the oil balance, the real exchange rate plays a role in limiting the effects of oil prices on the overall balance for both oil exporters and importers. Empirically, its role will depend on the elasticity of demand for nonoil traded goods, which is in turn influenced by the elasticity of substitution between domestic and foreign goods. Bodenstein et al. (2011) also shows that low international risk sharing increases the need for a nonoil trade adjustment, such that the response of the overall balance is lower. A high price elasticity of demand for oil has the same effect by reducing the magnitude of the oil balance response. Similarly, Rebucci and Spatafora (2006) posit that any trade surpluses an oil exporter may gain from increased oil prices would eventually be offset by increased growth and real exchange rate appreciation. Oil importers' trade deficit will also be offset through real depreciations and reduced wealth.

In sum, the theoretical literature predicts that oil price increases will improve the overall trade balance of oil exporters and deteriorate it for oil importers. The associated terms of trade deterioration (improvement) and the real exchange rate depreciation (appreciation) for oil importers (exporters) is shown to dampen the effects of oil prices on the trade balance. No study has empirically examined whether these exchange rate adjustments do limit the overall effects of oil prices on the trade balance.

Empirically, Kilian et al. (2009) study the relationship between oil prices and external balances for both oil importing and exporting countries using aggregate data from 1970-2005. They find that the overall trade balances of oil exporters are positively affected by oil price increases, while high-income oil importing countries are negatively affected. Le and Chang (2013) study the impact of oil prices on the aggregate trade balances of Malaysia (an oil exporter) Singapore (an oil refinery) and Japan (an oil importer). The results from impulse response functions of a VAR showed that oil prices lead to an improvement in the trade balance of Malaysia, a deterioration for Japan and no effects for Singapore. Using monthly data from 1980-2011 and VAR techniques, Arouri et al. (2014) find that for oil importing India, the trade balance is negatively affected by oil price increases. Chen and Hsu (2012) examine the effects of oil prices on bilateral trade volumes using panel data on 84 countries from 1984-2008. They found that oil supply disruptions have a negative impact on trade because they lower GDP and hence imports of oil importers, as well as export volumes of oil exporters. Oil specific demand shocks on the other hand increase trade volumes by inducing higher exports for oil exporters and higher imports for importers. In a similar study, Shiu-Sheng and KaiWei (2013) examine the effects of oil prices on bilateral export volumes using a gravity model of international trade and annual data on 117 countries from 1984-2009. They find that oil price changes have insignificant effects on trade flows. Korhonen and Ledyaeva (2010) examine the indirect effects of oil price increases on different countries' GDP working through the bilateral trade with their major trading partners. They find that for the oil exporters in their sample (Canada and Russia), the effects of oil price increases were positive. However, there were also indirect negative effects as a result of lower economic activity in their oil importing trading partners. Some oil importers were also found to benefit from oil price increases due to higher demand from their oil-exporting trading partners.

Other related studies have examined the impacts of oil prices on exports, terms of trade and the current account balance. Kuboniwa (2014) examine the effects of oil prices on the terms of trade for oil exporting Russia, Malaysia, and Indonesia. He finds that a 10% increase in the price of oil is associated with 4.4% and 1.8% improvement in the terms of trade for Russia and Malaysia respectively. However, for Indonesia, the effect was found to be negative, deteriorating the terms of trade by 1%. Ahmed and O'Donoghue (2010) and Muhammad (2012)) also find that oil price increases are associated with a reduction in exports of Pakistan (an oil importer) through inducing an increase in production costs. Chuku et al. (2011) study the effects of oil price shocks on the Nigerian current account balance. Using quarterly data from 1970 to 2008, they estimate a structural VAR model. They find that unexpected oil price increases lead to an improvement in the current account balance in the first 6 quarters after the shock, after which it declines. Their variance decomposition analysis reveals that oil price shocks account for 15.77% of the variation in the current account balance. The authors argue that the absence of a "one-for-one" relationship could be the result of an exchange rate appreciation offsetting the oil price effect through the non-oil trade balance, although they do not explicitly model this. Huntington (2015) finds that oil trade surpluses lead to an improvement in the current account balances of oil exporters, but oil trade deficits do not affect those of oil importers.

It is evident that no study has examined the effects of oil prices on the trade balances of SSA countries. The result that oil prices should deteriorate the overall trade balance for oil importers and improve it for exporters is based on some assumptions that may be weak for these countries. First, Bodenstein et al. (2011) show that having access to international funds is important for ensuring consumption smoothing when the oil price

rises: the less financially integrated an economy, the more its nonoil balance will adjust and the less its overall balance will be affected by oil prices. In line with this, Kilian et al. (2007) find that the nonoil balances of some oil importers in Latin America respond more to oil price increases than those in Emerging Asia, leading to a relatively muted response of the overall trade balance for Latin America. The authors argue that this may reflect Latin America's relatively limited access to international capital markets which discourages borrowing to smooth consumption in response to oil shocks. As shown in Figure 2.7, even among developing countries, SSA is not well integrated in international financial markets. It has been shown that this low integration level limits consumption smoothing opportunities for SSA countries (Ahmed and Suardi, 2009). Second, as shown in Figure 2.6, SSA oil importers are exporters of primary commodities whose prices often move in line with oil prices, which means that periods of oil price increases are sometimes associated with higher import expenditure and higher export receipts. Third, due to the poor state of oil refineries, SSA oil exporters import refined petroleum products, meaning that periods of oil price increases bring both rising oil revenues and import costs. Together, these factors imply a dampened overall trade balance response for these countries. Empirically, Le and Chang (2013) find that oil prices have negligible effects on the trade balance of Singapore because it imports crude oil, refines it, and exports the final product. As the authors argue, for this type of economy, the negative effects on imports may cancel out the positive effects of oil price increases on exports. Similarly, Kuboniwa (2014) finds that the terms of trade for Indonesia, an oil exporter, deteriorates with an oil price increase. He argues that this is because Indonesia began to import oil in 2004 due to dwindling oil reserves. Again, this is much like the case of SSA oil exporters who also import oil²⁰.

This chapter contributes to the literature by examining the effects of oil prices for SSA countries while explicitly modelling the role of real exchange rate adjustments in influencing these effects. Unlike Chen and Hsu (2012) and Shiu-Sheng and Kai-Wei (2013), this chapter does not assume homogenous impacts of oil prices for all trading partners. Rather, the disaggregated bilateral effects which may differ across trading partners are estimated. This chapter also improves on the few studies that use panel data

²⁰ Another factor that can lead to a low response of the overall balance is a high price elasticity of demand for oil. In Appendix D, we estimate long and short run price elasticities of demand for oil for our sample countries. We find that these are quite low, close to zero for both oil importers and exporters. It is therefore not likely that a low oil trade balance response to oil prices is responsible for their muted overall trade balance response. This also points to a large nonoil balance component for these countries.

methods in examining the effects of oil prices on the trade by accounting for potential cross section dependence.

4.2.2. Exchange rates and the trade balance:

The main theoretical model which sets out the conditions that determine the impact of an exchange rate change on the trade balance is the widely known Marshall-Lerner condition. It states that if the sum of the price elasticities of demand for imports and exports is greater than unity, then the immediate effect of a depreciation would be positive. In other words, if import and export volumes are highly responsive to price changes, a depreciation would have a positive short-run effect. However, if this condition is not met, the effect of a depreciation may follow a 'J-curve'. Under this view, a depreciation of a country's currency has a positive long-run effect on the trade balance through encouraging exports and discouraging imports, but the effect is negative in the short-run. The initial negative effect occurs if the depreciation quickly increases the money spent on imports, while export and import volumes are slow to adjust to the exchange rate change (Rose and Yellen, 1989). In this case, the cost effect of the depreciation initially outweighs the quantity effects. After some time, the quantities of traded goods adjust to the change in the exchange rate, and the effect of the depreciation becomes positive.²¹

A related issue is the degree of substitutability of domestic and foreign goods over time (Reinhart, 1995). If this is high, then changes in relative prices will lead to a larger change in quantities of goods traded. For African countries, imports generally have no close domestically produced substitutes due to low manufacturing activity, making the price elasticity of import demand typically low. On the other hand, Alessandra et. al. (2010) find that in emerging and developing economies, short run import elasticities are high, usually because higher fixed costs per trade transaction (for instance high bureaucratic costs) encourage importing firms to build up inventories such that, in the event of a depreciation, existing inventories are run down before further purchases are made at the new higher price. On the export side, commodity exporters face a relatively price inelastic export supply curve, at least in the short run, because expanding the production of natural resources is subject to capacity and technological constraints, menu costs etc. In addition, their primary commodity exports usually have a global US

²¹ However, Magee (1973) showed that the short run effect of an exchange rate change on the trade balance is at best ambiguous. In his analysis, the J-curve is only one out of a number of possible outcomes namely: the I,L,M,N,V,W curves and their inversions, at the minimum.

dollar oil price, such that a depreciation of any one country's exchange rate is unlikely to influence the foreign currency export price. This implies a low elasticity of foreign demand to relative price changes (Hakura and Billmeier, 2008).

From the empirical perspective, few studies using both aggregate and bilateral data have found evidence in support of a J-curve for developing countries²². Kodongo and Ojah (2013) examine the relationship between the real exchange rate, the aggregate trade balance and capital flows of major African countries. They used annual data from 1993-2009 to estimate a panel VAR. Using the US dollar as a proxy for world foreign currency, they find causality running from changes in the real exchange rates of African countries to the trade balances of these countries, with a one year lag. A 1% depreciation was found to improve trade balance by 0.029%-0.032% units.

Bahmani-Oskooee and Gelan (2012) test the presence of a J-curve in African countries. They use quarterly aggregate data from 1972Q1 to 2008Q4 for 9 African countries, and model the trade balance as a function of domestic and foreign incomes as well as real exchange rates. Using an error correction model, they find no support for the J-curve effect in any country in their sample, and the long-run effects of a depreciation were favourable only in Nigeria, South Africa, and Egypt. For other countries, both long-run and short run coefficients were predominantly insignificant, indicating the absence of a relationship between real exchange rates and trade balances. The authors argue that this may reflect the low degree of responsiveness of trade volumes to exchange rates.

Rose (1990) also examines the impact of changes in the real exchange rate on the aggregate trade balance of 30 developing countries including African countries. The paper finds no significant effects of exchange rate changes on the trade balance. In a similar study, Rawlins and Praveen (1993) find that a devaluation leads to an improvement of the aggregate trade balance for a sample of 19 African countries. Amzath et al. (2010) conduct a similar study for Côte d'Ivoire. They estimate the effects of real exchange rate changes on the country's aggregate trade balance using error correction models and testing for granger causality. They find that the real exchange rate granger-causes the trade balance in Côte d'Ivoire. They find evidence of a J-curve, as a real depreciation was found to worsen the trade balance initially and improve it after one lag.

²² McKenzie (1999) and Bahmani Oskooee and Hegerty (2007) provide an extensive review of this literature.

Allen (2006) examines the effects of exchange rate changes on the trade balance for a sample of 46 emerging market economies including oil and nonoil commodity exporters over the 1980-2005 period. He finds a positive relationship between exchange rate depreciations and the trade balance. However, he finds that the initial trade position of countries plays an important role in determining the impact of exchange rates: the higher a country's initial trade surplus, the less is the sensitivity of its trade balance to exchange rate changes. Thus, the higher the surplus, the less likely is a depreciation to further improve the trade balance and the less likely is an appreciation to deteriorate it. On the other hand, the larger the initial deficit, the more likely is a depreciation to improve the deficit and an appreciation to reduce it. He thus finds that a deteriorating trade balance is more likely to be governed by the ML condition.

Bleaney and Tian (2014) examine the effects of exchange rates on the trade balance of 87 countries from 1994-2010 using a fixed effects model. They find that depreciations improve the trade balance. For developing countries, most of the trade balance adjustment is found to come from the import side. Their analysis excludes oil exporters.

A study that examines the effects of exchange rates depending on the status of a country as an oil exporter or oil importer is that of Hakura and Billmeier (2008). Using annual data from 1990-2006 on a combination of 27 oil exporting and oil importing emerging Asian economies, they find that the elasticities of export and import volumes to exchange rates are lower for their oil exporting sub-sample. They argue that this is because oil exporters are price takers, such that a change in any one country's currency is unlikely to affect the price of oil and its demand. Oil exporters can however increase supply when there is a depreciation, but this is subject to capacity constraints and OPEC restrictions where applicable. Given that their elasticity of demand for imports is also typically low (due to unavailability of locally produced substitutes), the net effect on the trade balance is muted for oil exporters. For oil importers, it is found that a depreciation is typically associated with a trade balance improvement.

The studies above may be subject to an aggregation bias. Marquez (1990) finds that bilateral price elasticities of demand for imports and exports are generally in line with those implied by aggregate models, but aggregation conceals heterogeneous information which is potentially useful for policy design. Studies utilising bilateral data include Yol and Baharumshah (2007). They study the effects of exchange rate changes on bilateral trade balances of 10 SSA countries vis-à-vis the US. They find that a depreciation has

positive effects on the trade balance of 6 countries, negative for one (Tanzania) and no effect on three. Unlike the present study, they do not examine the effects on the bilateral trade balances with other major trading partners apart from the US.

Dash (2013) investigate the existence of a J-curve for India's bilateral trade balance with four of its major trading partners. They find evidence of J-curve in India's trade balance with Japan and Germany, but not with the United Kingdom and United States. In a similar study, Wilson (2001) examine the effects of exchange rate changes on bilateral trade balance of three Asian economies vis-à-vis the US and Japan. They find no significant effect of exchange rate depreciations on the trade balances, and no evidence of a J-curve for any country in their sample.

Onafowora (2003) examines the effects of a depreciation on bilateral trade balances of Malaysia, Indonesia and Thailand vis-à-vis the US and Japan. Using quarterly data and VECM techniques, they find that the Marshall-Lerner condition holds in the long run, while short run impulse response functions show varying degrees of J- curve effects. In another study, Bahmani-Oskooee and Harvey (2010) study the effects of an exchange rate depreciation on Malaysia's bilateral trade balances with 14 of its trading partners. Evidence from their co-integration and error correction models provide support in favour of a J-curve.

Overall, no consistent relationship has been found in the effects of real exchange rate changes on the trade balances of SSA and other developing countries. The role of exchange rates in influencing the effects of oil prices depend on whether real exchange rate movements have the expected impact on trade flows i.e. if the price elasticity of demand for traded goods is sufficiently high. It is thus interesting to test whether exchange rate adjustments succeed in influencing the effects of oil prices on the trade balance, and whether their role is that predicted by theory. If it is, exchange rate management can potentially be used as a policy tool to limit exposure to oil prices.

4.2.3. The oil price-exchange rate nexus:

The literature on the relationship between oil prices and exchange rates is vast. Many studies have shown that oil-exporting countries' currencies appreciate against the US dollar when the oil price increases, giving rise to the coined term 'oil currencies' (Dauvin, 2014). On the other hand, the currencies of oil importers are found to depreciate. Theoretically, the real exchange rate can be affected by oil prices through

the terms of trade. The terms of trade is affected through a spending effect and a resource shift effect (Korhonen and Juurikkala, 2009).

The spending effect implies that when the price of a dominant export good increases (in this case oil), there is a transfer of wealth from oil importing countries to oil exporting ones. This leads to higher profits and wages in the energy sector, and increases aggregate demand. This higher demand is directed at least in part to the domestic market. Public expenditure may also increase with increased oil revenue (Korhonen and Juurikkala, 2009). As a result, domestic prices increase relative to the prices of importables (which are determined in international markets). The terms of trade thus improve, and the real exchange rate appreciates. In the same way, there is a corresponding terms of trade deterioration for the oil importer, and a consequent real depreciation of its currency.

The resource shift effect implies that when the oil price increases, there is an increase in the demand for labour and capital by the energy sector of oil exporting countries, which will offer higher returns to these factors of production. Resources shift away from other sectors, reducing the supply of goods from these sectors and increasing the prices of their products. There is thus an increase in prices of domestic relative to foreign goods, a terms of trade improvement and a corresponding real exchange rate appreciation. The reverse is the case for an oil importer whose currency would depreciate.

Various empirical studies have confirmed causality running from oil prices to real exchange rates. Korhonen and Juurikkala (2009) examine the oil price-exchange rate nexus for OPEC countries using data from 1975-2005. They find that for all the countries (including Nigeria and Angola), oil price increases lead to a significant appreciation of the real exchange rate, with an elasticity of 0.4-0.5. Jahan-Parvar and Mohammadi (2011) reach similar conclusions for their sample of 14 oil-exporting countries, in which 5 countries' currencies (including Nigeria and Angola) appreciated with oil price increases. In another study, Mohammadi and Jahan-Parvar (2012) examine the relationship between oil prices and exchange rates of 13 oil-exporting countries. They find a stable relationship between the two variables in the long run, but higher oil prices only led to an exchange rate appreciation for 3 countries in the short run. Dauvin (2014) finds that for energy producing countries, a 10% increase in energy prices leads to a 2.8% appreciation of their currencies. Chaudhuri and Mollick (2010), Amano and Van Norden (1998), Chen and Chen (2007), Lizardo and Mollick (2010),

Reboredo et al. (2014) among others show a stable relationship between oil prices and exchange rates.

Bodenstein et al. (2011)'s model also shows that the real exchange rates of oil importing countries depreciate against those of oil exporters when the oil price increases. An important implication of the model is that these exchange rate adjustments, through the non-oil trade balance, offset the effects on the oil trade balance and hence the overall trade balance. It is this implication of the model that this chapter attempts to test.

Overall, the empirical literature on the oil price-trade balance relationship does not model the role of exchange rates in influencing this relationship. This is despite the strong links between oil prices and exchange rates, and the ambiguous effects of real exchange rates on the trade balance. Although this chapter does not model exchange rate changes as the outcome of oil price changes, it examines how the effect of oil prices on the trade balance are influenced by observed changes in the real exchange rate. By so doing, this chapter in part addresses the gap in the literature.

4.3. Data and Methodology:

4.3.1. The Model:

The theoretical trade balance model adopted is the imperfect substitutes trade model expressed in bilateral terms as:

$$TB_{t,ij} = TB(Y_i^d, Y_i^f, RER_{t,ij})....(4.1)$$

Where $TB_{t,ij}$ is the bilateral trade balance of SSA country *i* with trading partner *j* at time *t*, $Y^d(Y^f)$ is the domestic (foreign) income proxied by domestic (foreign) GDP, and $RER_{t,ij}$ is the bilateral real exchange rate between SSA country *i* with trading partner *j* at time *t*. $RER_{t,ij}$ is calculated as:

Where NER is the nominal exchange rate expressed as domestic (SSA) currency per unit of foreign currency and CPI is the Consumer Price Index. An increase in the exchange rate thus means a depreciation.

The model in (4.1) is augmented with the real oil price (ROP) and the interaction term between the real exchange rate and the real oil price (RER*ROP). Note that the empirical model used in this chapter controls for both time invariant and time variant unobserved common factors through fixed effects and common correlated effects. It is therefore unnecessary to include control variables such as distance, common language, common borders, and other time invariant determinants of the underlying import and export equations. The effects of financial and currency crises as well as political unrests common to specific SSA countries are also accounted for by the model. All variables are transformed into their natural logarithmic forms and are in first differences. We allow for delayed responses of the trade balance to the variables by including a lag of one quarter. The contemporaneous real exchange rate is used with lagged oil prices so as to see the effect of exchange rate changes that occur after an oil price change. The empirical model estimated for each SSA country panel is thus;

$$dlnTB_{t,ij} = \alpha + \sigma_i dlnTB_{t-1,ij} + \beta_1 dlnY^d_{t-1,i} + \beta_2 dlnY^f_{t-1,j} + \beta_3 dlnRER_{t,ij}$$
$$+ \beta_4 dlnROP_{t-1,i} + \beta_5 \left\{ RER_{t,ij} * lnROP_{t-1,i} \right\} + \varepsilon_{t,i} \dots \dots \dots (4.3)$$

With regards to the expected signs of these variables, increases in domestic real income should increase imports, which will worsen the trade balance. In the same way, an increase in foreign income is expected to improve the trade balance through increasing the demand for exports. The effect of the real exchange rate would depend on whether the Marshall-Lerner condition is fulfilled. In line with Bodenstein et al. (2011), it is expected that

the interaction term between the oil price and a real depreciation will be positive if the Marshall Lerner condition is met, and negative otherwise.

4.3.2. The Method:

This chapter uses the Pesaran (2006)'s Common Correlated Effects Mean Group(CCEMG) estimators. The CCEMG estimators are employed to account for cross section dependence. The time-series panel data utilised in this study is subject to properties of non-stationarity, potential parameter heterogeneity across groups, and cross-section dependence. The latter has been a major concern recently in the macro panel data literature. Cross section dependence occurs when the variables or residuals across the panel members (countries) are correlated due to common shocks such as recessions, oil price shocks, spill-over effects, etc. (Pesaran, 2006). These factors are unobserved, common to all countries, and may have heterogeneous impacts on the panel members (Eberhardt, 2011). The most widely used panel data methods such as the Fixed Effects, Random Effects, Mean Group, Pooled Mean Group, and some classes of GMM estimators all assume cross section independence. However, this assumption is usually not valid and leads to imprecise estimates or even identification problems if CSD is ignored (Eberhardt, 2011). CSD is typically accounted for using either spatial estimators that assume knowledge of the unobserved common factors; or common factor models that do not. Since the observed common factors are not known, this study utilises the latter approach by using Pesaran (2006)'s Common Correlated Effects (CCE) estimator.

The Mean Group (MG) estimator of Pesaran and Smith (1995) is ideal for this analysis because it allows the precise estimation of the bilateral effects in which this study is interested²³. The MG model is a panel Autoregressive Distributed Lag (ARDL) model

²³ An alternative estimator is CSD robust Pesaran (1999) Pooled Mean Group estimator which is more efficient than the MG estimator if a homogeneity assumption holds for the long run coefficients. Hausman tests between the PMG and MG showed that for most countries, the MG

reparametrized into an error correction equation, where both short and long run coefficients are estimated. It is based on the estimation of a time series regression for each panel member by maximum likelihood, and then averaging across groups. Pesaran (2006) showed that cross section dependence would be addressed by the augmentation of the Mean Group estimator with cross sectional averages of the dependent and independent variables, and these represent the common factors. This augmentation is powerful in eliminating the effects of the common factors asymptotically as the number of panel members increases i.e. as $N \rightarrow \infty$ (Pesaran, 2006). In this chapter, the short run and long run models are augmented with the cross section averages of the dependent and independent variables. Cross section averages of the real oil price, the interaction term, and domestic GDP are not included. This is because the real oil price and domestic GDP measures are common across trading partners for each SSA country, and the interaction term contains the real oil price. Including their averages will lead to a collinearity problem. To set up the CCE estimator, consider the panel data model;

$$y_{it} = \alpha'_i d_t + \beta'_i x_{it} + e_{it}.....(4.4)$$

Where y_{it} is the observation of the dependent variable on the ith country at time t, d_t is the vector of observed common effects including intercepts, x_{it} is a vector of regressors, and e_{it} is a vector of individual specific errors which have the following structure;

$$e_{it} = \gamma'_i f_t + \varepsilon_{it}.....(4.5)$$

Where f_t is the vector of unobserved common factors and ε_{it} is the vector of errors assumed to be i.i.d of both the observed factors d_t and the regressors x_{it} . However, the unobserved factors f_t which are components of e_{it} are allowed to be correlated with d_t and x_{it} , so that endogeniety is accommodated. Unit roots can also be allowed in d_t or f_t which in turn introduces unit roots in in x_{it} and y_{it} . The number of observed factors and regressors are assumed to be known but the number of unobserved factors are not. Errors are also allowed to be serially correlated and heteroskedastic. Under this framework, Pesaran (2006) shows that the individual slope coefficients of interest β_i as well as their means β can be consistently estimated by augmenting the regression with cross sectional averages of y_{it} and x_{it} given by;

model is preferred and for other countries, the test did not converge. The MG is thus used for all the countries since it is consistent even in cases where the PMG may be preferred.

Where Z_{it} consists of y_{it} and x_{it} , and W_i are the weights used in the construction of the averages. These weights do not matter for the asymptotic properties of the estimator, so equal weights are applied in this study. The individual specific estimates of the slope coefficients, $\widehat{b_{iMG}}$ in the context of this study, represent bilateral estimates for each SSA country vis-à-vis each trading partner, such that the estimates differ across trading partners for each SSA country. The averages of the individual specific slope coefficients, the $\widehat{b_{MG}}$, which are directly comparable to other standard panel data aggregate methods, are also reported.

An alternative method to account for cross-sectional dependence is to use the Driscoll and Kraay (1998) CSD robust standard errors in the context of a Fixed-Effects estimation. The standard errors are well calibrated in the presence of CSD, and have desirable small sample properties. Here also, the errors are assumed to be heteroskedastic and serial correlation is accommodated. The standard errors are robust to very general forms of CSD and are based on large T asymptotics (Hoechle, 2007), particularly suited for the present study. We therefore check that our results are robust to using this model. Unlike the CCEMG model however, this model is non-dynamic and assumes homogenous slopes for each SSA country with its trading partners, so it is not possible to obtain the individual specific bilateral estimates i.e. \hat{b}_i . The estimates however are comparable to those of the averages from the CCEMG model i.e. the \hat{b}_{MG} .

4.3.3. Data:

This study uses quarterly data from 1990Q1 to 2011Q4²⁴ for 8 SSA countries and 11 bilateral trading partners. The SSA countries considered are Angola, Cameroon, Ethiopia, Ghana, Kenya, Nigeria, South Africa and Tanzania. As shown in Figure 4.1, these countries account for over 86% of SSA's total trade over the period. Nigeria and South Africa alone account for over 60% of the regions trade.

²⁴ Data for South Africa is available only from 1998.



Figure 4.1: proportion of total SSA trade represented by sample countries (84.6% of total SSA trade).

Source: Author's Calculations using data from International Monetary Funds' Direction of Trade Statistics. Notes: Trade represents the values of exports plus imports in current US dollars.

The major oil exporters in the sample are Nigeria and Angola, the two largest oil producers in Africa. Cameroon and more recently, Ghana also produce and export crude oil in smaller quantities. However, during the sample period, Ghana was primarily a net oil importer as it began to export oil in 2011. These SSA oil exporters import refined petroleum products. Data from the United Nations Conference on Trade and Development (UNCTAD) shows that over the period, Angola, Cameroon and Nigeria have imported up to 3%, 76%, and 10% the value of oil they have exported, respectively.²⁵ Also within the same period, oil has accounted for up to 5.5%, 27%, and 14% of their total imports respectively. Despite declining oil production in recent years, Cameroon's oil trade balance with the trading partners considered has been in surplus during most of the sample period, so that it can be considered a net oil exporter relative to the partner countries.

The trading partners chosen are Canada, China, France, India, Italy, Germany, Japan, Netherlands, Spain, United Kingdom and United States²⁶. Together, these countries account for over 62% of SSA's trade as shown in Figure 4.2. The oil exporters among the trading partners are Canada, Netherlands and to a lesser extent the UK. Figure 4.3 shows the average percentage of total trade accounted for by the trading partners for

²⁵ This data is of annual frequency and is available from the UNCTADstats database as well as from the author upon request.

²⁶ Brazil is an important trading partner for SSA countries but it is excluded from the analysis due to the poor availability of its bilateral trade data.

each SSA country in the sample. The highest is 70% for Angola, the lowest 45% for Kenya.



Figure 4.2: Proportion of SSA trade accounted for by chosen trading partners, 1991-2011 (62% of total trade).

Source: Author's Calculations using data from International Monetary Funds' Direction of Trade Statistics. Notes: Trade represents the values of exports plus imports in current US dollars.



Figure 4.3: Percentage of total trade accounted for by chosen trading partners, period average.

Source: Author's Calculations using data from International Monetary Funds' Direction of Trade Statistics. Notes: Trade represents the values of exports plus imports in current US dollars.

The SSA oil importers considered export gold, beverages, other food items and agricultural commodities (UN, 2013). For instance, Ethiopia's main exports are coffee,

oil seeds and gold. Ghana's main exports are gold and cocoa beans, while Kenya exports tea, coffee and cut flowers. South Africa exports platinum, iron and gold while Tanzania exports gold and other precious metals (UN, 2013). Using commodity price data from the International Monetary Fund's International Financial Statistics (IMF IFS) and the World Bank, Figure 4.4 plots the oil, non-oil and precious metals commodity price indices. The positive relationship between these indices is striking. The calculated correlation coefficient between the oil price index and the non-oil and precious metals price indices are 0.93 and 0.89 respectively.



Figure 4.4: Oil and Non-oil Price Indices

Source: Commodity price indices data from the World Bank and International Monetary Fund's International Financial Statistics (IMF IFS).

Notes: Non-oil price index consists of prices of Food, Beverages, Agricultural raw materials and Industrial Metals. The oil price index is derived from a simple average of Texas Intermediate, Brent and Dubai spot prices. The Precious metals index consists of prices of Gold, Silver and Platinum.

African countries have experienced different types of exchange rate arrangements. Following the colonial era, the former British colonies generally adopted flexible exchange rate regimes while the French colonies, 14 of them, formed the CFA Franc zone, and have their currencies pegged to that of France- now the Euro. The CFAF countries consist of the Central African Economic and Monetary Community (CEMAC) and the West African Economic and Monetary Union (WAEMU). The economic community of West African states (ECOWAS) which consists of 15 member countries, 8 of which are CFAF counties, is also moving towards adopting a common currency. Similar initiatives can be found in the southern and eastern parts of the continent (Qureshi and Tsangarides, 2012). Cameroon is the only country in our sample that is a member of the CFAF zone, but the nominal currency peg does not matter since our interest is in the real exchange rate.

The data used in this study are obtained from the International Monetary Fund's International Financial statistics and Direction of Trade Statistics databases (IMF IFS and IMF DOTS). Real oil prices are the domestic real oil prices for SSA countries using their nominal exchange rates and Consumer Price Indices (CPI) thus:

$$ROP_{t,i} = NOP_i \times \left(\frac{NER_{t,US}}{CPI_{t,i}}\right).$$
 (4.7)

Where *NOP* is the 3 spot US dollar oil price, *ROP* is the real oil price, CPI is the consumer price index, and *NER* is the nominal US dollar exchange rate.

Foreign and domestic GDP data are obtained as annual series in constant 2005 US dollars from the World Bank's World Development Indicators (WDI) database. The annual series are then interpolated into quarterly series using the method of Boot et al. (1967). This is because quarterly GDP data are not available for most countries²⁷. The bilateral overall trade balance is used because of the poor availability of bilateral oil and nonoil trade data. However, the response of the overall trade balance is sufficient to show the influence of the real exchange rate, and also allows us to infer the relative impacts of oil prices on both components of the trade balance. Meaningful interpretation is also facilitated by the bilateral nature of the data which makes it easier to infer whether a country is a net importer or exporter of oil relative to a particular trading partner²⁸. The trade balance (TB) is measured as the natural logarithm of the ratio of bilateral exports to bilateral imports thus;

As discussed in the previous chapter, measuring the trade balance in this way has the advantage that the TB measure is insensitive to the unit of measurement (i.e. whether domestic or foreign currency), and to whether the trade balance is in nominal or real terms (Bahmani-Oskooee, 1991). It also allows the use the logarithm of the trade

²⁷ An alternative would be to use the Index of Industrial Production (IIP) as a proxy for GDP. While this data is available for most of the partner countries, it is available only for few SSA countries and even then, is characterised by a lot of missing values.

²⁸ The UNCTADstat database provides oil and nonoil bilateral trade data, but it could not be used for this study because there are too many missing values especially for oil importers. However, where the values are available, it is used as a guide for understanding the general pattern of oil trade between the trading partners.

balance because the latter is non-negative, so the regression coefficients can be interpreted as elasticities. The trade balance is in deficit when TB is less than unity, and in surplus when it is above it.

Appendix B shows the bilateral trade balance for each SSA country with the trading partners considered. It can be seen that Angola's trade balance is generally in deficit with all trading partners except the US. Trade surpluses have occurred towards the end of the sample period, for instance with China, India, Italy and Netherlands. The large deficits with Canada and Netherlands throughout the sample period indicate that Angola imports more from these oil exporters than it exports. Cameroon's trade balance has been in deficit with most countries over the sample period despite its oil exporter status, highlighting the presence of a large nonoil balance component. Ethiopia's trade balance has also been in deficit with all trading partners throughout the sample period with the exception of Canada, where there is a surplus for a few quarters, despite Canada's oil exporter status. Although Ghana's trade balance has also been in deficit with most trading partners, it has fared relatively better than the other SSA countries. Its deficits are larger with Canada and China. In contrast with the other countries, Kenya has maintained a surplus with Canada and Spain, and, to a lesser extent, Netherlands, especially at the beginning of the sample period. The relative surpluses with oil exporting Canada and Netherlands indicate that Kenya might be the recipient of recycled oil revenues. Kenya's trade balances with the other trading partners have been in deficit throughout the sample period. In general, Nigeria has had surpluses with Canada, Spain and the US. Its largest deficits are with China, Japan, India and to a lesser extent, the UK. Thus, Nigeria is the only oil exporter in the sample that has a relative surplus in its trade with Canada, another oil exporter. South Africa's trade balance tends to be in a surplus towards the end of the sample period, possibly reflecting increased trade integration following the lifting of its sanctions. South Africa has maintained surpluses with Spain (save a deficit in 2009) and Netherlands, despite the latter's oil exporter status. Notable surpluses have occurred for South Africa in 2010 for the UK, India, Italy, Netherlands and China. Finally, it can be seen that Tanzania's trade balance tends to be in deficit except for a few periods of surpluses for Canada, France and Spain. These descriptive graphs show that the oil exporters tend to have trade deficits with fellow oil exporting trading partners. Even more surprising is that where oil importing SSA countries have a surplus, it is usually with Canada and

Netherlands, two oil exporting countries. Descriptive statistics of other variables, by SSA country, are shown in Appendix C.

4.4. Results:

4.4.1. Tests for Cross Section Dependence

Table 4.1 shows the results from tests for error cross section dependence for each SSA country. A mean group estimator is applied for each country, and the residuals are tested for CSD using the Pesaran (2004) CSD test. It is shown that null hypothesis of cross section independence is rejected at 1% level of significance for all countries, making it necessary to account for CSD.

Table 4.1: Test for Cross-Sectional Dependence (CSD)											
Country	CSD Statistic	P-value	Average Correlation coefficient								
Angola	13.98***	0.000	0.20								
Cameroon	5.95***	0.009	0.08								
Ethiopia	18.8***	0.000	0.29								
Ghana	11.63***	0.001	0.17								
Kenya	42.78***	0.000	0.63								
Nigeria	30.79***	0.000	0.45								
South Africa	6.89***	0.000	0.13								
Tanzania	34.36***	0.000	0.50								

* p < 0.1, ** p < 0.05, *** p < 0.01 The null hypothesis is cross-section independence.

4.4.2. Long run heterogeneous impacts of oil prices and exchange rates on the trade balance

Tables 4.2-4.9 show the long-run individual-specific bilateral estimates for each SSA country i.e. the $\widehat{b_{l_i}}$. The following discussion shows the impact of real oil prices, the real exchange rate and their interaction on the trade balance of oil exporters and importers respectively. The average short and long run CCEMG estimates, as well as the CSD robust Fixed Effects estimates, are presented in a later section.

4.4.2.1. Oil exporters (Angola, Cameroon and Nigeria)

Table 4.2 shows the bilateral trade balance equation for Angola. As expected, an oil price increase improves Angola's trade balance with Canada, India, Netherlands and the US by 25.5%, 6.1%, 7.9% and 1.4% respectively. The effect is however negative for China and the UK, deteriorating the trade balance by 6% and 3.6% respectively. The effect of the exchange rate is negative for Canada and Netherlands, meaning that a real depreciation (appreciation) deteriorates (improves) the trade balance by 22.5% and

4.8% respectively. This indicates that the Marshall-Lerner condition is not met, and price elasticities of traded goods are not sufficiently high. The effect of the exchange rate is positive for the UK, where a real depreciation (appreciation) improves (deteriorates) the trade balance by 4.4%. Consistent with these results, the coefficients on the interaction terms show that a higher real depreciation (appreciation) dampens (increases) the positive effects of oil prices on Angola's trade balance with Canada, India and Netherlands by 3.9%, 15.5% 1.2% respectively. In the same way, a higher real depreciation (appreciation) dampens (increases) the negative effects of oil prices on the negative effects of oil prices on the exchange with China and the UK by 2.6% and 1% respectively. The oil price and exchange rate have no significant effect for other trading partners.

Table 4.3 shows that for Cameroon a real oil price increase improves the trade balance with Canada by 13.4% and Italy by 0.8%, but deteriorates it for Spain by 1% and the US by 6%. The effect of the exchange rate is negative for Canada, which means a real depreciation (appreciation) deteriorates (improves) the trade balance by 19.6%. On the other hand, the effect is positive for Germany and India, improving the trade balance by 1% and 6.5% respectively. The coefficients on the interaction terms show that a higher real depreciation (appreciation) dampens (increases) the positive effects of oil prices on Cameroon's trade balance with Canada by 1.4% and the US by 0.8%. Thus, as was the case with Angola, negative oil price effects are associated with the fulfilment of the ML condition, while positive oil price effects are not. The oil price and exchange rates are insignificant for other trading partners.

Table 4.4 presents the bilateral estimates for Nigeria. An oil price increase improves Nigeria's trade balance with the US by 5.6%, but deteriorates it with Japan by 2.8%. On the other hand, a real depreciation deteriorates the US trade balance by 6.4% and improves the trade balance with Japan by 6.5%. Consequently, a real depreciation (appreciation) dampens (increases) the negative oil price effect for Japan by 5.1% and the positive oil price effects for the US by 1.1%. This shows that, similar to Angola and Cameroon, exchange rate depreciations tend to dampen oil price movements in both directions, whereas exchange rate appreciations exacerbate them. The oil price has no significant effect on the trade balance with other trading partners.

Table 4.2. Long run heterogeneous Common Correlated Effects Mean Group estimation of bilateral trade balance equation for Angola, 1990-2011

	Canada	China	France	Germany	India	Italy	Japan	Netherlands	Spain	UK	US
Domestic	20.7^{***}	-2.15	-2.956**	4.481^{*}	15.52^{***}	-2.592	-3.347	5.089**	-4.653**	.3401	0459
GDP	(4.03)	(-0.56)	(-2.38)	(1.83)	(2.71)	(-1.01)	(-0.69)	(2.02)	(-2.17)	(0.20)	(-0.11)
Foreign	-63.94***	4.422	16.41^{*}	-20.11	.7479	-29.95	-5.631	7.939	2.322	-3.008	43
GDP	(-4.45)	(1.38)	(1.90)	(-1.54)	(0.09)	(-1.13)	(-0.11)	(1.02)	(0.23)	(-0.95)	(-0.50)
RER	-22.51**	7.395	.2244	.8795	-5.483	1.111	-1.084	-4.832*	.7049	4.42^{*}	-1.236
	(-2.00)	(1.64)	(0.30)	(0.35)	(-0.83)	(1.47)	(-0.29)	(-1.94)	(1.21)	(1.88)	(-1.39)
Real oil	25.46^{***}	-6.094*	8011	1.687	5.989**	4115	4581	7.87^{***}	2076	-3.556*	1.359^{*}
price	(2.72)	(-1.65)	(-0.84)	(0.62)	(1.97)	(-0.25)	(-0.13)	(2.82)	(-0.20)	(-1.82)	(1.74)
RER*ROP	-3.901**	2.598^*	.2995	8256	-15.48***	1.142^{*}	2.296	-1.196**	.4504	.9196**	2563
	(-1.97)	(1.75)	(1.17)	(-1.45)	(-3.03)	(1.95)	(0.64)	(-1.98)	(1.33)	(2.38)	(-1.43)
Ν	786										

t statistics in parentheses, **p* < 0.1, ***p* < 0.05, ****p* < 0.01 **Table 4.3. Long run heterogeneous Common Correlated Effects Mean Group estimation of bilateral trade balance equation for Cameroon, 1990-2011**

	-	-					-			-	
	Canada	China	France	Germany	India	Italy	Japan	Netherlands	Spain	UK	US
Domestic	-1.456	-5.532	-2.279	-1.067	0628	-3.634**	-10.78***	-2.189	-7.296***	-8.616*	6894
GDP	(-0.13)	(-1.54)	(-1.64)	(-0.86)	(-0.02)	(-2.54)	(-2.73)	(-1.57)	(-4.43)	(-1.83)	(-0.20)
Foreign	4278	.3324	.1087	5311	.4138	3.791	43.71**	1.914	10.15^{***}	15.71^{***}	6.557
GDP	(-0.03)	(0.28)	(0.03)	(-0.14)	(0.20)	(0.89)	(2.54)	(0.79)	(4.81)	(2.72)	(1.48)
RER	-19.64**	.432	.0077	1.104^{*}	6.463^{***}	0113	1504	7859^{*}	.08	2.747	2.689
	(-2.11)	(0.22)	(0.03)	(1.78)	(3.25)	(-0.14)	(-0.06)	(-1.72)	(0.53)	(0.74)	(0.82)
Real oil	13.37^{**}	.9996	0672	-1.037	2259	$.8378^{**}$	-2.014	.4149	-1.126*	-3.665	-5.9**
price	(2.31)	(0.56)	(-0.13)	(-1.45)	(-0.21)	(2.03)	(-0.73)	(0.77)	(-1.94)	(-1.60)	(-2.07)
RER*ROP	-1.387**	.127	.0555	$.1704^{*}$	2574	0381	.4606	.032	.0981	.4414	.821*
	(-2.03)	(0.28)	(0.68)	(1.82)	(-0.64)	(-0.64)	(0.33)	(0.42)	(1.01)	(1.33)	(1.87)
Ν	905										

t statistics in parentheses, ${}^{*}p < 0.1$, ${}^{**}p < 0.05$, ${}^{***}p < 0.01$

Table 4.4. Long run heterogeneous Common Correlated Effects Mean Group estimation of bilateral trade balance equation for Nigeria, 1990-2011

	Canada	China	France	Germany	India	Italy	Japan	Netherlands	Spain	UK	US
Domestic	-3.193	6072	-2.145*	1.014	-11.55**	6609	-2.041	-1.646**	.9371	4.438***	-1.142
GDP	(-1.34)	(-0.14)	(-1.66)	(1.11)	(-1.97)	(-0.95)	(-1.15)	(-2.13)	(0.88)	(3.33)	(-1.45)
Foreign	1.758	2.146	-1.06	-6.416*	8.994**	10.45^{***}	67.22^{***}	8527	-3.16	-10.46***	2.037^{*}
GDP	(0.37)	(0.96)	(-0.13)	(-1.77)	(2.21)	(2.72)	(5.56)	(-0.47)	(-1.00)	(-5.63)	(1.88)
RER	1.564	5.769	1.122	6696	-2.07	131	6.481^{***}	9142	.1301	7373	-6.431***
	(0.38)	(1.16)	(1.01)	(-0.56)	(-0.46)	(-0.88)	(2.94)	(-1.06)	(0.55)	(-0.37)	(-3.26)
Real oil	-1.207	-3.405	-1.132	.6284	1.766	.106	-2.839***	1.117	.2075	6883	5.55^{***}
price	(-0.34)	(-0.99)	(-0.91)	(0.55)	(0.65)	(0.40)	(-2.62)	(1.32)	(0.58)	(-0.41)	(3.36)
RER*ROP	.44	1.207	.4272	.1679	.0387	0853	5.084^{**}	.0545	.1195	.2686	-1.114***
	(0.66)	(0.89)	(1.32)	(0.72)	(0.02)	(-0.77)	(2.46)	(0.30)	(0.91)	(0.94)	(-3.10)
Ν	942										
t statistics in pare	ntheses n < (11^{**} n < 0.0	5^{***} n < 0.01								

t statistics in parentheses, p < 0.1, *** p < 0.05, **** p < 0.01

4.4.2.2. Oil importers (Ethiopia, Ghana, Kenya, South Africa and Tanzania)

Table 4.5 shows that an oil price increase improves Ethiopia's trade balance with France by 1.1% and India by 6.8%. In both cases, a real depreciation (appreciation) deteriorates (improves) the trade balances by 0.9% and 5.3% respectively. A real depreciation also deteriorates the trade balance with Italy by 0.2% but improves it for China by 5.8%. In contrast with previous results, the coefficient on the interaction term shows that a higher real depreciation (appreciation) increases (dampens) the positive effect of an oil price increase on Ethiopia's trade balance with India by 3.5%. The exchange rate does not influence the oil price effect for France. The oil price has no significant impact on the trade balance with other trading partners. The results show that despite Ethiopia's oil importer status, the oil price effect, where significant, is positive. This suggests that, in line with Bodenstein et. al. (2011), Ethiopia's nonoil balance is highly responsive to oil prices, and its improvement dominates any deterioration in its oil trade balance.

For Ghana, Table 4.6 shows that an oil price increase deteriorates the trade balance with Italy by 0.8%, but improves it for Spain by 1.3% and the UK by 0.8%. A real depreciation has no effect for Italy and Spain, but deteriorates the trade balance with the UK by 2.8% and improves it with the US by 3.1%. The interaction term is only significant for the UK, where a real depreciation (appreciation) dampens (increases) the positive effects of oil prices by 3.4%, in line with previous results. As with Ethiopia, Ghana tends to be positively affected by oil prices, again pointing to large nonoil trade adjustments. The oil price and exchange rates have no significant impacts for other trading partners.

Table 4.7 presents the results for Kenya. An oil price increase deteriorates Kenya's trade balance with Netherlands by 0.9%, but improves it with China by 3.4% and the US by 3.3%. A real depreciation improves the trade balance with Netherlands by 0.85%, has no effect for China, and deteriorates the trade balance with the US by 4.2%. It also improves the trade balance with Japan by 1.1% and deteriorates it with Italy by 0.3%. Consistent with previous results, a higher real depreciation (appreciation) is found to dampen (increase) the effects of oil prices for China by 1.4%, and for Netherlands by 0.2%. The effects for other trading partners are not significant.

Table 4.8 shows that an oil price increase improves South Africa' trade balance with France by 1.4%. Here, a real depreciation deteriorates the trade balance by 0.7%, but does not influence the oil price effect. The positive oil price effects again point to a

large nonoil trade adjustment. The oil price has no impact for the other trading partners. A real depreciation (appreciation) improves (deteriorates) the trade balance with Germany by 0.6% and Spain by 0.7%, while deteriorating (improving) it for the UK by 0.5%.

For Tanzania, Table 4.9 shows that oil prices have no effect on the bilateral trade balance with any of its trading partners, and exchange rate changes do not influence this result.

In sum, the results show that oil price increases have heterogeneous effects on the bilateral trade balances of SSA countries. Where this effect is positive, it appears that the Marshall Lerner condition is unlikely to hold, such that real exchange rate depreciations reduce the positive oil price effect, while appreciations reinforce it. On the other hand, when the oil price effect is negative, the Marshall Lerner condition is fulfilled- depreciations reduce the negative oil price effect while appreciations reinforce it.

 Table 4.5. Long run heterogeneous Common Correlated Effects Mean Group estimation of bilateral trade balance equation for Ethiopia, 1990-2011

	Canada	China	France	Germany	India	Italy	Japan	Netherlands	Spain	UK	US
Domestic GDP	-3.78	-7.782	7009	4.343*	3.944	1.237^{**}	6.4	9.932	3.933	.0581	1.792
	(-0.74)	(-1.36)	(-0.94)	(1.86)	(0.78)	(2.00)	(1.55)	(0.91)	(0.71)	(0.07)	(1.08)
Foreign GDP	12.45	12.69***	.6229	-12.1	-2.989	4.166	35.97	-8.535	-4.797	2.249	.9774
	(1.01)	(2.82)	(0.13)	(-0.87)	(-0.52)	(0.88)	(1.11)	(-0.20)	(-0.29)	(0.97)	(0.22)
RER	3.483	5.759^{**}	8688*	4027	-5.332*	2095*	.3228	4.929	8204	-1.009	-2.044
	(0.51)	(2.23)	(-1.84)	(-0.15)	(-1.92)	(-1.71)	(0.12)	(0.44)	(-0.67)	(-0.67)	(-0.60)
Real oil price	-5.708	.318	1.116^{**}	5953	6.752^{***}	3853	-5.188	-6.284	1.681	6693	.2075
	(-1.11)	(0.22)	(2.21)	(-0.28)	(2.73)	(-0.70)	(-1.32)	(-0.81)	(0.55)	(-0.68)	(0.07)
RER*ROP	2.589	-2.38	3108	2004	3.455**	1655	1.177	1.019	6174	.1703	8444
	(0.99)	(-0.69)	(-1.30)	(-0.22)	(2.46)	(-1.44)	(0.78)	(0.31)	(-0.60)	(0.46)	(-0.62)
N	885	de de de									

t statistics in parentheses, p < 0.1, *** p < 0.05, **** p < 0.01

Table 4.6. Long run heterogeneous Common Correlated Effects Mean Group esti	timation of bilateral trade balance equ	uation for Ghana. 1990-2	2011
---	---	--------------------------	------

	0	0				-				-		
	Canada	China	France	Germany	India	Italy	Japan	Netherlands	Spain	UK	US	
Domestic GDP	-1.771	-4.417	2.854	3435	.8661	.3987	2.419^{*}	-2.341*	-4.28*	-2.69***	1.754	
	(-0.48)	(-0.3)	(1.46)	(-0.33)	(0.10)	(0.41)	(1.92)	(-1.92)	(-1.74)	(-2.67)	(1.05)	
Foreign GDP	4.216	5.446	-9.034	-7.86*	-2.376	.131	-6.666	6.273^{**}	1.238	4.837***	-3.772	
	(0.71)	(0.66)	(-1.4)	(-1.92)	(-0.4)	(0.03)	(-1)	(2.37)	(0.26)	(2.71)	(-1.44)	
RER	2.424	6.504	2059	.0517	.9682	.0333	3146	.1127	0756	-2.825**	3.072^{**}	
	(0.89)	(1.49)	(-0.4)	(0.08)	(0.53)	(0.28)	(-0.4)	(0.19)	(-0.29)	(-2.02)	(2.29)	
Real oil price	.227	064	0015	.1398	.5937	790***	.3786	.405	1.262^{**}	$.7728^{*}$	2976	
-	(0.08)	(-0.01)	(-0.00)	(0.38)	(0.36)	(-1.98)	(0.38)	(1.30)	(1.97)	(1.81)	(-0.42)	
RER*ROP	1.432	.9082	3429	7375	0241	0217	.217	.6575	1288	-3.403***	2.333	
	(0.32)	(0.40)	(-0.61)	(-1.05)	(-0.07)	(-0.19)	(1.02)	(1.17)	(-0.52)	(-2.97)	(0.97)	
Ν	937											
	**	***										

t statistics in parentheses, p < 0.1, *** p < 0.05, **** p < 0.01

 Table 4.7. Long run heterogeneous Common Correlated Effects Mean Group estimation of bilateral trade balance equation for Kenya, 1990-2011

	Canada	China	France	Germany	India	Italy	Japan	Netherlands	Spain	UK	US
Domestic	-5.053**	-6.069	9608	1.712	-8.372**	4.045^{**}	.1588	-2.107	-5.042***	2.476	7242
GDP	(-2.55)	(-1.06)	(-0.72)	(1.09)	(-2.10)	(2.32)	(0.11)	(-1.46)	(-3.25)	(1.59)	(-0.23)
Foreign GDP	-2.444	2.173	6992	-7.248**	4.332^{**}	7158	3.793	1.842	.376	5731	.2817
	(-1.34)	(1.45)	(-0.25)	(-2.52)	(2.37)	(-0.19)	(0.91)	(1.23)	(0.17)	(-0.58)	(0.14)
RER	8175	-2.779	.3134	.5676	.3211	3146*	1.063^{**}	$.8584^{*}$.2386	1.424	-4.209*
	(-0.59)	(-1.56)	(1.07)	(1.14)	(0.31)	(-1.91)	(2.00)	(1.89)	(1.34)	(1.56)	(-1.74)
Real oil price	1695	3.37***	5345	3226	.3165	.2781	.1542	9333 [*]	4159	6829	3.293*
	(-0.14)	(2.72)	(-1.02)	(-0.55)	(0.58)	(0.56)	(0.41)	(-1.65)	(-0.92)	(-0.99)	(1.82)
RER*ROP	.3035	-1.362**	.1538	0301	7723	3265**	.6195	$.2195^{*}$	$.3807^{***}$.1537	6844
	(1.17)	(-2.20)	(1.15)	(-0.23)	(-0.87)	(-2.18)	(1.18)	(1.72)	(2.85)	(1.14)	(-1.57)
Ν	935										

t statistics in parentheses, p < 0.1, p < 0.05, p < 0.01

Table 4.8. Lon	g run he	terogeneous	Common	Correlated	Effec	ts Mean	Group	estimation	of bilat	eral	trade	bal	lance eo	quation fo	or South Africa	, 1998-2011
-			_					_					-			-

	Canada	China	France	Germany	India	Italy	Japan	Netherlands	Spain	UK	US
Domestic	-3.241	-12.78***	.5815	6621	-10.78**	8892*	.3494	7856	-5.306*	-3.908***	-1.732
GDP	(-0.30)	(-2.67)	(0.25)	(-0.99)	(-2.33)	(-1.85)	(0.23)	(-0.36)	(-1.76)	(-4.74)	(-1.47)
Foreign GDP	7.018	5.98^{***}	-5.557	3.302	3.903^{*}	.5718	4.479	-3.582	0193	6.663***	8.256^{***}
	(0.38)	(3.79)	(-0.78)	(1.52)	(1.78)	(0.28)	(0.58)	(-0.65)	(-0.01)	(4.79)	(3.26)
RER	2.161	1.098	6928*	.5718***	.3853	.1689	7438	.5382	$.6807^{*}$	5409^{*}	.7477
	(0.68)	(1.36)	(-1.80)	(2.64)	(0.49)	(1.32)	(-0.97)	(1.33)	(1.66)	(-1.67)	(1.37)
Real oil price	6945	0385	1.369***	2973	1228	191	.1458	2794	5783	.2682	6408
	(-0.33)	(-0.10)	(3.22)	(-1.58)	(-0.14)	(-0.85)	(0.24)	(-0.86)	(-1.02)	(1.03)	(-1.48)
RER*ROP	.1285	.4265	3603	.1135	3964	.1059	.0724	.3397**	.5133	0432	.1465
	(0.12)	(0.50)	(-1.64)	(1.37)	(-0.72)	(1.03)	(0.33)	(2.18)	(1.56)	(-0.39)	(0.74)
Ν	605										

t statistics in parentheses, p < 0.1, p < 0.05, p < 0.01

	Canada	China	France	Germany	India	Italy	Japan	Netherland	s Spain	UK	US
Domestic	4.753	-2.814	-7.183**	.6727	2.155	1.381	3895	-3.447***	-5.283	-5.138***	.4468
GDP	(0.59)	(-0.21)	(-2.04)	(0.49)	(0.37)	(1.55)	(-0.43)	(-3.79)	(-1.62)	(-3.82)	(0.47)
Foreign GDP	-14.49	4.472	14.58	-1.92	-3.428	-1.648	8.551	4.557***	11.89^{*}	6.641***	-3.247**
	(-0.88)	(0.68)	(1.10)	(-0.41)	(-0.77)	(-0.48)	(1.57)	(2.77)	(1.83)	(2.77)	(-2.10)
RER	-2.456	6.21	.5116	5821	-1.299	0265	1.787^{**}	.6083	3948	-2.217	8574
	(-0.34)	(0.69)	(0.39)	(-0.56)	(-0.97)	(-0.22)	(2.22)	(1.15)	(-1.06)	(-1.60)	(-0.54)
Real oil price	7.221	2.299	-1.296	515	0549	.5192	6181	7963	.3314	1.07	1.32
	(1.07)	(0.39)	(-0.49)	(-0.40)	(-0.06)	(1.26)	(-0.95)	(-1.07)	(0.28)	(0.76)	(1.09)
RER*ROP	-1.016	4198	.3275	.1149	0685	0966	0025	.1646	0018	0973	2017
	(-1.15)	(-0.34)	(0.68)	(0.58)	(-0.22)	(-0.98)	(-0.01)	(1.35)	(-0.01)	(-0.52)	(-1.13)
Ν	944										

 Table 4.9. Long run heterogeneous Common Correlated Effects Mean Group estimation of bilateral trade balance equation for Tanzania, 1990-2011

t statistics in parentheses, p < 0.1, p < 0.05, p < 0.01

4.4.3. Long and short run average CCEMG and Fixed Effects estimates

Table 4.10 show the short run average CCEMG estimators for each SSA country. Here, the oil price only affects Tanzania's trade balance, deteriorating it by 0.2%. The error correction terms are, as expected, negative and significant in all cases. The long run average CCEMG estimates in Table 4.11 show that none of the countries is affected by oil prices, on average, in the long run. Table 4.12 shows the Fixed Effects estimates for each SSA country, with Driscoll-Kray CSD robust standard errors. Here also, an oil price increase is only significant for Tanzania, where it deteriorates the trade balance by 0.5%. The results corroborate those of the CCEMG model, with the higher coefficient likely reflecting an upward bias since, unlike the CCEMG, the FE estimator is non-dynamic. The insignificant results from these aggregate models show that they conceal a great deal of heterogeneity among SSA countries, and within each country with regards to the trading partners.

	Angola	Cameroon	Eunopia	Gilalla	Kenya	INIgenia	Soum	Tanzama
							Africa	
Error	689***	6795***	466***	631***	673***	585***	774***	5503***
Correction	(-15.98)	(-10.28)	(-6.00)	(-14.91)	(-11.52)	(-10.27)	(-13.66)	(-11.18)
Domestic	.6284	-1.953	-1.26	7.482	2.415	7662	3.195	20.59^{**}
GDP	(0.14)	(-0.31)	(-1.01)	(1.33)	(0.44)	(-0.47)	(0.34)	(2.41)
Foreign	-13.74	-28.34**	11.43	10.57	1.651	20.19	-2.836	-16
GDP	(-0.31)	(-2.15)	(1.42)	(0.65)	(0.20)	(1.15)	(-0.60)	(-1.49)
Real oil	0876	.1157	.0033	0154	0167	.1696	0917	1706*
price	(-0.50)	(1.05)	(0.01)	(-0.11)	(-0.14)	(1.60)	(-0.87)	(-1.69)
RER	.8889	-1.279	6542	4719	.0154	.1092	.0877	.1133
	(0.57)	(-1.59)	(-1.17)	(-0.91)	(0.03)	(0.19)	(0.78)	(0.37)
RER*ROP	.3326	1.313	1.58	2164	.9523	1.092	3951	1184
	(0.54)	(0.23)	(0.60)	(-0.15)	(0.58)	(0.61)	(-0.69)	(-0.07)
Constant	85.05	-45.84	-50.29**	19.6	32.3^{*}	-92.84	13.93	-18.99
	(0.87)	(-1.23)	(-2.09)	(0.93)	(1.79)	(-0.91)	(0.47)	(-0.95)
N	786	905	885	937	935	942	605	944

 Table 4.10. Short run average Common Correlated Effects Mean Group estimation of bilateral trade balance equations for SSA countries, 1990-2011

Vanue

Carth

Townski

Minaria

Company Ethionia Chang

t statistics in parentheses, p < 0.1, p < 0.05, p < 0.01

Amaala

	Angola	Cameroon	Ethiopia	Ghana	Kenya	Nigeria	South	Tanzania
							Africa	
Domestic	2.762	-3.964***	1.761	6865	-1.812	-1.509	-3.559***	-1.35
GDP	(1.11)	(-3.67)	(1.20)	(-0.88)	(-1.54)	(-1.28)	(-2.64)	(-1.22)
Foreign	-8.293	7.429^{*}	3.701	688	.1016	6.424	2.82^{**}	2.36
GDP	(-1.23)	(1.88)	(0.93)	(-0.41)	(0.11)	(1.01)	(2.09)	(0.94)
RER	-1.855	642	.3461	.8859	3031	.3739	.3976	.1168
	(-0.79)	(-0.32)	(0.36)	(1.22)	(-0.58)	(0.35)	(1.55)	(0.16)
Real oil	2.803	.1446	7961	.2387	.3957	.0094	0963	.8619
price	(1.10)	(0.10)	(-0.70)	(1.44)	(0.87)	(0.01)	(-0.56)	(1.21)
RER*ROP	-1.269	.0476	.3537	.0809	1223	.6008	.0951	118
	(-0.84)	(0.28)	(0.72)	(0.19)	(-0.68)	(1.26)	(1.10)	(-1.10)
Ν	786	905	885	937	935	942	605	944

 Table 4.11. Long run average Common Correlated Effects Mean Group estimation of bilateral trade balance equations for SSA countries, 1990-2011

t statistics in parentheses, p < 0.1, p < 0.05, p < 0.01

 Table 4.12. Cross Section Dependence robust Fixed Effects regression of the bilateral trade

 balance equations of SSA countries, 1990-2011

	Angola	Cameroon	Ethiopia	Ghana	Kenya	Nigeria	South	Tanzania
							Africa	
Domestic	2.717	6.072	-2.232	2.375	-11.3**	1.518	6.093	18.94^{**}
GDP	(0.58)	(1.22)	(-0.61)	(0.28)	(-2.20)	(0.28)	(1.00)	(2.09)
Foreign	-46.1**	-14.83*	10.02	8.422	2.314	-8.370	-0.905	4.733
GDP	(-2.19)	(-1.78)	(0.91)	(0.76)	(0.46)	(-0.96)	(-0.24)	(0.64)
Real oil	0.152	0.203	-0.305	-0.0493	-0.003	0.330	-0.137	-0.466**
price	(0.70)	(1.08)	(-1.18)	(-0.24)	(-0.03)	(1.37)	(-1.57)	(-2.65)
RER	-0.177	0.0899	0.0219	-0.195	0.0202	0.325^{*}	0.0931	0.0665
	(-1.13)	(0.17)	(0.15)	(-1.05)	(0.22)	(1.96)	(1.23)	(0.31)
RER*ROP	-0.369	0.865	2.670	-1.875	0.565	4.787^{**}	0.257	1.439
	(-1.42)	(0.17)	(0.85)	(-0.89)	(0.25)	(2.57)	(0.39)	(0.66)
Constant	-0.216	-0.118	-1.56***	-0.97***	-1.2***	0.134	-0.29***	-1.403***
	(-1.20)	(-1.51)	(-11.72)	(-6.50)	(-20.3)	(0.93)	(-6.03)	(-11.38)
Ν	802	917	895	940	940	944	616	945

t statistics in parentheses, p < 0.1, p < 0.05, p < 0.01. Standard errors are Driscoll and Kraay (1998) standard errors that are robust to cross section dependence, autocorrelation and heteroscedasticity

4.5. Discussion of results

The results show that the aggregate trade balances of SSA countries are mostly unaffected by oil price increases both in the short run and long run. However, the examination of individual specific bilateral effects shows heterogeneous responses of their trade balances: oil price increases have both positive and negative impacts for oil importers and exporters.

The predominantly insignificant average impacts of oil prices for these countries, as well as the positive heterogeneous impacts for oil importers suggest that the response of the nonoil balance is large enough to counteract that of the oil trade balance, in line with Bodenstein et. al. (2011), Abeysinghe, (2001), Korhonen and Ledyaeva,(2010), and Rebucci and Spatafora, (2006). As previously mentioned, the low price elasticity of oil demand for the sample countries suggests that our results are mainly driven by the nonoil balance. Large nonoil trade responses are likely, especially for SSA oil importers, because they export commodities whose prices frequently co-move with the oil price. For oil exporters, in addition to potentially higher nonoil imports resulting from higher oil revenues, their importation of refined petroleum products reduces the positive response of their oil trade balances, contributing to the insignificant average effects. The findings corroborate those of other studies that have examined oil exporters with similar characteristics, e.g. Le and Chang (2013) and Kuboniwa (2014).

Another factor that potentially explains a large nonoil trade response for both SSA oil exporters and importers is their low level of international financial integration. Financial integration has been shown to influence the effects of oil price increases on the trade balance by enabling oil importers to use foreign funds for smoothing nonoil consumption, reducing the necessity to run large nonoil surpluses, but amplifying the negative effects on the overall trade balance (Bodenstein et al. (2011). In the same way, oil exporters with little integration will tend to spend more on nonoil imports rather than foreign investment, again amplifying the nonoil trade response. The potential importance of the degree of financial integration in driving the effects of oil prices for SSA countries is investigated in the next chapter.

The results show an interesting pattern in the effects of oil prices and exchange rates on the bilateral trade balances. Where an oil price increase improves the trade balance, subsequent exchange rate depreciations deteriorate it, and an appreciation further improves it. Conversely, where the oil price deteriorates the trade balance, an exchange rate depreciation improves it, while an appreciation deteriorates it²⁹. Therefore, a negative effect of the oil price is associated with the fulfilment of the ML condition, while a positive oil price effect is not. In the latter case, it appears that trade elasticities are not high enough, such that the price effect of the exchange rate change dominates the quantity effect.

Why might price elasticities be lower when the oil price effect is positive? Generally, low export price elasticities are expected for SSA countries because the supply of their primary commodity exports is subject to capacity and technological constraints, as well as quota restrictions where applicable (for instance Angola and Nigeria's OPEC quotas). At the same time, since there is usually a single world US dollar price for these commodities, a change in the exchange rate of any one of these countries is unlikely to affect the foreign currency price of their exports, such that foreign demand is likely to remain unchanged (Hakura and Billmeier, 2008). On the other hand, imports should be more elastic, but even this is subject to the availability of locally produced substitutes. The implication of our result is that these elasticities are higher when an oil price increase has deteriorated the trade balance compared to when it has improved the trade balance. It may be that when the trade balance is in deficit or deteriorating, there is more incentive to, for instance, reduce imports due to a depreciation, despite the low availability of domestically produced substitutes. In the same way, there might be less incentive to change traded quantities in response to relative prices when the trade balance is improving or already in surplus. The result is consistent with Allen (2006) who finds that, the higher the initial trade surplus of a country, the lower the likelihood that a depreciation will further improve it (or that an appreciation will reduce the surplus). Similarly, the higher the initial deficit, the higher the likelihood that a depreciation will improve it and an appreciation will further worsen it.

Another potential explanation for the pattern of the oil price and exchange rate effects is simply that, where the oil price improves the trade balance, exports and imports have already adjusted to the level permitted by price and income elasticities, such that a subsequent exchange rate change does not further influence quantities, and the price effect of the exchange rate change dominates. This is especially likely for oil importers,

²⁹ The only exception is for Ethiopia, where a positive oil price effect is accompanied by a positive exchange rate effect

because a positive oil price effect for them indicates that substantial adjustments have already taken place in their non-oil imports and exports.

Finally, with regards to the interaction term, our results show that, in line with the effect of the exchange rate, an exchange rate depreciation (appreciation) improves (worsens) negative effects of oil prices on the trade balance. On the other hand, a depreciation (appreciation) dampens (reinforces) the positive effects of oil prices on the trade balance. In both cases, depreciations serve as buffers that dampen the oil price effect in any one direction, while appreciations reinforce the effect. Overall therefore, our results show that the influence of the exchange rate on the oil price-trade balance relationship is consistent with the model in Bodenstein et. al. (2011) only when the oil price has a negative effect on the trade balance.

4.6. Conclusions:

This chapter has examined the effects of oil prices on the bilateral trade balances of Sub Saharan African countries, with particular focus on the role of exchange rates in determining these effects. Oil price increases are typically associated with real exchange rate appreciations for oil exporters and depreciations for oil importers. These exchange rate adjustments have been theoretically shown to offset the effects of oil prices on the trade balance (Bodenstein et al. (2011). However, the role of exchange rates has been ignored in the empirical analysis of the oil price-trade balance relationship. This chapter has addressed this gap in the literature by being the only study to examine the influence of real exchange rates on the oil price-trade balance relationship.

This chapter has also made an important methodological contribution by using a Cross Section Dependence (CSD) robust panel data estimator and heterogeneous bilateral trade data. Previous studies that have used panel data methods to examine the effects of oil prices on trade have ignored the possibility of CSD which could bias results. In addition, studies that have used bilateral trade data have not allowed for heterogeneous responses of the bilateral trade balances to oil price increases. This chapter has addressed both methodological gaps in the literature by employing the Pesaran (2006) Common Correlated Effects Mean Group (CCEMG) estimators. These estimators are appropriately applied after testing for CSD in the panels. Both long-run and short-run coefficients are estimated and heterogeneous impacts across trading partners are examined.

It was found that considering the aggregated bilateral trade balance, SSA countries are predominantly unaffected by oil prices both in the long run and short run. However, the disaggregate results show both negative and positive impacts for oil importers and exporters. Most of the effects are positive, even for the oil importers. These results indicate a highly responsive nonoil trade balance, potentially due to the trade characteristics of these countries, and their low level of integration in international financial markets which limits consumption smoothing opportunities. Importantly, it was found that for bilateral trade balances where the oil price effect is positive, subsequent real exchange rate changes are unlikely to further influence traded quantities and the ML condition does not hold. As such, appreciations have positive effects and depreciations have negative effects on the trade balance. Conversely, where the oil price effect on the trade balance is negative, the ML condition holds, and subsequent depreciations succeed in improving the trade balance while appreciations deteriorate it.

It was argued that a negative oil price effect is associated with a higher price elasticity of demand perhaps because there is a higher incentive to change the demand for traded goods, compared with a trade balance that is improving or in surplus. Consistent with these findings, the results also showed that bilateral exchange rate depreciations dampen the positive and negative effects of oil prices on the trade balance, while appreciations reinforce these effects. Thus, theoretical predictions on the influence of the exchange rate on the oil price-trade balance nexus is supported only when an oil price increase deteriorates the trade balance.

The results provide some policy implications for SSA countries. First, the impacts of oil prices tend to be positive for oil importers. Policy makers in these countries may not need to worry too much about higher oil prices as far as their trade balances are concerned. However, it could be that this trade balance improvement signals lower nonoil imports and hence, lower consumption and investment due to lower real wealth, amplified by low access to foreign funds for consumption smoothing. On the other hand, some insignificant effects for oil exporters indicate that they seem to lose out on the potential benefits of oil price increases, perhaps partly due to their refined petroleum imports and limited integration in world capital markets. A policy implication would be to reduce dependence on imported oil in order to fully benefit from oil price increases. Importantly, when the oil price deteriorates the trade balance, a devaluation may serve as a policy tool to reduce trade deficits. On the other hand, where the oil price improves the trade balance, a devaluation will also serve to reduce the surplus, but likely through influencing the values of traded goods without affecting quantities. It thus appears that exchange rate adjustments cannot be relied upon to reduce trade imbalances when the oil price effect is positive because, in most of these cases, the ML condition does not hold.

A useful extension to this study would be an in-depth analysis of the role of exchange rates in shaping the trade balance response while explicitly modelling the oil and nonoil bilateral trade balances. Data limitations have made it difficult for this study to distinguish between the two trade balance components in a bilateral framework, but it would have given a clearer picture of the sources of the effects identified. Since the results are also consistent with a low degree of financial integration of SSA countries in global financial markets, it would be interesting to empirically examine its role in the oil-price trade balance relationship for these countries. It is this issue that the next chapter investigates.

Chapter 5: Oil Prices and Trade Balances of Sub-Saharan African Countries: The Role of International Financial Integration.

5.1. Introduction:

This chapter investigates the role of international financial integration in determining the effects of oil prices on the trade balances of SSA countries. According to the theoretical model in Bodenstein et. al. (2011), when there is an oil price shock, more financially integrated economies should be better able to smooth consumption, enabling them to avoid large fluctuations in their nonoil balances. This means that an oil price shock will have a lower impact on the overall trade balance (Kilian et al., 2009, Bodenstein et al., 2011). In the previous chapter, it was found that the trade balances of some SSA economies are largely unaffected by oil prices, indicating a substantial nonoil trade adjustment for which their limited financial integration is a potential cause. This chapter further investigates this issue.

Bodenstein et al. (2011) show that when the oil price rises, a high level of international risk sharing ensures that oil importers can borrow foreign funds to finance their growing oil trade deficit, reducing the need to do so through limiting nonoil consumption. In the same way, highly integrated oil exporters can invest oil revenue windfalls abroad rather than spend them on goods imports. Higher financial integration should therefore limit the responsiveness of the nonoil trade balance to oil shocks and, with a given oil trade balance response, it should amplify the effects on the overall trade balance. The model in Bodenstein et al. (2011) is however theoretical and calibrated only for the US economy. Empirically, Kilian et al. (2009) examined the effects of oil prices on the trade balances of oil importers and exporters and consider both the oil and nonoil balances. They find that the effects of oil prices on the nonoil balances of many countries is not high enough to completely offset the oil trade response, such that the overall trade balances are more affected. They argue that this is evidence of an intermediate level of financial integration in the global economy. They also show that valuation effects on net foreign asset positions of countries support this conclusion. In an expanded working paper version of their paper³⁰, they find that some developing countries' nonoil balances are more affected by oil prices than others, and argue that varying degrees of financial integration explain this difference. However, Kilian et al. (2009) do not explicitly consider international financial integration in their empirical

³⁰ See Kilian et al. (2007)
estimation. In the same way, none of the empirical studies on the oil price-trade balance relationship consider the role of financial integration (Le and Chang, 2013, Arouri et al., 2014). This chapter is the first to examine empirically the role of international financial integration in influencing the effects of oil prices on the trade balance.

To do this, this chapter investigates the existence of a threshold level of financial integration for SSA countries beyond which its consumption smoothing benefits become apparent. Below the threshold, countries would need to adjust their non-oil consumption and trade balances to offset the effects of oil prices³¹. It employs the Panel Smooth Transition Regression model (PSTR) model of González et al. (2005) for a sample of 37 SSA countries – 29 oil importers and 8 oil exporters. The PSTR model is particularly suitable as it allows for heterogeneous impacts of oil prices on the trade balance depending on the value of financial integration. In the model, the presence of a threshold level of financial integration is tested. Where it exists, a threshold value is endogenously determined and the model is estimated with varying coefficients depending on the threshold value. Annual data on the oil, nonoil and overall trade balances are used to facilitate interpretation in light of the model in Bodenstein et al. (2011).

The results confirm that the effects of oil prices on the nonoil trade balances of SSA countries depend on a financial integration threshold. It is found that the nonoil trade balance of oil importers with levels of financial integration below the estimated threshold is significantly more responsive to oil price increases. However, above the threshold, the effect is insignificant. This result is robust to using various alternative model specifications and is consistent with the model in Bodenstein et al. (2011): highly integrated oil importers are better able to smooth consumption and avoid large nonoil fluctuations in response to oil shocks. For oil exporters, the response of the non-oil trade balance is lower below the threshold value, contrary to expectations. This result however does not hold up once the parameters of the model are changed, and the estimates are generally unstable, perhaps due to the small size of the oil exporters' sample. The overall trade balances of both oil exporters and importers are generally

³¹ The idea that financial integration may affect other macroeconomic variables nonlinearly, depending on a threshold level, has been advanced in the literature by, among others, Kose et. al. (2003) and Kose et al. (2009). Both studies find that countries with levels of financial integration above an estimated threshold have lower levels of consumption volatility relative to output volatility.

found to be unaffected by oil prices. The findings in this chapter thus corroborate that of the previous chapter, as large nonoil trade responses of poorly integrated economies help explain the insignificant overall trade balance effects. The response of the oil trade balance to oil prices is not found to depend on a financial integration threshold. This is consistent with expectations since the oil trade balance should deteriorate (improve) for oil importers (exporters) irrespective of their level of integration. Interestingly, it is found that the effects of other variables in the estimated models also depend on a financial integration threshold. The effects of an increase in financial integration on the trade balance are found to be higher below the threshold. This indicates that less financially integrated economies have the most to gain from increasing integration. An increase in world income relative to domestic income has a higher impact on the trade balance when financial integration is above its threshold, implying that more financially integrated economies respond more to global income levels.

In terms of general implications, the findings for oil importers show that increasing financial openness is necessary if they are to smooth nonoil consumption in times of oil shocks. This is especially important given the current high volatility of oil prices, with some forecast seeing them gradually increasing to about \$85 per barrel by 2020, despite current low levels (OPEC, 2015). However, the results also show that higher integration is associated with increased exposure to global income shocks, so a careful risk-benefit analysis may be necessary.

The rest of this chapter is organised as follows. Section 5.2 reviews the relevant theoretical and empirical literature. Section 5.3 discusses the data and methodology used in the analysis. Section 5.4 presents the results and Section 5.5 provides a discussion of the results. Conclusions and recommendations are provided in section 5.6.

5.2. Literature review:

Theoretical models on the effects of oil prices on the trade balance generally find that rising oil prices lead to trade deficits for oil importing countries. As reviewed in the previous chapter, early theoretical models generally define the trade balance as the difference between savings and investment, with the effects of terms of trade changes resulting from oil price shocks being the main focus. They show that the response of the trade balance depends on the persistence of the oil price increase and the relative strength of the wealth and substitution effects it generates. These studies consider only oil importing economies and ignore the potential role of international risk sharing by assuming complete financial markets (Obstfeld, 1982, Svensson and Razin, 1983, Persson and Svensson, 1985, Svensson, 1984, Matsuyama, 1987, Sen, 1990, Sen and Turnovsky, 1989). On the other extreme, Sen (1990) and Sen (1991) assume financial autarky, where countries have no access to foreign capital. Both groups of models generally reach similar conclusions.

Bodenstein et al. (2011) revisit the issue of the transmission of oil shocks to the trade balance while considering the role of international financial risk sharing. They build on the complete international financial market model of Backus and Crucini (2000) who consider the effects of oil prices on terms of trade. Bodenstein et al. (2011) use a two country DSGE model, with each country specialising in the production of final goods which are imperfect substitutes. Both countries have a given oil endowment but only one is the net oil importer, assumed to have a lower oil endowment relative to the intensity of its oil use. The price elasticity of demand for oil is assumed to be low. Financial asset markets are complete at the country level, and these assets are acquired by individuals through purchasing state contingent domestic bonds. Foreign assets are accumulated by purchasing one non-state contingent foreign bond which is subject to an intermediation cost not present for domestic bonds. Within this context, Bodenstein et al. (2011) show that oil price shocks affect the countries' trade balances mainly through the transfer of wealth from oil importers to oil exporters. This leads to a reduction in output, consumption and investment in the net oil importing country. Real oil imports reduce as firms substitute away from oil, but nominal oil imports still increase, pushing the oil trade balance into a deficit. Thus, the non-oil trade balance has to improve to offset the oil trade deficit. This is facilitated by a terms of trade (the real exchange rate in their model) deterioration. Under incomplete international financial markets, the economic agents can access foreign capital subject to the intermediation cost. They thus

borrow from abroad to smooth consumption. However, a nonoil surplus is still required since, owing to the intermediation cost, they cannot smooth consumption perfectly, thereby offsetting only some of the oil trade deficit. This in turn results in a small overall trade balance deterioration. Under financial autarky, their model yields similar results except here, since the economy has no access to foreign capital because the intermediation cost is very high, non-oil consumption cannot be smoothed through foreign borrowing. The terms of trade (RER) therefore deteriorate by more, and the non-oil trade balance necessarily improves by the exact amount of the oil trade deficit, such that the overall trade balance is unaffected. The results under complete markets are, however, very different. Here, profits from oil production are effectively shared across countries so that oil importers receive insurance transfers from oil exporters. As such, consumption smoothing does not require any non-oil trade surplus. The terms of trade (RER) deteriorate by less, the non-oil trade balance is unchanged and the overall trade balance bears the full impact of the oil trade deficit. Thus, the model in Bodenstein et al. (2011) implies that, the more an economy is integrated in international financial markets, the more it is able to smooth consumption through borrowing, and the lower the response of the non-oil trade balance to oil prices. This in turn results in a higher response of the overall goods trade balance.

The model in Bodenstein et al. (2011) also points to the potential role of valuation effects, although they do not explicitly model it. As argued by Kilian et al. (2009), more integrated and diversified oil importing economies will reap capital gains from their investments in oil exporting countries, which will also go towards reducing the need to run non-oil surpluses. Indeed, Gourinchas and Rey (2005) show that valuation effects are important channels of international financial adjustments. For the trade channel of adjustment, current trade deficits have to be offset by future trade surpluses if the returns on foreign assets are expected to remain unchanged over time. However, if returns differ across assets and over time, then the expected capital gains and losses reduce the need to run trade deficits and surpluses. This valuation effect works not only through changes in asset value but also through exchange rate depreciations and appreciations. Thus, oil price induced exchange rate depreciations for oil importers can lead to valuation effects by altering the value of foreign asset returns favourably, if the assets are held in foreign currency. This will also aid in reducing the need for a nonoil surplus. They show that historically, these valuation effects have accounted for over 30% of US external adjustments.

In contrast to Bodenstein et al. (2011), Başkaya et al. (2013) showed within a real business cycle model that the degree of a country's integration in foreign asset markets does not matter for the transmission of oil price level shocks to the trade balance, but are important for the transmission of volatility shocks. This is because their model focuses on the role of precautionary savings and the subsequent investment of these savings domestically and abroad. Since oil price level shocks do not induce as much precautionary savings as oil price volatility shocks, their model does not predict an important role for financial integration in the transmission of these shocks. Egger and Falkinger (2015) examine the interactions between international trade and financial markets. They show within a two country general equilibrium model that international financial transactions between two countries are associated with higher trade imbalances. This is because accessing the gains from integration requires goods trade, with the net borrowing country in the initial period being the net goods exporter in the next period. Thus, more financially integrated economies will tend to have higher overall trade imbalances. Despite the different channels of effects, the conclusions are similar to those of Bodenstein et al. (2011).

The models above have been calibrated for oil importing countries, and it is assumed that for oil exporters, the effects would be the exact opposite. Bems and de Carvalho Filho (2011) develop a small open economy model for oil exporters. The model includes an exhaustible resource sector, where the price of the exhaustible resource is the only source of uncertainty. The representative consumer faces a self-insurance problem where he seeks to diversify away from the uncertain exhaustible resource income through accumulation of foreign assets. Calibrating their model based on data for 13 oil exporters, they show that consumption smoothing motive accounts for much of the current account surpluses accumulated by oil exporting countries, and that precautionary motives associated with oil price uncertainty also play an important role. Their findings support the hypothesis that oil exporters do save abroad during revenue windfalls, making funds available to the now poorer oil importers and facilitating risk sharing.

Other related contributions are concerned with the role of international risk sharing in the transmission of oil price induced productivity shocks across countries. They regard oil shocks as productivity shocks for oil importing economies since they represent an increase in the price of a major input, whose demand is relatively inelastic given the limited availability of substitutes. Some studies find international risk sharing to be important (Baxter and Crucini, 1995, Corsetti et al., 2008), while others find that it does not matter (Heathcote and Perri, 2004, Heathcote and Perri, 2002, Cole and Obstfeld, 1991)³².

Overall, only Bodenstein et al. (2011) provide a theoretical model that explicitly examines the role of international financial integration in determining the effects of oil price shocks on the trade balance and its nonoil component. Their model is only theoretical and its implications for the role of financial integration have not been empirically tested. Bodenstein et al. (2011) also do not consider the possibility of threshold levels of integration that may matter in the transmission of oil shocks. This chapter contributes to the literature by addressing these issues.

Empirically, a small number of studies have examined the impact of oil price shocks on trade but they do not consider the role of international financial integration. Le and Chang (2013) find that positive oil price shocks lead to an improvement in the oil, nonoil and overall trade balances of Malaysia. For Singapore, the effects are negligible and for Japan, positive oil price shocks dampen its oil trade balance and, depending on the associated improvement in its non-oil trade balance, its overall trade balance may be pushed into a deficit. Arouri et al. (2014) find that India's trade balance is negatively affected by oil price shocks. Ahmed and O'Donoghue (2010) and Muhammad (2012) find that oil price increases are associated with a reduction in exports of Pakistan through inducing an increase in production costs. Abu-Bader and Abu-Qarn (2010) find that structural breaks in the trade ratios of 57 countries over the period 1957-1993 coincided with oil price shocks, suggesting that these may account for the observed breaks. Bridgman (2008) show that changes in trade volumes globally can be accounted for by changes in oil prices which affect the cost of transporting tradable goods. Chen and Hsu (2012) examine the effects of oil prices on bilateral trade volumes using panel data on 84 countries from 1984-2008. They find that oil supply disruptions have a negative impact on trade because they lower GDP and hence imports of oil importers, as well as export volumes of oil exporters. Oil specific demand shocks on the other hand increase trade volumes by inducing higher exports for oil exporters and higher imports for importers. In a similar study Shiu-Sheng and Kai-Wei (2013) examine the effects of

³² The models that find financial integration to be unimportant assume a high elasticity of traded goods such that the terms of trade provide sufficient insurance against productivity shocks. However, as discussed in Bodenstein et. al. 2011, the demand for oil is relatively inelastic and some international risk sharing is required.

oil prices on bilateral export volumes using a gravity model of international trade and annual data on 117 countries from 1984-2009. They find that oil price increases have insignificant effects on trade volumes. Özlale and Pekkurnaz (2010) find a negative effect of oil price shocks on the Turkish current account balance. Allegret et al. (2015) find that oil price increases usually lead to current account deficits for oil importers.

The only empirical study that points to the importance of international financial integration in the effects of oil prices on the trade balance is Kilian et al. (2009). They examine the effects of oil price shocks on the oil, nonoil and overall trade balances as well as the current account balance and net foreign asset positions for oil exporters and advanced country oil importers. Using VAR models, they find that for oil importers, the oil trade balance deteriorates with an oil price increase, the non-oil trade balance improves to a smaller extent, and the overall trade balance deteriorates. Accordingly, the authors note that, in light of the model in Bodenstein et al. (2011), their findings are consistent with an intermediate degree of financial integration for their sample countries, since they are able to avoid large fluctuations in their nonoil trade balances in response to oil shocks. They also find large valuation effects in that oil importers make some capital gains as a result of the oil price increase; and these help reduce the need to run large non-oil surpluses. In the same way, oil exporters make some capital losses. In an expanded working paper version of their paper where they consider developing country oil importers³³, Kilian et al. find that the nonoil balance of some oil importers in Latin America respond more to oil price increases than those in Emerging Asia, leading to a relatively muted response of the overall trade balance for Latin America. The authors argue that this may reflect their sample Latin American countries' relatively limited access to international capital markets which discourages borrowing to smooth consumption in response to oil shocks.

Even though Kilian et al. (2009) recognise the importance of financial integration, they do not include it in their models and only infer its role through their estimates of the response of the nonoil balance and net foreign asset positions of countries. In addition, they do not consider the question of potential threshold levels of integration that may matter for the transmission of oil shocks. This question is of important practical relevance for many countries looking to reduce exposure to oil price fluctuations, and is supported by studies that have found threshold effects of financial integration on

³³ Kilian et al. (2007)

consumption smoothing (Kose et al. (2003), Kose et al. (2009) Kose et al. (2011)) ³⁴. This chapter aims to fill this gap in the oil price-trade balance literature by examining threshold effects of financial integration for Sub-Saharan African countries.

³⁴ Kose et. al. (2006) provides a review of the literature on the effects of financial integration on other macroeconomic variables and potential nonlinearities therein.

5.3. Data and Methodology:

5.3.1. The PSTR model:

This chapter utilises the Panel Smooth transition Regression (PSTR) model of González et al. (2005). It is a non-dynamic threshold model for heterogeneous panels with fixed effects. The PSTR is a generalisation of the Panel Threshold Regression (PTR) model of Hansen (1999). In the PTR model, coefficients in a fixed effects regression are allowed to take on different values depending on the value of the threshold variable. As long as the threshold variable is time varying, the observations on each individual and time period can be grouped discretely into different classes or regimes, depending on the endogenously determined threshold value. However, in the PTR model, the different groups of observations are clearly differentiated with clear borders based on the threshold value, so that the transition from one regime to another is discrete and abrupt. The PSTR model generalises this discrete allocation of observations, based on a logistic transition function, so that the transition is smooth and the coefficients change gradually from one regime to another, which is more desirable if a discrete allocation would result in too few observations in a certain regime. An alternative panel threshold model is that of Dang et al. (2012) which is an application of the Hansen (1999) PTR model to the Generalised Methods of Moments (GMM) estimator. Because of the GMM framework however, it requires a very large cross section dimension of the panel and a relatively smaller time dimension, which is contrary to the data structure in this chapter.

The PSTR model can be written as:

$$y_{i,t} = \alpha_i + \beta_0 x_{i,t} + (\beta_1 x_{i,t}) G(q_{i,t}; \gamma, c) + \mu_{i,t} \dots \dots \dots \dots (5.1)$$

Where $y_{i,t}$ is the observation on the dependent variable for country *i* at year *t*, α_i are the time invariant individual (fixed) effects, $x_{i,t}$ is a vector of explanatory variables that may contain the threshold variable, *q*. *G*(.) is the transition function which depends on the slope parameter γ that determines the smoothness of the transition; and *c* which is a vector of threshold values. The transition function *G*(.) is a logistic function normalised so that its values lie between 0 and 1. It is specified as:

$$G(q_{i,t}; \gamma, c) = (1 + \exp(-\gamma \prod_{j=1}^{m} (q_{i,t} - c_j))^{-1} \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots (5.2)$$

Where *m* is the number of threshold values corresponding to the number of regimes. In equation 1, low and high values of the transition function are associated with regression coefficients β_0 and $\beta_0 + \beta_1$ respectively. As explained in González et al. (2005), the transition function is such that if m=1, then there are two extreme regimes, each associated with high and low values of $q_{i,t}$. Here, the transition of the coefficients from β_0 to $\beta_0 + \beta_1$ is single and monotonic as $q_{i,t}$ increases, with the transition centred around the threshold value *c*. In this case, if the slope coefficient $\gamma \rightarrow \infty$, the model collapses into the Hansen (1999) PTR with two regimes. If $\gamma \rightarrow 0$, the model collapses into a linear homogenous model with fixed effects. If there are more than two regimes, González et al. (2005) show that the PSTR model is the simple additive model:

$$y_{i,t} = \alpha_i + \beta_0 x_{i,t} + \sum_{j=1}^r \beta_j x_{i,t} G_j \left(q_{i,t}^{(j)}; \gamma_j, c_j \right) + \mu_{i,t} \dots \dots \dots \dots (5.3)$$

Where $j = 1 \dots n$, r, r being the number of regimes.

The estimation of the PSTR model first entails testing for linearity because the model in equation 1 is not identified if the model is inherently linear.

5.3.2. Linearity Tests and Parameter Estimation

Testing the null hypothesis of a linear fixed effects model against the alternative of a PSTR model involves testing $\gamma = 0$ or equivalently $\beta_1 = 0$ in equation 5.1. Under the null, γ and the threshold value *c* are not identified. To avoid this problem, González et al. (2005) propose replacing $G(q_{i,t}; \gamma, c)$ in equation 5.1 by its first order Taylor expansion around $\gamma = 0$. Subsequently, the null hypothesis can be tested with a heteroscedasticity robust LM test statistic which can have a Chi-square or F distribution, the latter being more appropriate for small samples (Colletaz and Hurlin, 2006)³⁵.

The procedure for the linearity tests proposed by González et al. (2005) is that, first, a linear fixed effects model is estimated and the null hypothesis of a linear model is tested against the alternative of a two regime PSTR model. If this null hypothesis is rejected, the two regime PSTR model is estimated, and the null hypothesis of a two regime model is tested against the alternative of a three regime model. If the null is again rejected, a three regime PSTR is estimated and the presence of an additional threshold is

³⁵ The use of computer programs by Gilbert Colletaz is gratefully acknowledged.

tested. This procedure is repeated until the first non-rejection of the null. In this study, up to a maximum of three regimes are considered.

González et al. (2005) show that, once linearity is rejected, estimating $\beta_{0,\beta_{1},\gamma}$ and *c* in equation one is a straightforward application of the fixed effects and nonlinear least squares estimators. That is, the time invariant individual effects are eliminated and the model is subsequently estimated by nonlinear least squares. The values of the estimated parameters $\beta_{0,\beta_{1},\gamma}$ and *c* are those that minimise the concentrated sum of squared errors.

5.3.3. The empirical model:

As in the previous two chapters, the imperfect substitutes trade balance model is used. The explanatory variables included are the terms of trade, the real oil price, a measure of financial integration³⁶, and a measure of world and domestic income. The robustness of the estimates to using alternative measures of these variables is later checked. The baseline PSTR model estimated is:

$$TB_{i,t} = \alpha_i + \beta_1 \Delta lnroilp_{i,t-1} + \beta_2 \Delta lntot_{i,t-1} + \beta_3 lnfint_{i,t-1} + \beta_4 \Delta lngdpdiff_{i,t-1} + \beta_5 \Delta lnroilp_{i,t-1} * OX + (\beta_6 \Delta lnroilp_{i,t-1} + \beta_7 \Delta lntot_{i,t-1} + \beta_8 lnfint_{i,t-1} + \beta_9 \Delta lngdpdiff_{i,t-1} + \beta_{10} \Delta lnroilp_{i,t-1} * OX) G(lnfint_{i,t-1}^{\ j}; \gamma_i, c_j) + \varepsilon_{i,t} \dots \dots (5.4)$$

Where $j = 1 \dots \dots r$, r being the number of regimes. $TB_{i,t}$ denotes the relevant component of the trade balance i.e. overall, non-oil or oil trade balance. OX in equation (5.4) is a dummy variable equal to 1 if the country is an oil exporter and zero otherwise. β_1 , β_2 , β_3 , β_4 , and β_5 are the coefficient estimates of the effects of the real oil price, terms of trade, financial integration, the income measure (the difference between world GDP and domestic GDP), and the interaction term between the real oil price and the oil exporter dummy, respectively, when financial integration is below its threshold value. Above the threshold value, the corresponding coefficient estimates are $\beta_1 + \beta_6$, $\beta_2 + \beta_7$, $\beta_3 + \beta_8$, $\beta_4 + \beta_9$ and $\beta_5 + \beta_{10}$. It is shown in Appendix E that using three panel unit root tests, the trade balance measures are stationary, and the measure of financial integration is stationary in two of the tests. The oil price is stationary in one test, and all other variables contain unit roots in all three tests. Thus, all the variables except the trade balance measures and the financial integration measure are used in their first

³⁶ A description of this measure is provided in the next section.

differences, and one lag is taken for all the explanatory variables to allow for delayed responses and to limit endogeneity issues.

The coefficient estimates from the model in equation 5.4 were found to be unstable and sensitive to changing the parameters of the model, so the PSTR model is estimated for oil importers and exporters separately. After appropriate linearity tests, the model estimated for each subsample is:

$$TB_{i,t} = \alpha_i + \beta_1 \Delta lnroilp_{i,t-1} + \beta_2 \Delta lntot_{i,t-1} + \beta_3 lnfint_{i,t-1} + \beta_4 \Delta lngdpdiff_{i,t-1} + (\beta_5 \Delta lnroilp_{i,t-1} + \beta_6 \Delta lntot_{i,t-1} + \beta_7 lnfint_{i,t-1} + \beta_8 \Delta lngdpdiff_{i,t-1})G(lnfint_{i,t-1}^{j};\gamma_j,c_j) + \varepsilon_{i,t}......(5.5)$$

Where β_1 , β_2 , β_3 , and β_4 are the coefficients of the real oil price, terms of trade, financial integration and the income measure when financial integration is below its threshold value. At higher levels of financial integration, the corresponding coefficient estimates are $\beta_1 + \beta_5$, $\beta_2 + \beta_6$, $\beta_3 + \beta_7$, $\beta_4 + \beta_8$.

A few of the methodological choices deserve special mention. First, including time dummies in the model above would be desirable in order to reduce cross section dependence by accounting for time varying common unobserved macroeconomic effects. However, when a full set of time dummies is included, they are all insignificant. This is not surprising as the model already contains the real oil price and the world GDP, both proxies for common macroeconomic shocks. The insignificant time dummies thus suggest that the model has already captured most of the time varying common unobserved effects³⁷. This is not to say that the model does not suffer from cross section dependence, but it is likely greatly reduced. This is useful as methods to account for cross section dependence in panel threshold models are yet to be developed. Second, using the Real Effective Exchange Rate (REER) would have been more desirable, but data is unavailable for a lot of countries in the sample. The terms of trade is therefore used in the baseline models as it tracks the REER closely. However, it is shown that the results are robust to using the US dollar real exchange rate. In addition, it is also shown that the results are robust to replacing the US dollar real oil price with a measure of domestic real oil price for each country.

³⁷ I thank Markus Eberhardt for pointing this issue out for a different but similar model.

Third, the measure of financial integration used is the sum of foreign total assets and foreign liabilities as a proportion of GDP. Measures of financial integration can be either de facto or de jure measures. The former measure the actual level of integration in international markets quantitatively, while the latter are designed to capture legal restrictions on capital account liberalizations (Kose et al., 2009a, Quinn et al., 2011). Kose et al. (2009a) argue strongly in favour of using de facto measures of financial openness. They show that the two measures can be very different, as some countries may have a lot of capital controls on paper but still have high stocks and flows of assets and liabilities, because such controls are not always enforced. In the same way, a country may have few restrictions on capital flows but still be unable to attract actual foreign investments due to poor macroeconomic fundamentals. Kose et al. (2011) show that many countries have become more financially open in de facto terms irrespective of the capital controls in place. Essentially, the two measures capture different things and the de facto measure is the one relevant for the type of consumption smoothing and subsequent trade effects with which this chapter is concerned. As noted by Quinn et al. (2011), the measure used in this study from the Lane and Milesi-Ferretti (2007) data base is the industry standard for de facto measures, as it covers a large number of countries over a long period of time. It is also the measure adopted by Kilian et al. (2009) and Gnimassoun (2015) among others. The main alternative de facto measure available is the inward FDI flow data from the United Nations Conference on Trade and Statistics (UNCTADstat) data base. However, the measure used in this study also contains inward FDI flows.

Again, it can be argued that the levels of foreign assets and liabilities were affected by the 2008-2010 global financial crisis. If the crisis did play a role, then not accounting for it could bias the results, affecting both the estimated thresholds and models. To control for its potential effect, the robustness of the results is checked by including three time dummies corresponding to the 2008, 2009 and 2010 periods.

5.3.4. Data:

Annual data on all 46 SSA countries over the 1980-2011 period was collected from the World's Bank's World Development Indicators (WDI), the International Monetary Fund's World economic Outlook (WEO); International Financial Statistics (IFS); as well as Direction of Trade Statistics (DOTS). The sample period is limited to 2011 because the financial integration measure used is available only until this date. Details of the variables collected from each source are presented in Appendix F. The countries

are categorised as oil importers or exporters based on their oil market status. One way of doing this is to consider the average proportion of total exports accounted for by oil exports. Allegret et al. (2014b) consider countries with oil exports over 10% of total exports as oil exporters, while Kilian et al. (2009) use a higher threshold of 20%. In this study, an intermediate value of 15% is adopted. However, as discussed in the previous chapter, a lot of SSA oil exporting countries import refined petroleum products, significantly affecting their effective oil exporter status. Thus, in addition to considering the proportion of oil exports in total exports, the average proportion of oil imports relative to oil exports is considered. In total, 10 of the 46 countries have oil exports over 15% of total exports on average over the sample period. These are Angola, Cameroon, Chad, Cote d'Ivoire, Republic of Congo, Democratic Republic of Congo, Equatorial Guinea, Gabon, Nigeria and Sudan. Of these however, Cameroon and Cote d'Ivoire have average oil imports that are 122% and 101% of oil exports respectively. This implies that over the sample period, they have on average imported more oil than they have exported. In addition, Senegal oil exports are 10% of its total exports, but oil imports are 517% of oil exports. Finally, Togo has no available data over the entire sample period for oil exports. However, it is likely to have a similar figure as Senegal as they both export sizable refined petroleum products but import crude oil. This lack of data makes Togo's oil market status uncertain. Therefore, Cameroon, Cote d'Ivoire, Senegal and Togo are removed from the sample because their ambiguous oil market status.³⁸ Removing those countries leaves a sample of 34 oil importers and 8 oil exporters.

The PSTR methodology is better suited for balanced panels because it is unknown if the estimates will be valid for unbalanced panels (Colletaz and Hurlin, 2006). Therefore, the first 10 years and the last year are eliminated from the sample, as most of the countries have a lot of missing observations for various variables at the beginning of the sample. The sample is thus limited to the period 1990-2010. After doing this, only countries that have at least 75% of observations on all the variables relevant for the analysis are retained. This data balancing leads to the elimination of Sao-Tome and Principe, Sierra Leone, Liberia, Eritrea and Zimbabwe. The final sample therefore consists of a total of 37 countries over the 1990-2010 period, consisting of 8 oil exporters and 29 oil importers. The list of countries is presented in Appendix G.

³⁸ This is similar to the approach taken by Kilian et al. (2009), where they removed Canada and the UK from their sample given their sizable oil exports but also well-diversified export base.

5.3.5. Variable transformations and measurements:

As in the previous chapters, the trade balance equations preferred in this chapter are the natural logarithms of the exports to imports ratio thus:

$$\begin{cases} \ln(ttb)_{i,t} = \ln\left(\frac{tx_{i,t}}{tm_{i,t}}\right); \ln(ntb)_{i,t} = \ln\left(\frac{nx_{i,t}}{nm_{i,t}}\right); \ln(otb)_{i,t} \\ = \ln\left(\frac{ox_{i,t}}{om_{i,t}}\right) \end{cases} \dots \dots \dots (i)$$

Where $i = 1 \dots n$; $t = 1 \dots t$ are the number of countries and time periods respectively. *ttb*, *ntb* and *otb* denote the total (overall) trade balance, the non-oil trade balance and the oil trade balance respectively. tx(tm), nx(nm), and ox(om) denote total exports (imports), non-oil exports (imports) and oil exports (imports) respectively. Using this measure means that the oil trade balance for oil importers is undefined as $ox_{i,t} = 0$ for most of these countries. Since oil exporters also import some oil, their measure of oil trade balance is well defined. The robustness of the results are thus checked using alternative trade balance measures that have been used in the literature by, for example, Kilian et al. (2009) and Bodenstein et al. (2011). These measures are:

$$\left\{ ttb_{i,t} = \left(\frac{tx_{i,t} - tm_{i,t}}{GDP_{i,t}}\right) * 100; \ ntb_{i,t} = \left(\frac{nx_{i,t} - nm_{i,t}}{GDP_{i,t}}\right) * 100; \ otb_{i,t}$$
$$= \left(\frac{ox_{i,t} - om_{i,t}}{GDP_{i,t}}\right) * 100 \right\} \dots \dots (ii)$$

Where all variables are as defined earlier and in nominal terms, and $GDP_{i,t}$ is the nominal GDP. This measure allows an analysis of the oil trade balance of oil importers and takes into account size effects by normalising the measures by the GDP.

Other relevant variables used in the analysis are the terms of trade, the US dollar real oil price, the domestic real oil price, the US dollar real exchange rate (RER), the GDP differential measure and the financial integration measure. These variables are measured in the following way:

$$\begin{cases} TOT_{i,t} = \frac{export \ price \ index_{i,t}}{import \ price \ index_{i,t}}; \ ROILP_{i,t} = \frac{noilp_{i,t}}{CPI_{US;i,t}}; \ DROILP_{i,t} \\ = \frac{noilp_{i,t} * ner_{i,t}}{CPI_{d;i,t}}; \ GDPDIFF_{i,t} = wgdp_{i,t} - dgdp_{i,t}; \ RER_{i,t} \\ = \frac{ner_{i,t} * CPI_{US;i,t}}{CPI_{d,i,t}}; \ FINT_{i,t} = \frac{ta_{i,t} + tl_{i,t}}{GDP_{i,t}} \\ \dots \dots \dots (\text{iii}) \end{cases}$$

Where *TOT* is the terms of trade, *ROILP* is the real US dollar oil price calculated as the nominal oil price in US dollars $noilp_{i,t}$ divided by the US CPI $CPI_{US;i,t}$. *DROILP* is the domestic real oil price derived as the nominal US dollar oil price $noilp_{i,t}$ multiplied by the US dollar exchange rate $ner_{i,t}$ and divided the domestic CPI of each country $CPI_{d;i,t}$. *GDPDIFF* is the difference between world GDP $wgdp_{i,t}$ and domestic GDP $dgdp_{i,t}$ of each country, both in 2005 constant US dollars. *RER* is the real exchange rate defined as the nominal US dollar exchange rate $ner_{i,t}$ multiplied by US CPI $CPI_{US;i,t}$ and divided by domestic CPI $CPI_{d,i,t}$, so that an increase means a depreciation.

FINT is the measure of financial integration derived from the updated and extended version of the dataset created by Lane and Milesi-Ferretti (2007). It is calculated as the sum of total foreign assets $ta_{i,t}$ and total foreign liabilities $tl_{i,t}$ as a ratio of nominal GDP. These encompass stocks of foreign portfolio equity assets and liabilities, stocks of Foreign Direct Investment (FDI) asset and liabilities, stocks of debt assets and liabilities, including portfolio debt assets and liabilities, financial derivatives stocks and liabilities, and foreign exchange reserves minus gold. All the data on assets, liabilities and GDP are in current US dollars, and consist of transactions and claims between a country's residents and non-residents.

Descriptive statistics of all the variables used in the analysis are provided in Table 5.1. Figure 5.1 shows a scatter plot of the financial integration measure for all the countries. This is useful for comparing the actual data with the estimated thresholds in the PSTR models. Finally, Figures 5.2a and 5.2b show the financial integration data for each country in the sample over the same period.

						Quant	tiles	
Variable	n	Mean	S.D.	Min	0.25	Median	0.75	Max
Ln(ttb)	814	-0.5	0.94	-3.73	-0.96	-0.36	0.02	1.68
Ln(ntb)	735	-0.71	0.95	-6.68	-1.12	-0.42	-0.09	0.63
Ln(rop)	814	-0.93	0.51	-1.77	-1.35	-1.11	-0.46	0.07
Ln(fint)	814	0.32	0.57	-1.61	-0.05	0.29	0.60	4.33
Ln(tot)	814	4.65	0.3	3.45	4.51	4.61	4.78	5.64
Ln(gdp-differential)	814	9.17	1.36	5.16	8.45	9.12	10.11	12.28
TTB	814	-7.26	24.4	-118.41	-15.98	-8.57	0.5	92.53
NTB	751	-10.09	13.44	-84.66	-14.85	-7.95	-1.97	19.41
OTB	751	4.25	21.93	-53.76	-4.88	-2.82	-1.28	117.57

 Table 5.1: Descriptive Statistics, full sample

Figure 5.1 Financial integration, logarithm



Source: Author's calculations using the updated and extended version of dataset constructed by Lane and Milesi-Ferretti (2007). The figure above plots the logarithm of this measure the full sample over the 1990-2011

Notes: Financial integration here is calculated as the sum of total assets and liabilities as a ratio of GDP.



Figure 5.2a: Financial Integration by SSA country (Logarithm): 1990-2010)



Notes: Financial integration here is calculated as the sum of total assets and liabilities as a ratio of GDP.



Figure 5.2b: Financial Integration by SSA country (Logarithm) (Cont'd): 1990-2010)

Source: Author's calculations using the updated and extended version of dataset constructed by Lane and Milesi-Ferretti (2007). The figure above plots the logarithm of this measure the full sample over the 1990-2011

Notes: Financial integration here is calculated as the sum of total assets and liabilities as a ratio of GDP.

5.4. Results:

5.4.1. Linearity tests:

Tables 5.2a, 5.2b and 5.2c show the results from linearity tests for the full sample, for oil importers, and for oil exporters respectively. As discussed in section 5.3.2, up to three regimes are considered and if the linearity is rejected in all cases, then the optimal number of regimes is selected based on the strongest rejection, as in González et al. (2005). For each subsample, the linearity tests based on three models are reported. These are the baseline models in equations 5.4 and 5.5, the models where the terms of trade is replaced with the real exchange rate (RER), and the models where the US dollar real oil price is replaced with the domestic real oil price. The results using the preferred trade balance measures, as in the equations in (i), as well as the trade balances measured as percentages of GDP, as in (ii), are reported in each table

Table 5.2a shows that for the full sample, the null hypotheses of linearity are rejected in favour of PSTR models for all but the oil trade balance as a percentage of GDP. For the latter, in all cases, the null hypothesis of a linear model cannot be rejected. Table 5.2b shows that for oil importers, linearity is rejected for all the models. Table 5.2c shows that for oil exporters, linearity is rejected only for the non-oil trade balance models using the real exchange rate and domestic real oil price. When the terms of trade is used, the threshold is insignificant.

Overall, the results show that the relationship between the oil price and the nonoil trade balance is nonlinear for all subsamples, with financial integration being the source of nonlinearity. For the full sample and for the oil exporters, the relationship is linear for the oil trade balance. This result is not surprising, as oil exporters (importers) should have oil trade surpluses (deficits) irrespective of their levels of integration. The effects of oil prices are nonlinear for the overall trade balance of oil importers, but not for oil exporters. To give an idea of the distribution of countries across the estimated thresholds, in Appendix H we group the countries into high, low and intermediate levels of financial integration based on their average levels of integration throughout the sample period and the estimated thresholds in the various models. Of course, given the logistic transition function, countries change regimes over time, so the grouping is for descriptive purposes only and does not reflect the countries in high or low regimes.

5.4.2. PSTR estimation results:

The results from the PSTR models are first presented using the preferred trade balance measures in (i). In a later section, the results are shown to be robust to using the alternative trade balance measures in (ii) which allow the estimation of the oil trade balance model for oil importers and the full sample. The results are then shown to be robust to the inclusion of the crisis dummies.

The logistic transition function means that the coefficients of the PSTR models cannot be directly interpreted as elasticities. However, their signs and statistical significance are economically meaningful and indicate the effect *on the elasticity* as the value of the threshold variable increases: a positive coefficient implies a higher effect, while a negative coefficient implies a lower effect.

Dependent variable	Baseline r	nodel			Model wit	h RER			Model with	RER and dor	mestic oil pric	ce
	m = 0	m = 1	<i>m</i> = 2	<i>m</i> *	m = 0	<i>m</i> = 1	<i>m</i> = 2	<i>m</i> *	m = 0	<i>m</i> = 1	<i>m</i> = 2	<i>m</i> *
Ln(ttb)	0.004	0.027	0.179	<i>m</i> *= 1	0.000	0.000	0.533	<i>m</i> *= 2	0.000	0.000	0.465	<i>m</i> *= 2
Ln(ntb)	0.001	0.060	0.588	m *= 1	0.000	0.004	0.285	m *= 1	0.000	0.004	0.013	m *= 1
ОТВ	0.691			m *= 0	0.592			m *= 0	0.312			m *= 0
NTB	0.008	0.061	0.010	m *= 1	0.008	0.010	0.024	m *= 1	0.000	0.000	0.019	m *= 1
TTB	0.030	0.162		m *= 1	0.048	0.008	0.049	<i>m</i> *= 2	0.006	0.000	0.083	<i>m</i> *= 2
Table 5.2b: Linearity Tests: Oil importers (ρ – values)												
Dependent variable	Baseline r	nodel			Model wit	h RER			Model with	RER and dor	nestic oil pric	ce
	m = 0	m = 1	<i>m</i> = 2	<i>m</i> *	m = 0	<i>m</i> = 1	<i>m</i> = 2		m = 0	m = 1	<i>m</i> = 2	<i>m</i> *
Ln(ttb)	0.001	0.234		<i>m</i> *= 1	0.001	0.003	0.356	<i>m</i> *= 1	0.001	0.003	0.355	<i>m</i> *= 1
Ln(ntb)	0.000	0.107		m *= 1	0.000	0.000	0.720	m *= 1	0.000	0.000	0.721	m *= 1
OTB	0.034	0.167		m *= 1	0.004	0.130		m *= 1	0.004	0.130		m *= 1
NTB	0.004	0.043	0.005	m *= 1	0.000	0.000	0.022	<i>m</i> *= 2	0.000	0.000	0.022	m *= 2
TTB	0.004	0.054	0.003	m *= 1	0.007	0.000	0.051	<i>m</i> *= 2	0.000	0.000	0.051	m *= 2
			Table 5.	2c: Linea	rity Tests	: Oil exp	orters (p	- values)			
Dependent variable	Baseline r	model			Model wit	h RER			Model with	RER and dor	nestic oil pric	ce
	m = 0	m = 1	<i>m</i> = 2	<i>m</i> *	m = 0	m = 1	<i>m</i> = 2	<i>m</i> *	m = 0	m = 1	<i>m</i> = 2	<i>m</i> *
Ln(ttb)	0.267			m *= 0	0.181			m *= 0	0.181			m *= 0
Ln(ntb)	0.188			m *= 0	0.484	0.016	0.326	m *= 2	0.484	0.016	0.326	<i>m</i> *= 2
Ln(otb)	0.814			m *= 0	0.839			m *= 0	0.839			m *= 0
OTB	0.709			m *= 0	0.562			m *= 0	0.562			m *= 0
NTB	0.113			m *= 0	0.026	0.011	0.101	<i>m</i> *= 2	0.027	0.011	0.100	<i>m</i> *= 2
TTB	0.173			m *= 0	0.171			m *= 0	0.171			m *= 0

Table 5.2a: Linearity Tests: Full sample (ρ – values)

Notes: m refers to the number of thresholds or regimes. m=0 refers to testing the null hypothesis of a linear model against the alternative of a PSTR model with two regimes. m=1 refers to testing the null hypothesis of a PSTR with two regimes against the alternative of a PSTR with three regimes. m=2 refers to testing the null hypothesis of a PSTR with three regimes against the alternative of a PSTR with four regimes. The optimal value of m, i.e. m*, is selected based on the strongest rejection of the null hypothesis. Ln(ttb) and Ln(ntb) refer to our preferred overall and nonoil trade balance measures in equations (i) respectively. OTB, NTB and TTB refer to the oil, nonoil and overall trade balances as a percentage of GDP, as in equations (ii).

5.4.2.1. The effects of oil prices on the trade balances of the full sample of SSA countries:

The first column of Table 5.3a shows the coefficients from the overall trade balance model for the full sample using the baseline model in equation (4). The threshold value of the logarithm of financial integration as a proportion of GDP is 0.66, which is 193.5% of GDP³⁹. The second and third columns show the results using the real exchange rate and domestic real oil price respectively

The baseline model shows that the oil price effect on the overall balance is insignificant for both oil importers and exporters above and below the threshold value. This result is expected for the lower regime but not the upper regime, as higher levels of integration should be associated with higher overall trade balance response. The table shows that the effect of financial integration itself is nonlinear in an intuitive way: increased financial integration matters more for less financially integrated economies. For economies with higher levels of integration, the effect of further financial integration is diminished. This shows that less financially integrated economies have the most to gain from higher integration. The coefficients of the income measure across regimes imply that, at higher levels of financial integration, the effect of relative world income on the overall balance is higher. This is consistent with the notion that increased integration in global markets exposes countries to global income shocks.

The middle panel of Table 5.3a shows that the results are robust to using the real exchange rate instead of the terms of trade, with the added statistical significance of the income measure in the lower regime. The last column of Table 5.3a shows that the results are again robust to using the domestic real oil price instead of the US dollar real oil price. Here, the real exchange rate gains statistical significance in both regimes. The coefficients imply that at lower levels of financial integration, a real depreciation matters more for the trade balance than at higher levels. Since a real depreciation should make exports cheaper to foreigners while making imports more expensive, it should improve the trade balance. However, for economies that are well integrated in international financial markets, a real depreciation also has a potential valuation effect: it would alter the value of returns favourably, since foreign assets are usually

³⁹ Since the threshold value is expressed in natural logarithmic terms (see equation (ii)), its value expressed as a percentage is the exponential of the threshold value (in logs) multiplied by 100.

denominated in foreign currencies (especially the Dollar), and liabilities in domestic currency (Gourinchas and Rey, 2005). This effectively increases the income of these countries relative to less financially integrated ones, such that the reduction in their imports following a depreciation may be relatively less, leading to a lesser response of the trade balance.

Baseline Model			Model with RER			Model with RER and de	omestic real oil pric	e
Variable	Coefficient	t-statistic	Variable	Coefficient	t-statistic	Variable	Coefficient	t-statistic
∆lnroilp _{t−1}	0.0097	0.1574	∆lnroilp _{t−1}	-0.0205	-0.2938	∆lnroilp _{t−1}	-0.1507	-0.6470
lnfint _{t-1}	0.1644***	3.1847	lnfint _{t-1}	0.2349***	2.7041	lnfint _{t-1}	0.5704***	2.9491
∆lnroilp _{t−1} * OX	0.2117	1.1113	Δ lnroilp _{t-1} * OX	0.1582	0.7494	∆lnroilp _{t−1} * OX	-0.5333	-0.9795
Δ lntot _{t-1}	-0.0122	-0.0913	$\Delta lnrer_{t-1}$	0.0388	0.3500	Δ lnrer _{t-1}	0.7881**	2.0294
∆gdpdiff _{t−1}	-0.4231	-1.5197	$\Delta gdpdiff_{t-1}$	-0.8801***	-2.3661	$\Delta gdpdiff_{t-1}$	-3.8487***	-3.6009
∆lnroilp _{t-1} *G	0.2086	1.0867	∆lnroilp _{t-1} *G	0.2404	1.4098	∆lnroilp _{t−1} *G	0.3433	0.9342
lnfint _{t-1} *G	-0.2556***	-3.8507	lnfint _{t-1} *G	-0.2789***	-2.8081	lnfint _{t-1} *G	-0.6261***	-2.9376
∆lnroilp _{t−1} * OX*G	-0.4053	-0.9961	∆lnroilp _{t−1} * 0X*G	0.1007	0.2710	∆lnroilp _{t−1} * 0X*G	0.8908	1.2114
∆lntot _{t−1} *G	0.3426	1.1068	∆lnrer _{t−1} *G	-0.1207	-0.7609	∆lnrer _{t−1} *G	-1.3840***	-2.3800
$\Delta gdpdiff_{t-1}$ *G	1.6513***	2.9039	$\Delta gdpdiff_{t-1}$ *G	2.7193***	4.2656	$\Delta gdpdiff_{t-1}$ *G	5.7929***	4.0002
Slope Coefficient $\hat{\gamma}$	13.34		Slope Coefficient $\hat{\gamma}$	14.36		Slope Coefficient $\hat{\gamma}$	10.97	
Theshold Value ĉ	0.66 (193.5%)		Theshold Value ĉ	0.65(191.5%)		Theshold Value ĉ	0.65(191.5%)	
Ta	ble 5.3b: Panel S	Smooth Regress	ion Model estimates o	of the non-oil tra	de balance equ	ation for SSA countri	es, 1990-2010.	
Baseline Model			Model with RER			Model with RER and c	lomestic real oil pri	ce
Variable	Coefficient	t-statistic	Variable	Coefficient	t-statistic	Variable	Coefficient	t-statistic
Δ lnroilp _{t-1}	0.1095*	1.7704	Δ lnroilp _{t-1}	0.1361	1.3775	Δ lnroilp _{t-1}	0.0806	1.3125
lnfint _{t-1}	0.3548***	3.6228	lnfint _{t-1}	0.2056*	1.7612	lnfint _{t-1}	0.3980***	3.8016
$\Delta lnroilp_{t-1} * OX$	-0.3039	-0.9373	Δ lnroilp _{t-1} * OX	-1.1273*	-1.9304	Δ lnroilp _{t-1} * OX	-0.1957	-0.6495
Δ lntot _{t-1}	-0.0196	-0.1097	$\Delta lnrer_{t-1}$	1.0967***	4.5396	$\Delta lnrer_{t-1}$	0.0811	0.4379
$\Delta gdpdiff_{t-1}$	-0.1907	-0.4838	$\Delta gdpdiff_{t-1}$	0.3682	0.3519	$\Delta gdpdiff_{t-1}$	-0.3454	-0.8517
∆lnroilp _{t−1} *G	1.3688	1.1254	∆lnroilp _{t-1} *G	0.0380	0.3019	∆lnroilp _{t−1} *G	-0.4387	-1.0150
lnfint _{t-1} *G	-0.4061***	-3.2181	lnfint _{t-1} *G	0.0070	0.0355	lnfint _{t-1} *G	-0.3810***	-2.7259
∆lnroilp _{t−1} * 0X*G	8.6362	0.9328	∆lnroilp _{t−1} * 0X*G	1.0831	1.4779	∆lnroilp _{t−1} * OX*G	6.1616***	3.1558
∆lntot _{t-1} *G	7.6723	1.4312	∆lnrer _{t-1} *G	-0.9216***	-2.9758	∆lnrer _{t-1} *G	-0.4597	-0.3734
∆gdpdiff _{t-1} *G	-8.7383	-1.3688	∆gdpdiff _{t-1} *G	-0.8480	-0.7449	$\Delta gdpdiff_{t-1}*G$	-1.3933	-0.7551
Slope Coefficient $\hat{\gamma}$	16.36		Slope Coefficient $\hat{\gamma}$	222.97		Slope Coefficient $\hat{\gamma}$	32.05	
Theshold Value ĉ	1.38(397.5%)		Theshold Value ĉ	-0.044(95.7%)		Theshold Value ĉ	1.236(344.2%)	

 Table 5.3a: Panel Smooth Regression Model estimates of the overall trade balance equation for SSA countries, 1990-2010.

Table 5.3b shows the response of the full sample's nonoil trade balance. Here the threshold is much higher at 1.38 or 397.5% of GDP. This indicates that the lower threshold for the overall balance reflects the inclusion of the oil balance for which there is no threshold. The baseline model shows that the effect of an oil price increase on the nonoil trade balance of oil importers is positive and significant below the threshold. This is consistent with expectations: oil price increases matter only for less financially integrated economies' non-oil trade balances. More integrated economies are able to smooth consumption and avoid fluctuations in their non-oil balances by accessing foreign capital. This is consistent with Bodenstein et al. (2011). The effect is insignificant for oil importers in the upper regime and for oil exporters in both regimes. The coefficient of financial integrated economies. The terms of trade and income measures have no significant effects across regimes.

However, the middle panel shows that this oil price effect is not robust to using the real exchange rate instead of the terms of trade. Here the coefficients are insignificant for oil importers in both regimes and negative for oil exporters in the lower regime. The latter result implies that an oil price increase matters less for the nonoil balance of less financially integrated oil exporters, inconsistent with expectations. The effects of a real depreciation again point to valuation effects. Financial integration is only significant in the lower regime, but it is again positive. The last column of Table 5.3b shows the results using the real exchange rate and the domestic real oil price as opposed to the US dollar real oil price. Financial integration continues to have positive effects below the threshold and negative effects above it. Contrary to expectations, it appears here that oil price increases matter more for oil exporters with levels of integration higher than the threshold value, and the coefficient in the lower regime loses statistical significance. All other variables are also insignificant.

Clearly, the models estimated appear unstable and the coefficients of some variables are not robust to changing the parameters of the model. The results for oil exporters are particularly weak and unexpected. To identify the source of this inconsistency therefore, the oil importer and oil exporter sub-samples are considered separately.

5.4.2.2. The effects of oil prices on the trade balance of SSA oil importers:

Table 5.4a shows estimates from for oil importers' overall trade balance. In the baseline model, the threshold value of financial integration is 0.597, which is 181.7% of GDP.

This is close to the estimated threshold for the full sample. The second and third columns show the results using the real exchange rate and domestic real oil price respectively. In the baseline model, the coefficient of the real oil price is not significant for the overall trade balance in both regimes. Again, this insignificant effect is expected for the lower regime but not the upper regime. The effects of financial integration are consistent with the results from the full sample, as increased integration becomes less important at higher levels of integration. Here again, the effects of the income measure indicate that higher relative world income is more important for more financially integrated economies. It is seen from the middle column of Table 5.4a that using the real exchange rate instead of the terms of trade, a real oil price increase still has no effects on the overall trade balance in both regimes. The effects of financial integration and the real exchange rate also remain the same. The last column of Table 5.4a shows that using the domestic real oil price instead of the US dollar real oil price does not change the results.

Table 5.4b shows the response of oil importers' non-oil trade balance. Again, the baseline model is presented in the first column. As in the full sample, the threshold value here is higher at 0.831, or 229.6% of GDP. The coefficients of the oil price show that oil prices are more important for the nonoil balance below the threshold. This is consistent with expectations: when the oil price increases, these economies need to run larger non-oil trade surpluses to offset their oil trade deficits because they are constrained in borrowing abroad to smooth consumption. In line with Bodenstein et al. (2011) and Kilian et al. (2009), the more financially integrated the economy, the more it is able to avoid fluctuations in its non-oil trade balance through accessing foreign capital. Accordingly, the nonoil trade balance shows a lower response to increased oil prices in the upper regime. The effects of the income measure and financial integration are consistent with those found for the overall balance. The second and third columns of Table 5.4b show that the results are robust to using the real exchange rate and the domestic real oil price. As with the overall trade balance, the coefficients of a real depreciation point to valuation effects.

5.4.2.3. The effects of oil prices on the trade balance of SSA oil exporters:

As shown in Table 5.2c, linearity tests for oil exporters show that there are no significant threshold effects for the oil, nonoil and overall trade balances using the baseline model. Threshold effects are only apparent for the non-oil trade balance using the real exchange rate and domestic real oil price. This linearity helps explains the

unstable and inconsistent results using the full sample. With only 8 oil exporters, the number of observations is limited such that even in the full sample, only a small number of observations belonging to oil exporters remain in each regime over time. That some of these oil exporters have oil imports up to 55% of total exports further complicates the results.

Still, the PSTR model is estimated for the non-oil trade balance using the real exchange rate and the domestic real oil price, since the thresholds are significant in these cases. Results are presented in Table 5.5. An oil price increase has a negative and significant coefficient when financial integration is below the threshold value of 0.69 or 199% of GDP. The effect is however positive and significant above the threshold. This implies that the effects oil prices increase with the level of financial integration. This is contrary to expectations, as the non-oil balances of more financially integrated oil exporters should respond less to oil price increases. Financial integration itself has no significant impact in both regimes. The income measure has a positive coefficient below the threshold and a negative one above it, contrary to the results obtained for oil importers. It suggests that for oil exporters, the effect of increased relative world income is higher for less financially integrated economies. A real depreciation has positive effects below the threshold and negative effects above it, again pointing to possible valuation effects. The results using the domestic real oil price are very similar, as shown in the second column. Taken together, the oil price effect for oil exporters is inconsistent with expectations and does not support the findings of Kilian et al. (2009) or Bodenstein et al. (2011). This is not surprising since the nonlinearity identified is not robust to using the terms of trade or, as will be shown, to controlling for the 2008-2010 global financial crisis.

Baseline Model			Model with RER			Model with RER and domestic real oil price			
Variable	Coefficient	t-statistic	Variable	Coefficient	t-statistic	Variable	Coefficient	t-statistic	
∆lnroilp _{t-1}	-0.0086	-0.1468	∆lnroilp _{t-1}	-0.0243	-0.3653	∆lnroilp _{t−1}	-0.0243	-0.3649	
lnfint _{t-1}	0.1272***	2.5718	lnfint _{t-1}	0.2486***	4.2835	lnfint _{t-1}	0.2486***	4.2834	
Δ Intot _{t-1}	-0.1489	-1.0022	∆lnrer _{t−1}	0.5164***	3.4372	$\Delta lnrer_{t-1}$	0.5407***	3.4310	
$\Delta gdpdiff_{t-1}$	0.0916	0.4117	$\Delta gdpdiff_{t-1}$	-0.3601	-1.1071	$\Delta gdpdiff_{t-1}$	-0.3602	-1.1073	
∆lnroilp _{t-1} *G	0.2137	1.3432	∆lnroilp _{t−1} *G	0.1785	1.0160	∆lnroilp _{t−1} *G	0.1783	1.0151	
lnfint _{t-1} *G	-0.1320*	-1.9240	lnfint _{t-1} *G	-0.2744***	-3.2328	lnfint _{t-1} *G	-0.2744***	-3.2326	
Δ Intot _{t-1} *G	0.3444	0.8052	∆lnrer _{t-1} *G	-1.1426***	-2.5085	∆lnrer _{t-1} *G	-1.3212***	-2.7868	
$\Delta gdpdiff_{t-1}*G$	1.5973**	2.0323	$\Delta gdpdiff_{t-1}^*G$	2.0761**	2.1927	$\Delta gdpdiff_{t-1}^*G$	2.0763**	2.1928	
Slope Coefficient $\hat{\gamma}$	325.99		Slope Coefficient $\hat{\gamma}$	6.43		Slope Coefficient $\hat{\gamma}$	6.43		
Theshold Value ĉ	0.597(181.7%)		Theshold Value ĉ	0.476(161%)		Theshold Value c	0.477(161%)		
Table 5.4b: Panel Smooth Regression Model estimates of the non-oil trade balance equation for oil importing SSA countries, 1990-2010.									
1 able 5.4	D: Fallel Sillooti	i Kegression Mo	uel estimates of the f	ion-on trade Data	ance equation to	of on importing SSA	countries, 1990-	2010.	
Baseline Model	io: ranei Sinooti	r Kegression wio	Model with RER	ion-on ti aue Data	ance equation to	Model with RER and	domestic real oil pr	rice	
Baseline Model Variable	Coefficient	t-statistic	Model with RER Variable	Coefficient	t-statistic	Model with RER and Variable	domestic real oil pr Coefficient	rice t-statistic	
Table 5.4Baseline ModelVariable Δ lnroilp $_{t-1}$	Coefficient 0.2149***	t-statistic 2.7842	Model with RER Variable Δ lnroilp _{t-1}	Coefficient 0.1184*	t-statistic 1.6737	Model with RER and Variable Δ lnroilp _{t-1}	domestic real oil pr Coefficient 0.1184*	t-statistic 1.6734	
Table 5.4Baseline ModelVariable Δ Inroilp $_{t-1}$ Infint $_{t-1}$	Coefficient 0.2149*** 0.2534*	t-statistic 2.7842 1.7941	Model with RER Variable Δ lnroilp _{t-1} lnfint _{t-1}	Coefficient 0.1184* 0.3616***	t-statistic 1.6737 6.1455	Model with RER and Variable Δ Inroilp _{t-1} Infint _{t-1}	domestic real oil pr Coefficient 0.1184* 0.3616***	t-statistic 1.6734 6.1458	
Table 5.4Baseline ModelVariable Δ lnroilp _{t-1} lnfint _{t-1} Δ lntot _{t-1}	Coefficient 0.2149*** 0.2534* -0.3451	t-statistic 2.7842 1.7941 -1.3565	$\frac{\text{Model with RER}}{\text{Variable}}$ $\frac{\Delta \text{Inroilp}_{t-1}}{\ln \text{fint}_{t-1}}$	Coefficient 0.1184* 0.3616*** 0.4640***	<u>t-statistic</u> 1.6737 6.1455 2.7568	Model with RER andVariable Δ lnroilpt-1lnfintt-1 Δ lnrert-1	domestic real oil pr Coefficient 0.1184* 0.3616*** 0.3457**	tice t-statistic 1.6734 6.1458 1.9689	
Table 5.4Baseline ModelVariable Δ Inroilpt-1Infintt-1 Δ Intott-1 Δ gdpdifft-1	Coefficient 0.2149*** 0.2534* -0.3451 -0.3931*	t-statistic 2.7842 1.7941 -1.3565 -1.8522	Model with RERModel with RERVariable Δ Inroilpt-1Infintt-1 Δ Inrert-1 Δ gdpdifft-1	Coefficient 0.1184* 0.3616*** 0.4640*** -1.1591***	<u>t-statistic</u> 1.6737 6.1455 2.7568 -3.0924	Model with RER andVariable Δ lnroilpt-1lnfintt-1 Δ lnrert-1 Δ gdpdifft-1	domestic real oil pr <u>Coefficient</u> 0.1184* 0.3616*** 0.3457** -1.1593***	tice t-statistic 1.6734 6.1458 1.9689 -3.0927	
Table 5.4Baseline ModelVariable Δ Inroilpt-1Infintt-1 Δ Intott-1 Δ gdpdifft-1 Δ Inroilpt-1*G	Coefficient 0.2149*** 0.2534* -0.3451 -0.3931* -0.1504	t-statistic 2.7842 1.7941 -1.3565 -1.8522 -0.8026	Model with RERModel with RERVariable Δ Inroilp _{t-1} Infint _{t-1} Δ Inrer _{t-1} Δ gdpdiff _{t-1} Δ Inroilp _{t-1} *G	Coefficient 0.1184* 0.3616*** 0.4640*** -1.1591*** -0.0124	t-statistic 1.6737 6.1455 2.7568 -3.0924 -0.0582	Model with RER andVariable Δ lnroilpt-1lnfintt-1 Δ lnrert-1 Δ gdpdifft-1 Δ lnroilpt-1*G	domestic real oil pr Coefficient 0.1184* 0.3616*** 0.3457** -1.1593*** -0.0126	t-statistic 1.6734 6.1458 1.9689 -3.0927 -0.0591	
Table 3.4Baseline ModelVariable Δ Inroilpt-1Infintt-1 Δ Intott-1 Δ gdpdifft-1 Δ Inroilpt-1*GInfintt-1*G	Coefficient 0.2149*** 0.2534* -0.3451 -0.3931* -0.1504 -0.2169*	t-statistic 2.7842 1.7941 -1.3565 -1.8522 -0.8026 -1.6610	Model with RERVariable Δ lnroilpt-1lnfintt-1 Δ lnrert-1 Δ gdpdifft-1 Δ lnroilpt-1*Glnfintt-1*G	Coefficient 0.1184* 0.3616*** 0.4640*** -1.1591*** -0.0124 -0.4166***	t-statistic 1.6737 6.1455 2.7568 -3.0924 -0.0582 -5.1454	Model with RER andVariable Δ lnroilpt-1lnfintt-1 Δ lnrert-1 Δ gdpdifft-1 Δ lnroilpt-1*Glnfintt-1*G	domestic real oil pr Coefficient 0.1184* 0.3616*** 0.3457** -1.1593*** -0.0126 -0.4166***	t-statistic 1.6734 6.1458 1.9689 -3.0927 -0.0591 -5.1457	
Table 3.4Baseline ModelVariable Δ Inroilpt-1Infintt-1 Δ Intott-1 Δ gdpdifft-1 Δ Inroilpt-1*GInfintt-1*G Δ Intott-1*G	Coefficient 0.2149*** 0.2534* -0.3451 -0.3931* -0.1504 -0.2169* 0.5352	t-statistic 2.7842 1.7941 -1.3565 -1.8522 -0.8026 -1.6610 1.1172	Model with RERModel with RERVariable Δ Inroilpt-1Infintt-1 Δ Inrert-1 Δ gdpdifft-1 Δ Inroilpt-1*GInfintt-1*G Δ Inrert-1*G	Coefficient 0.1184* 0.3616*** 0.4640*** -1.1591*** -0.0124 -0.4166*** -1.2955***	t-statistic 1.6737 6.1455 2.7568 -3.0924 -0.0582 -5.1454 -2.3287	Model with RER andVariable Δ lnroilpt-1lnfintt-1 Δ lnrert-1 Δ gdpdifft-1 Δ lnroilpt-1*Glnfintt-1*G Δ lnrert-1*G	domestic real oil pr Coefficient 0.1184* 0.3616*** 0.3457** -1.1593*** -0.0126 -0.4166*** -1.2833**	tice t-statistic 1.6734 6.1458 1.9689 -3.0927 -0.0591 -5.1457 -2.1708	
$\begin{tabular}{lllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	Coefficient 0.2149*** 0.2534* -0.3451 -0.3931* -0.1504 -0.2169* 0.5352 2.7210***	t-statistic 2.7842 1.7941 -1.3565 -1.8522 -0.8026 -1.6610 1.1172 3.6524	Model with RERModel with RERVariable Δ Inroilp _{t-1} $\ln fint_{t-1}$ Δ Inrer _{t-1} Δ gdpdiff _{t-1} Δ Inroilp _{t-1} *G $\ln fint_{t-1}$ *G Δ Inrer _{t-1} *G Δ gdpdiff _{t-1} *G	Coefficient 0.1184* 0.3616*** 0.4640*** -1.1591*** -0.0124 -0.4166*** -1.2955*** 3.7486***	t-statistic 1.6737 6.1455 2.7568 -3.0924 -0.0582 -5.1454 -2.3287 3.0036	Model with RER andVariable Δ lnroilpt-1lnfintt-1 Δ lnrert-1 Δ gdpdifft-1 Δ lnroilpt-1*Glnfintt-1*G Δ lnrert-1*G Δ lnrert-1*G Δ lnrert-1*G Δ gdpdifft-1*G	domestic real oil pr Coefficient 0.1184* 0.3616*** 0.3457** -1.1593*** -0.0126 -0.4166*** -1.2833** 3.7490***	t-statistic 1.6734 6.1458 1.9689 -3.0927 -0.0591 -5.1457 -2.1708 3.0037	
Table 3.4Baseline ModelVariable Δ Inroilpt-1 $\ln fint_{t-1}$ Δ gdpdifft-1 Δ Inroilpt-1*G $\ln fint_{t-1}$ *G Δ Intott-1*G Δ gdpdifft-1 Δ gdpdifft-1 Δ Slope Coefficient $\hat{\gamma}$	Coefficient 0.2149*** 0.2534* -0.3451 -0.3931* -0.1504 -0.2169* 0.5352 2.7210*** 999.31	t-statistic 2.7842 1.7941 -1.3565 -1.8522 -0.8026 -1.6610 1.1172 3.6524	Model with RERModel with RERVariable Δ Inroilpt-1 \ln fintt-1 Δ gdpdifft-1 Δ gdpdifft-1 Δ Inroilpt-1*G \ln fintt-1*G Δ Inrert-1*G Δ gdpdifft-1*GSlope Coefficient $\hat{\gamma}$	Coefficient 0.1184* 0.3616*** 0.4640*** -1.1591*** -0.0124 -0.4166*** -1.2955*** 3.7486*** 3.53	t-statistic 1.6737 6.1455 2.7568 -3.0924 -0.0582 -5.1454 -2.3287 3.0036	Model with RER andVariable Δ Inroilpt-1 $\ln fint_{t-1}$ Δ Inrert-1 Δ gdpdifft-1 Δ Inroilpt-1*G $\ln fint_{t-1}$ *G Δ Inrert-1*G Δ gdpdifft-1 Δ sdpdifft-1*G Δ slope Coefficient $\hat{\gamma}$	domestic real oil pr Coefficient 0.1184* 0.3616*** 0.3457** -1.1593*** -0.0126 -0.4166*** -1.2833** 3.7490*** 3.53	t-statistic t-statistic 1.6734 6.1458 1.9689 -3.0927 -0.0591 -5.1457 -2.1708 3.0037	

Table 5.4a: Panel Smooth Regression Model estimates of the overall trade balance equation for oil importing SSA countries, 1990-2010.

Model with RER			Model with RER	and domest	ic real oil	
Variable	Coefficient	t-statistic	Variable	Coefficient	t-statistic	
Δ lnroilp _{t-1}	-2.0383***	-3.1723	Δ lnroilp _{t-1}	-2.0384***	-3.1740	
lnfint _{t-1}	-4.5747	-0.8948	lnfint _{t-1}	-4.5782	-0.8957	
$\Delta lnrer_{t-1}$	5.1091***	5.1264	$\Delta lnrer_{t-1}$	7.1496***	4.8753	
$\Delta gdpdiff_{t-1}$	28.8447***	4.8889	$\Delta gdpdiff_{t-1}$	28.8557***	4.8877	
∆lnroilp _{t−1} *G	1.7013***	2.0952	∆lnroilp _{t-1} *G	1.7019***	2.0968	
lnfint _{t-1} *G	4.7839	1.0645	lnfint _{t-1} *G	4.7872	1.0655	
∆lnrer _{t−1} *G	-3.0294***	-2.5398	$\Delta lnrer_{t-1}^*G$	-4.7331***	-2.7237	
$\Delta gdpdiff_{t-1}^*G$	-	-5.0408	$\Delta gdpdiff_{t-1}^*G$	-	-5.0395	
Slope	3774.71		Slope	3774.71		
Theshold Value ĉ 0.688(199			Theshold Value ¿ 0.688(199			
* ~ < 0.1 ** ~ < 0.04	***					

Table 5.5: Panel Smooth Regression Model estimates of the non-oil trade balance equationfor oil exporting SSA countries, 1990-2010.

5.4.2.4. Robustness to alternative trade balance measures:

Tables 5.6a, 5.6b and 5.6c show the coefficient estimates from the PSTR model for the full sample using the overall, nonoil and oil trade balances as percentages of GDP respectively. Tables 5.7a, 5.7b and 5.7c report the corresponding results for oil importers. Results are again presented using the real exchange rate and terms of trade. For oil exporters, the transition function using these measures has no variance, indicating that most of the observations lie in one regime and the PSTR cannot be estimated. This again likely reflects the limited sample size.

It can be seen that for the full sample's overall trade balance, the oil price still has no effect for both oil importers and exporters above and below the threshold. Financial integration maintains a positive effect below the threshold and a negative effect above it.

percentage of OD1) equation for Solv countries, 1990 actor							
Baseline model			Model with RER ar	nd domestic real	oil price		
Variable	Coefficient	t-statistic	Variable	Coefficient	t-statistic		
∆lnroilp _{t−1}	1.1020	0.9627	∆lnroilp _{t−1}	2.5142	0.8692		
lnfint _{t-1}	4.9900***	3.4972	lnfint _{t-1}	10.0873***	3.1457		
$\Delta lnroilp_{t-1} * OX$	2.6021	0.7814	Δ lnroilp _{t-1} * OX	-2.8226	-0.3713		
Δ Intot _{t-1}	4.1430	1.5034	∆lnrer _{t−1}	1.0276	0.1692		
$\Delta gdpdiff_{t-1}$	-12.2202	-1.0659	$\Delta gdpdiff_{t-1}$	-55.2593***	-2.5825		
∆lnroilp _{t-1} *G	-2.0112	-0.2468	∆lnroilp _{t-1} *G	-3.7464	-0.4582		
lnfint _{t-1} *G	-9.1102***	-3.6306	lnfint _{t-1} *G	-13.6866***	-3.2898		
∆lnroilp _{t−1} *			∆lnroilp _{t−1} *				
OX*G	3.8076	0.3933	OX*G	25.7876	1.3657		
∆lntot _{t−1} *G	6.7905	0.5734	∆lnrer _{t−1} *G	-18.2809	-1.0195		
∆gdpdiff _{t-1} *G	100.7932***	2.1871	∆gdpdiff _{t-1} *G	149.3858***	2.9541		
Slope			Slope				
Coefficient $\hat{\gamma}$	7.51		Coefficient $\hat{\gamma}$	7.28			
				0.98(263.8%			
Theshold Value ĉ	0.97(263.8)		Theshold Value ĉ)			
p < 0.1, p < 0.03	5, *** $p < 0.01$						

Robustness to Alternative Trade Balance Measures: Full Sample Table 5.6a: Panel Smooth Regression Model estimates of the overall trade balance (as a percentage of GDP) equation for SSA countries, 1990-2010.

Table 5.6b: Panel Smooth Regression Model estimates of the nonoil trade balance (as a
percentage of GDP) equation for SSA countries, 1990-2010.

Baseline model	model Model with RER and domestic real oil price							
Variable	Coefficient	t-statistic	Variable	Coefficient	t-statistic			
∆lnroilp _{t−1}	1.6473*	1.7444	∆lnroilp _{t−1}	1.7865*	1.7824			
lnfint _{t-1}	2.8560***	2.7691	lnfint _{t-1}	3.1852***	3.0135			
Δ lnroilp _{t-1} * OX	-4.7523***	-2.2604	∆lnroilp _{t−1} * OX	-5.0551***	-2.3505			
Δ Intot _{t-1}	-1.2156	-0.5021	$\Delta lnrer_{t-1}$	-0.9331	-0.5006			
$\Delta gdpdiff_{t-1}$	8.4656	1.0966	$\Delta gdpdiff_{t-1}$	8.1054	1.0478			
∆lnroilp _{t−1} *G	-12.1350	-1.5217	∆lnroilp _{t−1} *G	-7.7838	-1.1164			
lnfint _{t-1} *G	-5.3821***	-3.6106	lnfint _{t-1} *G	-5.8394***	-3.5912			
∆lnroilp _{t−1} *			∆lnroilp _{t−1} *					
OX*G	113.7918***	3.9222	OX*G	76.6206***	3.4604			
∆lntot _{t-1} *G	-20.5705	-0.9849	∆lnrer _{t−1} *G	22.6110	1.3407			
∆gdpdiff _{t-1} *G	101.6070***	4.2776	∆gdpdiff _{t-1} *G	89.6058***	3.9511			
Slope			Slope					
Coefficient $\hat{\gamma}$	27.4		Coefficient $\hat{\gamma}$	27.12				
				1.24(345.6%				
Theshold Value ĉ	1.25(349%)		Theshold Value ĉ)				
p < 0.1, p < 0.05	p < 0.1, p < 0.05, p < 0.01							

I		, 1	,		
Baseline model			Model with RER ar	nd domestic real	l oil price
Variable	Coefficient	t-statistic	Variable	Coefficient	t-statistic
∆lnroilp _{t-1}	-1.1074**	-2.0634	Δ lnroilp _{t-1}	-2.2406	-1.1546
lnfint _{t-1}	1.6167	1.4097	lnfint _{t-1}	4.1027	1.0177
Δ lnroilp _{t-1} * OX	7.7290***	2.5973	Δ lnroilp _{t-1} * OX	12.2510***	2.6340
Δ lntot _{t-1}	6.4521***	2.8500	$\Delta lnrer_{t-1}$	-4.8537	-0.9439
$\Delta gdpdiff_{t-1}$	-19.3771**	-2.3094	$\Delta gdpdiff_{t-1}$	-40.2705***	-2.3505
∆lnroilp _{t-1} *G	-1.1223	-0.3486	∆lnroilp _{t-1} *G	2.9946	0.7113
lnfint _{t-1} *G	-5.6070***	-2.9154	lnfint _{t-1} *G	-6.5182**	-2.2217
$\Delta \ln \operatorname{roilp}_{t-1} *$			Δ lnroilp _{t-1} *		
OX*G	-5.9200	-0.4683	OX*G	-0.4557	-0.0271
∆lntot _{t−1} *G	2.7964	0.2189	∆lnrer _{t-1} *G	-13.6071	-0.9726
$\Delta gdpdiff_{t-1} *G$	58.2129	1.1284	$\Delta gdpdiff_{t-1} *G$	50.2996	1.0319
Slope			Slope		
Coefficient $\hat{\gamma}$	387.7		Coefficient $\hat{\gamma}$	1349.35	
	1.02(277.3%			1.013(275.4	
Theshold Value ĉ)		Theshold Value ĉ	%)	
n < 0.1 ** $n < 0.05$	n < 0.01				

Table 5.6c: Panel Smooth Regression Model estimates of the oil trade balance (as a percentage of GDP) equation for SSA countries, 1990-2010.

Robustness to Alternative Trade Balance Measures: Oil importers
 Table 5.7a: Panel Smooth Regression Model estimates of the overall trade balance
 (as a percentage of GDP) equation for oil importing SSA countries, 1990-2010.

Baseline model	P		Model with RER a	nd domestic rea	l oil price
Variable	Coefficient	t-statistic	Variable	Coefficient	t-statistic
∆lnroilp _{t−1}	-2.1147	-0.4948	∆lnroilp _{t−1}	9.3431	1.0162
lnfint _{t-1}	-7.6017	-1.2082	lnfint _{t-1}	13.9392**	4.0849
Δ Intot _{t-1}	-26.9110*	-1.6927	$\Delta lnrer_{t-1}$	22.3524	1.0603
				-	
Δ gdpdiff _{t-1}	-4.7126	-1.0382	Δ gdpdiff _{t-1}	126.7633***	-3.4749
∆lnroilp _{t-1} *G	2.4155	0.5206	∆lnroilp _{t−1} *G	-16.9185	-1.0003
lnfint _{t-1} *G	5.3652	1.1948	lnfint _{t-1} *G	-16.5638***	-4.1112
$\Delta lntot_{t-1} *G$	22.5615	1.4170	∆lnrer _{t-1} *G	-42.2378	-1.0508
$\Delta gdpdiff_{t-1} *G$	22.8613	1.7150	$\Delta gdpdiff_{t-1} *G$	257.3528***	3.6666
Slope			Slope		
Coefficient $\hat{\gamma}$	24240.67		Coefficient $\hat{\gamma}$	3.32	
				1.09(297.4%	
Theshold Value ĉ	0.30(135%)		Theshold Value ĉ)	
p < 0.1, p < 0.0	$15, {}^{***} p < 0.01$				

			Model with RE	R and domest	tic real oil			
Baseline model			price					
Variable	Coefficient	t-statistic	Variable	Coefficient	t-statistic			
∆lnroilp _{t−1}	2.2855**	2.1734	Δ lnroilp _{t-1}	1.7634*	1.6635			
lnfint _{t-1}	5.1532***	2.6857	lnfint _{t-1}	5.5692***	3.8224			
Δ lntot _{t-1}	-2.3515	-0.8432	Δ lnrer _{t-1}	-0.2914	-0.1328			
∆gdpdiff _{t-1}	-2.9485	-0.8336	$\Delta gdpdiff_{t-1}$	0.6333	0.1538			
∆lnroilp _{t-1} *G	-2.0373	-0.5838	∆lnroilp _{t-1} *G	-2.7475	-1.3158			
lnfint _{t-1} *G	-8.2233***	-4.1389	lnfint _{t-1} *G	-6.7999***	-4.1977			
∆lntot _{t−1} *G	-0.8471	-0.0883	∆lnrer _{t−1} *G	-15.838***	-2.5149			
∆gdpdiff _{t-1} *G	41.9524***	2.4809	∆gdpdiff _{t−1} *G	68.7264***	5.8675			
Slope			Slope					
Coefficient $\hat{\gamma}$	814.5		Coefficient $\hat{\gamma}$	1036.4				
	0.80(222.6			1.0(271.8%				
Theshold Value	%)		Theshold Value)				
p < 0.1, p < 0.0	p < 0.1, p < 0.05, p < 0.01							

Table 5.7b: Panel Smooth Regression Model estimates of the nonoil trade balance (as a percentage of GDP) equation for oil importing SSA countries, 1990-2010.

Table 5.7c: Panel Smooth Regression Model estimates of the oil trade balance (as a percentage of GDP) equation for oil importing SSA countries, 1990-2010.

			Model with RE	R and domes	tic real oil			
Baseline model			price					
Variable	Coefficient	t-statistic	Variable	Coefficient	t-statistic			
∆lnroilp _{t−1}	-1.0581***	-3.0825	∆lnroilp _{t−1}	-1.6643***	-4.1587			
lnfint _{t-1}	0.4166	1.0571	lnfint _{t-1}	0.3134	0.8196			
∆lntot _{t−1}	-0.6672	-0.7873	∆lnrer _{t−1}	4.1073***	5.5919			
∆gdpdiff _{t-1}	2.8799	1.6221	$\Delta gdpdiff_{t-1}$	3.6313***	2.4238			
∆lnroilp _{t−1} *G	-1.9437	-1.0575	∆lnroilp _{t−1} *G	-0.8543	-0.4445			
lnfint _{t-1} *G	-2.6900***	-4.0107	lnfint _{t-1} *G	-2.5804***	-3.9987			
∆lntot _{t−1} *G	-1.8025	-0.6110	∆lnrer _{t-1} *G	-7.5943*	-1.7110			
∆gdpdiff _{t-1} *G	3.3567	0.4087	∆gdpdiff _{t-1} *G	3.0356	0.3681			
Slope			Slope					
Coefficient $\hat{\gamma}$	8.34		Coefficient $\hat{\gamma}$	6.63				
-				0.81(224.8				
Theshold Value	0.82(227%)		Theshold Value	%)				
p < 0.1, p < 0.0	p < 0.1, p < 0.05, p < 0.01							

For the full sample's non-oil trade balance, oil importers with levels of financial integration below the threshold value still respond more to oil price increases while oil exporters respond less, consistent with previous results. The effects of financial integration and the income measure in both regimes are also robust. For the oil trade balance, it has already been shown that there is no threshold in the relationship between the variables. However, for completeness, it is shown that below the threshold, oil exporters (importers) respond positively (negatively) to oil price increases in the model using the terms of trade. The effect for oil importers however becomes insignificant if the real exchange rate is used.

For the oil importer subsample, tables 5.7a, 5.7b and 5.7c show that using the alternative trade balance measures does not change the results. Oil price increases still have insignificant effects on the overall trade balance below and above the threshold; and both financial integration and the income measure maintain their effects when the real exchange rate is used. When the terms of trade are used the effects are insignificant. For their non-oil trade balance, the oil price coefficient is still positive and significant below the threshold and insignificant above it, consistent with expectations. The effects of financial integration, the income measure, and the real exchange rate are also robust. Overall therefore, the results are robust to using these alternative trade balance measures.

5.4.2.5. Robustness to the inclusion of crisis dummies:

Here, the robustness of the results to including dummy variables for the 2008-2010 period is checked. The corresponding linearity tests are shown in the Appendix I. It can be seen that all the previous results regarding the presence of thresholds are confirmed. In addition, when the dummies are included, the oil trade threshold for oil importers disappears. This reinforces the result that the relationship between the oil price and the oil trade balance does not depend on a financial integration threshold, as expected. For oil exporters the threshold for the nonoil balance is still not robust to using the terms of trade instead of the real exchange rate.

Tables 5.8a and 5.8b show the estimated coefficients from the PSTR model for the full sample's overall and nonoil trade balance when the crisis dummies are included. The dummies for the overall trade balance are insignificant. However, for the nonoil trade balance, they are significant at the 10% level. Here, the real oil price maintains its positive and significant coefficient in the lower regime for oil importers. Although this is the expected impact, it is clearly not robust to using the real exchange rate and, as previously seen, to omitting the crisis dummies. For oil exporters, the oil price effects are insignificant below the threshold and significantly positive above it, but only when the real exchange rate specification is used. The coefficients of financial integration are different compared to the model without the dummies for oil exporters. This effect is also not robust to using the real exchange rate. Thus, as before, the results using the full sample are unstable and sensitive to changing the parameters of the model. For the full sample's overall trade balance, the sign and significance of the financial integration and income differential variables are consistent with the previous results, as are the

insignificant effects of oil prices across regimes. The coefficients on the real exchange rate however become insignificant.

equation for	equation for the full sample of SSA countries (with crisis dummes), 1990-2010.								
Baseline Model]	Model with RER						
Variable	Coefficient	t-statistic	Variable	Coefficient	t-statistic				
∆lnroilp _{t-1}	0.086	1.317	∆lnroilp _{t−1}	0.083	1.330				
lnfint _{t-1}	0.147***	2.868	lnfint _{t-1}	0.188***	3.63				
			∆lnroilp _{t−1}						
∆lnroilp _{t−1} * OX	0.230	1.204	* OX	0.206	1.109				
Δ lntot _{t-1}	-0.004	-0.028	$\Delta lnrer_{t-1}$	0.016	0.174				
$\Delta gdpdiff_{t-1}$	-0.427	-1.504	$\Delta gdpdiff_{t-1}$	-0.516	-1.717				
∆lnroilp _{t−1} *G	0.202	1.077	∆lnroilp _{t−1} *G	0.220	1.241				
lnfint _{t-1} *G	-0.243***	-3.701	lnfint _{t-1} *G	-0.271***	-3.9				
∆lnroilp _{t−1} *			∆lnroilp _{t−1} *						
OX*G	-0.459	-1.127	OX*G	-0.055	-0.159				
∆lntot _{t-1} *G	0.308	1.008	∆lnrer _{t-1} *G	-0.105	-0.751				
$\Delta gdpdiff_{t-1}*G$	1.666***	2.923	$\Delta gdpdiff_{t-1}*G$	2.182***	3.64				
2008Dummy	-0.071	-0.998	2008Dummy	-0.072	-1.066				
2009Dummy	-0.104*	-1.701	2009Dummy	-0.101*	-1.704				
2010Dummy	0.112*	1.700	2010Dummy	0.117*	1.779				
Slope			Slope						
Coefficient $\hat{\gamma}$	14.55		Coefficient $\hat{\gamma}$	16.5					
Theshold Value ĉ	0.660		Theshold Value	0.654 (192.3%)					
	(193.48%)								
* n < 0.1 ** n < 0	$05^{***} n < 0.01$								

Robustness to including the 2008-20010 crisis dummies

Table 5.8a: Panel Smooth Regression Model estimates of the overall trade balanceequation for the full sample of SSA countries (with crisis dummies), 1990-2010.

* p < 0.1, ** p < 0.05, *** p < 0.01

Baseline Model			Model with RER		
Variable	Coefficient	t-statistic	Variable	Coefficient	t-statistic
∆lnroilp _{t−1}	1.342***	3.525	Δ lnroilp _{t-1}	0.076	0.533
lnfint _{t-1}	-0.892**	-2.08	lnfint _{t-1}	0.182	1.453
∆lnroilp _{t−1}			∆lnroilp _{t−1}		
* OX	1.195*	1.678	* OX	-1.052*	-1.846
Δ lntot _{t-1}	-1.678***	-2.56	$\Delta lnrer_{t-1}$	0.968**	3.876
$\Delta gdpdiff_{t-1}$	-3.945	-0.603	$\Delta gdpdiff_{t-1}$	-0.022	-0.019
∆lnroilp _{t−1} *G	-1.557***	-4.79	∆lnroilp _{t-1} *G	0.051	0.372
lnfint _{t-1} *G	0.573**	2.488	lnfint _{t-1} *G	0.032	0.164
∆lnroilp _{t−1} *			$\Delta lnroilp_{t-1} *$		
OX*G	0.000	0.000	OX*G	0.985	1.398
∆lntot _{t−1} *G	2.149**	1.981	∆lnrer _{t-1} *G	-0.820***	-2.638
∆gdpdiff _{t-1} *G	4.543	0.662	∆gdpdiff _{t-1} *G	-0.492	-0.416
2008Dummy	0.102	0.592	2008Dummy	-0.071	-0.978
2009Dummy	0.124	0.724	2009Dummy	-0.103	-1.162
2010Dummy	0.127	0.279	2010Dummy	-0.157	-0.953
Slope			Slope		
Coefficient $\hat{\gamma}$	6228.792		Coefficient $\hat{\gamma}$	224.952	
Theshold Value (0.935			Theshold Value (-0.045		
ىلەرلە ب	(254.7%)			(104.6%)	

Table 5.8b: Panel Smooth Regression Model estimates of the nonoil trade balanceequation for the full sample of SSA countries (with crisis dummies), 1990-2010.

Table 5.9a: Panel Smooth Regression Model estimates of the overall trade balanceequation for the of SSA oil importers(with crisis dummies), 1990-2010.

1			()					
Model with RER			Model with RER and domestic real oil price					
Variable	Coefficient	t-statistic	Variable	Coefficient	t-statistic			
∆lnroilp _{t−1}	0.071	0.742	∆lnroilp _{t−1}	0.016	0.258			
lnfint _{t-1}	0.142	0.749	lnfint _{t-1}	0.216***	3.627			
Δ lntot _{t-1}	-0.215	-0.729	$\Delta lnrer_{t-1}$	0.385***	2.846			
Δ gdpdiff _{t-1}	0.009	0.042	Δ gdpdiff _{t-1}	-0.243	-0.862			
∆lnroilp _{t−1} *G	0.318*	1.897	∆lnroilp _{t-1} *G	0.178	1.032			
lnfint _{t-1} *G	-0.139	-0.981	lnfint _{t-1} *G	-0.239***	-2.740			
∆lntot _{t-1} *G	0.330	0.686	∆lnrer _{t-1} *G	-1.010**	-2.259			
∆gdpdiff _{t-1} *G	1.845**	2.380	∆gdpdiff _{t−1} *G	1.944**	2.144			
2008Dummy	-0.012	-0.122	2008Dummy	-0.144**	-1.969			
2009Dummy	0.063	0.524	2009Dummy	-0.043	-0.624			
2010Dummy	0.344***	3.287	2010Dummy	0.049	0.657			
Slope			Slope					
Coefficient $\hat{\gamma}$	2006.31		Coefficient $\hat{\gamma}$	7.36				
Theshold Value ĉ	0.596		Theshold Value	0.51				
	(181.48%)			(166.53%)				
p < 0.1, p < 0.05, p < 0.05, p < 0.01								
Baseline Model		del with RER						
----------------------------------	-------------	--------------	----------------------------	-------------	-------------			
Variable	Coefficient	t-statistic	Variable	Coefficient	t-statistic			
∆lnroilp _{t−1}	0.231***	3.620	∆lnroilp _{t-1}	0.205***	3.264			
lnfint _{t-1}	0.199***	3.598	lnfint _{t-1}	0.330***	5.606			
Δ Intot _{t-1}	-0.133	-0.843	$\Delta lnrer_{t-1}$	0.321**	2.289			
$\Delta gdpdiff_{t-1}$	-0.262	-1.313	$\Delta gdpdiff_{t-1}$	-0.761***	-2.60			
∆lnroilp _{t−1} *G	-0.103	-0.603	∆lnroilp _{t-1} *G	-0.011	-0.056			
lnfint _{t-1} *G	-0.240***	-3.147	lnfint _{t-1} *G	-0.394***	-4.81			
∆lntot _{t−1} *G	0.169	0.359	∆lnrer _{t-1} *G	-1.116**	-2.001			
∆gdpdiff _{t-1} *G	3.116***	3.385	$\Delta gdpdiff_{t-1} *G$	3.594***	3.040			
2008Dummy	-0.085	-1.247	2008Dummy	-0.060	-0.899			
2009Dummy	-0.044	-0.602	2009Dummy	-0.013	-0.183			
2010Dummy	0.172**	2.371	2010Dummy	0.178***	2.438			
Slope			Slope					
Coefficient $\hat{\gamma}$	12.56		Coefficient $\hat{\gamma}$	4.21				
Theshold Value (0.838 (231.17%)			Theshold Value	0.71				
				(203.4%)				

Table 5.9b: Panel Smooth Regression Model estimates of the nonoil trade balanceequation for the of SSA oil importers (with crisis dummies), 1990-2010.

p < 0.1, p < 0.05, p < 0.01

Table 5.10: Panel Smooth Regression Model estimates of the nonoil trade balance equationfor the of SSA oil exporters(with crisis dummies), 1990-2010.

		Model with RER		
Coefficient	t-statistic	Variable	Coefficient	t-statistic
-0.929	-1.120	∆lnroilp _{t−1}	-0.914	-1.111
-4.301	-1.212	lnfint _{t-1}	-4.289	-1.200
4.948***	4.702	$\Delta lnrer_{t-1}$	3.995***	3.332
19.663***	4.827	$\Delta gdpdiff_{t-1}$	19.542***	4.831
0.603	0.680	∆lnroilp _{t−1} *G	0.586	0.668
5.485	1.527	lnfint _{t-1} *G	5.476	1.515
-3.820***	-3.27	∆lnrer _{t−1} *G	-3.196**	-2.591
-20.728***	-5.04	∆gdpdiff _{t-1} *G	-20.607***	-5.05
0.415*	1.775	2008Dummy	0.415*	1.776
0.044	0.174	2009Dummy	0.028	0.112
-0.711*	-1.722	2010Dummy	-0.710*	-1.718
		Slope		
7001.9		Coefficient $\hat{\gamma}$	21985.1	
-			-	
0.14(86.93%)		Theshold Value ĉ1	0.14(86.93%)	
0.07(107.3%)		Theshold Value c2	0.08(108.3%)	
	Coefficient -0.929 -4.301 4.948*** 19.663*** 0.603 5.485 -3.820*** -20.728*** 0.415* 0.044 -0.711* 7001.9 - 0.14(86.93%) 0.07(107.3%)	Coefficient t-statistic -0.929 -1.120 -4.301 -1.212 4.948*** 4.702 19.663*** 4.827 0.603 0.680 5.485 1.527 -3.820*** -3.27 -20.728*** -5.04 0.415* 1.775 0.044 0.174 -0.711* -1.722 7001.9 - 0.14(86.93%) 0.07(107.3%)	Model with RERCoefficientt-statisticVariable -0.929 -1.120 $\Delta \lnroilp_{t-1}$ -4.301 -1.212 \lnfint_{t-1} 4.948^{***} 4.702 $\Delta \lnrer_{t-1}$ 19.663^{***} 4.827 $\Delta gdpdiff_{t-1}$ 0.603 0.680 $\Delta \lnroilp_{t-1}^{*}G$ 5.485 1.527 $\lnfint_{t-1}^{*}G$ -3.820^{***} -3.27 $\Delta lnrer_{t-1}^{*}G$ -20.728^{***} -5.04 $\Delta gdpdiff_{t-1}^{*}G$ 0.415^{*} 1.775 $2008Dummy$ 0.044 0.174 $2009Dummy$ 0.044 0.174 $2009Dummy$ 0.711^{*} -1.722 $2010Dummy$ $Slope$ $Coefficient \hat{\gamma}$ $ Theshold Value \hat{c}1$ $0.07(107.3\%)$ $Theshold Value \hat{c}2$	Model with RERCoefficientt-statisticVariableCoefficient-0.929-1.120 $\Delta \lnroilp_{t-1}$ -0.914-4.301-1.212 $\ln fint_{t-1}$ -4.2894.948***4.702 $\Delta \lnrer_{t-1}$ 3.995***19.663***4.827 $\Delta gdpdiff_{t-1}$ 19.542***0.6030.680 $\Delta \lnroilp_{t-1}$ *G0.5865.4851.527 $\ln fint_{t-1}$ *G5.476-3.820***-3.27 $\Delta lnrer_{t-1}$ *G-3.196**-20.728***-5.04 $\Delta gdpdiff_{t-1}$ *G-20.607***0.415*1.7752008Dummy0.415*0.0440.1742009Dummy0.028-0.711*-1.7222010Dummy-0.710*Slope0.14(86.93%)Theshold Value ĉ10.14(86.93%)0.07(107.3%)Theshold Value ĉ20.08(108.3%)

p < 0.1, p < 0.05, p < 0.01

Tables 5.9a and 5.9b show the results for oil importers' overall and nonoil trade balances. Here, only the 2010 dummies are important. For oil importers, the previous results remain unchanged: those with levels of financial integration below the threshold have their nonoil trade balances significantly more responsive to oil price increases, while those with higher levels of integration remain unaffected. Apart from the effect of the oil price, the signs and significance of the income variable; the financial integration variable; as well as the real exchange rate across regimes remain the same. For the overall trade balance, the effects of the oil price are generally insignificant across regimes. The only exception is the positive coefficient in the upper regime, which is significant at the 10% level. Although it is in line with expectations, this effect is clearly not robust to using the real exchange rate. The previous significant impacts of financial integration are maintained when the real exchange rate specification is used. The sign and significance of the real exchange rate and the income differential measure are also in line with previous results.

The estimated model for the nonoil trade balance of oil exporters in shown in Table 5.10. Here, the 2008 and 2010 dummies are significant. The effects of oil prices and financial integration become insignificant when the crisis dummies are included, but the real exchange rate and income differential variables maintain their signs and significance across regimes and specifications. Thus, the oil price effect identified for oil exporters is not robust to the inclusion of the crisis dummies.

Overall, the results for oil importers regarding the effects of oil prices on the non-oil trade balance are robust to controlling for the global financial crisis. For the oil exporter subsample as well as the full sample, the results are unstable. The finding of a linear relationship between the real oil price and the oil trade balance for all groups of countries is robust, as is the linear relationship for oil exporters' overall trade balances.

5.5. Discussion of Results:

Together, the results show that the effects of oil prices on the non-oil and overall trade balances of SSA oil importing countries depend on the degree of integration in international financial markets. For oil exporters, only the nonoil trade response depends on financial integration, and even this nonlinearity is not robust to alternative model specifications. It is found that oil importers below the estimated threshold levels of integration behave closer to what would be obtained under the Bodenstein et al. (2011) model in financial autarky. Their nonoil trade balances are more responsive, indicating that these countries have to run nonoil surpluses to offset oil trade deficits when the oil price increases. Those with higher levels of integration are however able to avoid fluctuations in their non-oil balances through their access to foreign capital. These results are consistent with Bodenstein et al. (2011)'s theoretical model and Kilian et al. (2009)'s empirical findings. The results for oil importers is robust to using the real exchange rate instead of the terms of trade; using the domestic real oil price as opposed to the US dollar real oil price; using alternative trade balance measures; and controlling for the 2008-2010 global financial crisis. It is found that, despite a lower nonoil trade response, the overall trade balance of highly integrated oil importers is unresponsive to oil price increases. This suggests that although their nonoil trade response is lower relative to less integrated economies, it is not so low as to allow the oil trade response to dominate. This is plausible since, compared to the advanced country sample in Kilian et al. (2009), these countries are still not very integrated.

Interestingly, it is found that the level of financial integration not only influences the oil price effects, but also the effects of relative world income, real exchange rate and financial integration itself. It is shown that the trade balances of countries with higher levels of integration are more affected by increases in world income relative to domestic income. This is consistent with the view that higher financial integration increases exposure to global income shocks (Kose et al., 2006). The differential effects of a real exchange rate depreciation across financial integration regimes points to the importance of valuation effects in limiting the response of the trade balances respond less to a depreciation shows they are able to exploit the changes in the values of asset returns caused by the depreciation. This in turn helps in sustaining imports despite their relatively higher prices. This finding is consistent with Gourinchas and Rey (2005).

threshold but negative above it. This implies that increased integration matters more for less integrated economies than for highly integrated ones, a finding consistent with Ahmed and Suardi, (2009) for African countries.

5.6. Conclusions:

This chapter has examined the role of financial integration in determining the effects of oil prices on the trade balances of Sub Saharan African countries. International financial integration serves as a potential means of smoothing consumption in response to oil shocks, by providing access to foreign capital. This issue is particularly important given the increased volatility of oil prices, the negative implications of oil price increases for SSA countries' terms of trade, and their dependence on traded goods for consumption and investment. The Panel Smooth Transition Regression (PSTR) model of González et al. (2005) is estimated for 29 oil importers and 8 oil exporters over 1990-2010 period.

It was found that for oil importers, the effects of oil price increases on the non-oil and overall trade balances depend on a financial integration threshold. In particular, while the non-oil balance of those below the threshold levels of integration was found to be more responsive to oil price increases, more integrated economies remained unaffected. The findings for the oil importers support the view that higher financial integration aids in consumption smoothing in the face of terms of trade and income shocks such as those associated with oil price increases. For oil exporters, -the response of the nonoil trade balance was found to vary with financial integration, but this nonlinearity did not prove to be robust to alternative model specifications. The unstable results for oil exporters may be because the models are necessarily estimated with a smaller than desired sample For both oil importers and exporters, the effects of a real exchange rate size. depreciation; higher relative world income; and financial integration on the trade balance were also found to depend on the level of financial integration. The effects of a real depreciation across thresholds is consistent with the view that more financially integrated economies are able to reap the benefits of valuation changes on their foreign asset holdings when the exchange rate depreciates; the effects of relative world income indicate that more financially integrated economies have a higher exposure to changes in global income levels; and the effects of increasing financial integration show that less financially integrated economies benefit more from higher integration. These results are consistent with those reported in the literature (Gourinchas and Rey, 2005, Kose et al., 2003, Kilian et al., 2009, Bodenstein et al., 2011 Ahmed and Suardi, 2009).

The findings open up unexplored avenues for future research. For instance, it will be interesting if threshold levels of financial integration are identified using larger global data consisting of all countries for which data is available. Taking advantage of a larger panel dataset, a range of threshold methods can be applied, and a robust threshold can be identified, which will serve as a yardstick for developing countries seeking to reduce exposure to oil shocks.

The findings also have important policy implications for SSA countries. To be better able to diversify risks and smooth consumption in the face of terms of trade and income shocks associated with oil price increases, SSA oil importers should increase financial openness. This is because the consumption smoothing benefits of financial integration only become apparent when certain threshold levels are reached. However, it should be noted that this improved consumption smoothing may be at the cost of an overall trade balance fluctuation; and that increased integration itself potentially exposes the country to global income shocks. Whether the benefits will outweigh the risks is also an issue that is worthy of future research.

Chapter 6: Conclusions

This thesis has examined the effect of oil prices on the trade balances of Sub-Saharan African (SSA) countries. Particularly, it has empirically investigated how this effect is mediated by three factors: oil price volatility, real exchange rates, and international financial integration. Oil price volatility has been shown to induce asymmetries in the effects of oil prices on economic growth, but its role has not been investigated for the trade balance of any country. Real exchange rates and international financial integration have been shown theoretically to influence the effects of oil prices on the trade balance, but this has not been examined empirically for any country. This thesis has contributed to the literature by employing advanced and appropriate econometric techniques to examine how oil price volatility, real exchange rates and financial integration affect the oil price- trade balance relationship; and by doing this for SSA countries that are oil dependent, rely heavily on trade for growth and have received little attention in the literature.

To investigate the role of oil price volatility in mediating the effects of oil prices on the trade balance, this thesis utilized data on the oil, nonoil and overall trade balance of the largest SSA oil exporter, Nigeria. The primary focus was to determine whether the level of oil price volatility induces nonlinearities in the way the trade balance responds to oil prices. Accordingly, the Threshold Vector Autoregressive Model (TVAR) advanced by Balke (2000) was employed. This model allows a comprehensive analysis of nonlinearities because asymmetries of positive and negative shocks, as well as nonproportional effects of large and small shocks, are allowed within the threshold model. Oil price volatility was set as the threshold variable and the impact of oil price level and volatility shocks on the trade balance were allowed to depend on this threshold. It was found that the effects of oil price level shocks on the trade balance are more dramatic in periods of high oil price volatility. However, no robust asymmetries were found between the effects oil price increases and decreases, nor were there consistent differences in the magnitudes of the effects across the volatility threshold. Much stronger nonlinearities were found in the response of the trade balance to oil price volatility shocks. In particular, it was found that these shocks have a larger impact when oil price volatility is high. In addition, decreases in volatility were found to have larger impacts than increases. The results also showed that the initial impact of higher volatility on the trade balance is only negative when volatility has exceeded its threshold. Overall therefore, this thesis provides evidence that high oil price volatility

propagates the effects of oil price volatility shocks on the trade balance and makes the effects of oil price level shocks more dramatic. Unlike the findings of studies on economic growth however, volatility does not induce asymmetries in the effects of oil price level shocks on the trade balance. The findings also show that trade volumes are more affected by reduced oil price volatility than increased volatility. This could be because volatility is the norm in the oil market, such that it is increased stability that signals a favourable global economic condition and stimulates trade. Indeed, the findings indicate that higher oil price stability stimulates trade in both oil and nonoil goods.

In examining how real exchange rates influence the effects of oil prices on the trade balance, this thesis used bilateral panel data on 8 SSA countries -3 oil exporters, 4 oil importers- and 11 major trading partners. Theoretically, Bodenstein et al. (2011) showed that exchange rate adjustments enable the nonoil trade balance to respond to oil price increases in a way that partly offsets the response of the oil trade balance, potentially leaving the overall trade balance unchanged. In other words, the real exchange rate could help in limiting the effects of oil prices on the overall trade balance. If this prediction holds, then it is possible for economies to limit the response of their trade balances to oil shocks through exchange rate management. This thesis tested this theory by employing the Pesaran (2006) Common Correlated Effects Mean Group (CCEMG) estimators. These estimators are ideal for two reasons: first, they allow heterogeneous impacts of oil prices and bilateral exchange rates to be examined for each country vis-à-vis each trading partner; second, they address the problem of unobserved common effects in panel data. Both issues have been ignored in previous studies on the oil price-trade balance relationship. It was found that on aggregate, SSA countries are predominantly unaffected by oil prices both in the long run and short run. However, individual specific bilateral estimates show heterogeneous oil price impacts, with positive and negative effects for both oil importers and exporters. The effects are however predominantly positive even for the oil importers. It was found that, for bilateral trade balances where the oil price effect is positive, subsequent real exchange rate changes are unlikely to further influence traded quantities, such that appreciations have positive effects and depreciations have negative effects on the trade balance. Conversely, where the oil price effect on the trade balance is negative, subsequent depreciations succeed in improving the trade balance, and appreciations deteriorate it. Thus, a deteriorating trade balance is more likely to be governed by the Marshall Lerner condition. Consistent with these findings, the results also showed that bilateral exchange rate depreciations tend to reduce both the positive and negative effects of oil prices on the trade balance, while appreciations reinforce these effects. The insignificant aggregate effects of oil prices for both oil exporters and importers, along with the predominantly positive bilateral impacts for oil importers, indicate a highly responsive nonoil trade balance, potentially due to the trade characteristics of these countries, and their low level of integration in international financial markets. The latter factor has been shown to limit consumption smoothing opportunities and necessitate a large nonoil trade balance (Bodenstein et al., 2011).

Motivated by these findings, the third contribution of the thesis was to explicitly investigate the role of international financial integration in determining the response of the trade balance to oil prices. Theoretically, Bodenstein et al. (2011) have shown that with a given oil trade response to oil prices, the higher the level of international financial risk sharing, the lower the response of the nonoil trade balance, and thus the higher the effect of oil prices on the overall trade balance. This is so because higher international risk sharing means that oil importers can borrow from abroad to smooth consumption when the oil price is high, such that they do not require a large nonoil trade surplus to finance their oil trade deficit. In the same way, oil exporters can save oil revenue windfalls abroad rather than increasing spending on nonoil imports, again limiting the response of the nonoil balance. To investigate this prediction, this thesis employed annual data on the oil, nonoil and overall trade balances of 37 SSA countries-8 oil exporters and 29 oil importers. The focus of the analysis was twofold: first, to examine whether the level of international financial integration matters for the transmission of oil shocks; and second, to determine how much financial integration is needed for economies to avoid large nonoil balance fluctuations. Accordingly, this thesis again uses a threshold modelling approach. The Panel Smooth Transition Regression (PSTR) model of Gonzalez et al. (2005) is employed because it allows heterogeneous effects of oil prices for all countries depending on their levels of financial integration, and it is best suited to the data structure compared to other panel threshold models. It was found that SSA oil importers with levels of financial integration below the estimated thresholds have to sustain large fluctuations in their nonoil trade balances when the oil price rises, but those above the threshold are less affected. For SSA oil exporters, the results were unstable and not robust to alternative

model specifications, probably due to the small sample size. The main implication therefore is that, in line with Bodenstein et al. (2011), SSA oil importers will benefit from increasing financial openness. This will allow them greater access to foreign capital and increase nonoil consumption smoothing opportunities.

Overall, the findings of this thesis have important policy implications for SSA countries. The results from examining the role of oil price volatility show that decreases in oil price volatility tend to increase both oil and nonoil trade for Nigeria, suggesting that increased oil price stability is important for investment and consumption expenditure. Also, the results suggest that policy makers only need to be concerned about rising oil price volatility if it occurs in an already volatile environment. From investigating the role of real exchange rates, it was revealed that for the major Sub-Saharan Africa countries, bilateral exchange rate devaluation can be used as a policy tool to cushion negative effects of oil prices on the trade balance. However, where the bilateral trade balance is improved by oil price changes, exchange rate changes cannot be relied upon to reduce trade imbalances. The results also suggest that for these countries, the nonoil trade balance is likely to be the most responsive to oil prices, partly due to their limited access to foreign funds. Indeed, for oil importers, it was found that low levels of financial integration necessitate a large nonoil adjustment in response to oil price increases. If this is to be avoided and consumption smoothed, greater financial openness is needed for these countries. Increased openness, however, comes with the potential risks of exposure to global income and financial shocks. A careful risk-benefit analysis may therefore be necessary.

This thesis has also opened up new avenues for future research. For instance, theoretical models of the effects of oil price volatility on the trade balance should take into account the underlying volatility environment, as the findings of this thesis have shown that a threshold level of volatility is important. Second, a deeper investigation into the influence of real exchange rate adjustments in the transmission of oil shocks is necessary, preferably using oil and nonoil bilateral trade data. This would provide better insight into the role of exchange rates in this context. Third, more empirical studies are needed, for example using global data, to establish threshold levels of financial integration beyond which its consumption smoothing role becomes apparent. This would serve as a yardstick for developing countries seeking to limit their exposure to oil shocks. A study into whether the benefits of increased financial integration outweigh the potential risks of exposure to global shocks is also worthy of future research. Finally,

since all the three issues investigated have not been examined for other countries, it will be fruitful to address the same questions for other economies. This will not only facilitate comparison but will also yield policy implications for these countries.

References

- ABEYSINGHE, T. 2001. Estimation of direct and indirect impact of oil price on growth. *Economics Letters*, 73(2), 147-153.
- ABU-BADER, S. & ABU-QARN, A. S. 2010. Trade liberalization or oil shocks: Which better explains structural breaks in international trade ratios? *Review of International Economics*, 18(2), 250-264.
- ADENIYI, O., OYINLOLA, A. & OMISAKIN, O. 2011. Oil price shocks and economic growth in Nigeria: Are thresholds important? *OPEC Energy Review*, 35(4), 308-333.
- AFONSO, A., BAXA, J. & SLAVÍK, M. 2011. Fiscal developments and financial stress: A threshold VAR analysis. *ECB Working Paper No. 1319.* Frankfurt: European Central Bank.
- AHMED, A. D. & SUARDI, S. 2009. Macroeconomic volatility, trade and financial liberalization in Africa. *World Development*, 37(10), 1623-1636.
- AHMED, V. & O'DONOGHUE, C. 2010. External shocks in a small open economy: A CGE-microsimulation analysis. *Lahore Journal of Economics*, 15(1), 45-90.
- ALESSANDRIA, G., KABOSKI, J. P. & MIDRIGAN, V. 2010. Inventories, lumpy trade, and large devaluations. *American Economic Review*, 100(5), 2304-2339.
- ALIYU, S. U. 2011. Oil price shocks and the macroeconomy of Nigeria: A non-linear approach. *Journal for International Business and Entrepreneurship Development*, 5(3), 179-198.
- ALLEGRET, J.-P., COUHARDE, C., COULIBALY, D. & MIGNON, V. 2014. Current accounts and oil price fluctuations in oil-exporting countries: The role of financial development. *Journal of International Money and Finance*, 47, 185-201.
- ALLEGRET, J.-P., MIGNON, V. & SALLENAVE, A. 2015. Oil price shocks and global imbalances: Lessons from a model with trade and financial interdependencies. *Economic Modelling*, 49, 232-247.
- ALLEN, F. & GIOVANNETTI, G. 2011. The effects of the financial crisis on Sub-Saharan Africa. *Review of Development Finance*, 1(1), 1-27.
- ALLEN, M. 2006. Exchange rates and trade balance adjustment in emerging market economies. *IMF Policy Paper No. 697.* Washington, DC: International Monetary Fund, Policy Development and Review Department.
- ALQUIST, R. & KILIAN, L. 2010. What do we learn from the price of crude oil futures? *Journal of Applied Econometrics*, 25(4), 539-573.
- AMANO, R. A. & VAN NORDEN, S. 1998. Oil prices and the rise and fall of the US real exchange rate. *Journal of International Money and Finance*, 17(2), 299-316.
- AMZATH, A., DRAMA, B. G. H. & SHEN, Y. 2010. The effects of real exchange rate on trade balance in Cote d'Ivoire: Evidence from the cointegration analysis and error-correction models. *Journal of Applied Research in Finance*, 1(3), 44-60.
- ANZUINI, A., PAGANO, P. & PISANI, M. 2015. Macroeconomic effects of precautionary demand for oil. *Journal of Applied Econometrics*, 30(6), 968-986.
- AROURI, M., TIWARI, A. K. & TEULON, F. 2014. Oil prices and trade balance: A frequency domain analysis for India. *Economics Bulletin*, 34(2), 663-680.
- BACKUS, D. K. & CRUCINI, M. J. 2000. Oil prices and the terms of trade. *Journal of International Economics*, 50(1), 185-213.
- BAHMANI-OSKOOEE, M. 1991. Is there a long-run relation between the trade balance and the real effective exchange rate of LDCs? *Economics Letters*, 36(4), 403-407.

- BAHMANI-OSKOOEE, M. & GELAN, A. 2012. Is there J-Curve effect in Africa? *International Review of Applied Economics*, 26(1), 73-81.
- BAHMANI-OSKOOEE, M. & HARVEY, H. 2010. The J-curve: Malaysia versus her major trading partners. *Applied Economics*, 42(9), 1067-1076.
- BAHMANI-OSKOOEE, M. & HEGERTY, S. W. 2007. Exchange rate volatility and trade flows: A review article. *Journal of Economic Studies*, 34(3), 211-255.
- BAHMANI-OSKOOEE, M. & XU, J. 2012. Is there evidence of the J-Curve in commodity trade between the USA and Hong Kong? *Manchester School*, 80(3), 295-320.
- BALKE, N. S. 2000. Credit and economic activity: Credit regimes and nonlinear propagation of shocks. *Review of Economics and Statistics*, 82(2), 344-349.
- BALKE, N. S., BROWN, S. P. A. & YUCEL, M. K. 2002. Oil price shocks and the U.S. economy: Where does the asymmetry originate? *Energy Journal*, 23(3), 27-52.
- BARSKY, R. & KILIAN, L. 2004. Oil and the macroeconomy since the 1970s. *Journal* of Economic Perspectives, 18(4), 115-134.
- BAŞKAYA, Y. S., HÜLAGÜ, T. & KÜÇÜK, H. 2013. Oil price uncertainty in a small open economy. *IMF Economic Review*, 61(1), 168-198.
- BATINI, N., CALLEGARI, G. & MELINA, G. 2012. Successful austerity in the United States, Europe and Japan. *IMF Working Paper No. WP/12/190*. Washington, DC: International Monetary Fund.
- BAXTER, M. & CRUCINI, M. J. 1995. Business cycles and the asset structure of foreign trade. *International Economic Review*, 36(4), 821-854.
- BEMS, R. & DE CARVALHO FILHO, I. 2011. The current account and precautionary savings for exporters of exhaustible resources. *Journal of International Economics*, 84(1), 48-64.
- BERMAN, N. & MARTIN, P. 2012. The vulnerability of Sub-Saharan Africa to financial crises: The case of trade. *IMF Economic Review*, 60(3), 329-364.
- BERNANKE, B. S. 1980. Irreversibility, uncertainty, and cyclical investment. *NBER Working Paper No. 502.* Cambridge, MA: National Bureau of Economic Research.
- BERNANKE, B. S. 1983. Irreversibility, uncertainty, and cyclical investment. *Quarterly Journal of Economics*, 98(1), 85-106.
- BERNANKE, B. S., GERTLER, M., WATSON, M., SIMS, C. A. & FRIEDMAN, B. M. 1997. Systematic monetary policy and the effects of oil price shocks. *Brookings Papers on Economic Activity*, 1997(1), 91-157.
- BLEANEY, M. & TIAN, M. 2014. Exchange rates and trade balance adjustment: A multi-country empirical analysis. *Open Economies Review*, 25(4), 655-675.
- BLOOM, N. 2009. The impact of uncertainty shocks. Econometrica, 77(3), 623-685.
- BODENSTEIN, M., ERCEG, C. J. & GUERRIERI, L. 2011. Oil shocks and external adjustment. *Journal of International Economics*, 83(2), 168-184.
- BODENSTEIN, M., GUERRIERI, L. & KILIAN, L. 2012. Monetary policy responses to oil price fluctuations. *IMF Economic Review*, 60(4), 470-504.
- BOOT, J. C. G., FEIBES, W. & LISMAN, J. H. C. 1967. Further methods of derivation of quarterly figures from annual data. *Journal of the Royal Statistical Society. Series C (Applied Statistics)*, 16(1), 65-75.
- BREDIN, D., ELDER, J. & FOUNTAS, S. 2011. Oil volatility and the option value of waiting: An analysis of the G-7. *Journal of Futures Markets*, 31(7), 679-702.
- BRIDGMAN, B. 2008. Energy prices and the expansion of world trade. *Review of Economic Dynamics*, 11(4), 904-916.

- CALZA, A. & SOUSA, J. 2006. Output and inflation responses to credit shocks: Are there threshold effects in the euro area? *Studies in Nonlinear Dynamics and Econometrics*, 10(2), 1-21.
- CENTRAL BANK OF NIGERIA. 2013. Central Bank of Nigeria Statistics. Abuja: Central Bank of Nigeria.
- CHAUDHURI, K. & DANIEL, B. C. 1998. Long-run equilibrium real exchange rates and oil prices. *Economics Letters*, 58(2), 231-238.
- CHEN, S.-S. & CHEN, H.-C. 2007. Oil prices and real exchange rates. *Energy Economics*, 29(3), 390-404.
- CHEN, S.-S. & HSU, K.-W. 2012. Reverse globalization: Does high oil price volatility discourage international trade? *Energy Economics*, 34(5), 1634-1643.
- CHUKU, C. A., AKPAN, U. F., SAM, N. R. & EFFIONG, E. L. 2011. Oil price shocks and the dynamics of current account balances in Nigeria. *OPEC Energy Review*, 35(2), 119-139.
- COLE, H. L. & OBSTFELD, M. 1991. Commodity trade and international risk sharing: How much do financial markets matter? *Journal of Monetary Economics*, 28(1), 3-24.
- COLLETAZ, G. & HURLIN, C. 2006. Threshold effects of the public capital productivity: An international panel smooth transition approach. *Document de Recherche du LEO No. 2006-01*. Orléans, France: Laboratoire d'Economie d'Orléans, Université d'Orléans.
- COLOGNI, A. & MANERA, M. 2008. Oil prices, inflation and interest rates in a structural cointegrated VAR model for the G-7 countries. *Energy Economics*, 30(3), 856-888.
- COOPER, J. C. B. 2003. Price elasticity of demand for crude oil: Estimates for 23 countries. *OPEC Review*, 27(1), 1-8.
- CORSETTI, G., DEDOLA, L. & LEDUC, S. 2008. International risk sharing and the transmission of productivity shocks. *Review of Economic Studies*, 75(2), 443-473.
- CUNADO, J. & PEREZ DE GRACIA, F. 2005. Oil prices, economic activity and inflation: Evidence for some Asian countries. *Quarterly Review of Economics and Finance*, 45(1), 65-83.
- CUNADO, J. & PEREZ DE GRACIA, F. 2014. Oil price shocks and stock market returns: Evidence for some European countries. *Energy Economics*, 42, 365-377.
- CURTIS, F. 2009. Peak globalization: Climate change, oil depletion and global trade. *Ecological Economics*, 69(2), 427-434.
- DANG, V. A., KIM, M. & SHIN, Y. 2012. Asymmetric capital structure adjustments: New evidence from dynamic panel threshold models. *Journal of Empirical Finance*, 19(4), 465-482.
- DASH, A. K. 2013. Bilateral J-curve between India and her trading partners: A quantitative perspective. *Economic Analysis and Policy*, 43(3), 315-338.
- DAUVIN, M. 2014. Energy prices and the real exchange rate of commodity-exporting countries. *International Economics*, 137, 52-72.
- DE GREGORIO, J. 2012. Commodity prices, monetary policy, and inflation. *IMF Economic Review*, 60(4), 600-633.
- DEATON, A. & MILLER, R. I. 1995. International commodity prices, macroeconomic performance, and politics in Sub-Saharan Africa. *Princeton Studies in International Finance, No.* 79. Princeton: Princeton University.
- DRAPER, P. & BIACUANA, G. 2009. Africa and the trade crisis. In: Baldwin, R. (ed.) *The Great Trade Collapse: Causes, Consequences and Prospects.* London: Centre for Economic Policy Research, 181-188.

- DRISCOLL, J. C. & KRAAY, A. C. 1998. Consistent covariance matrix estimation with spatially dependent panel data. *Review of Economics and Statistics*, 80(4), 549-560.
- EBERHARDT, M. 2011. Panel time-series modeling: New tools for analyzing xt data [PowerPoint presentation]. 2011 UK Stata Users Group Meeting, 16 September. London: Cass Business School. Available from: http://www.stata.com/meeting/uk11/abstracts/UK11_eberhardt.pdf

http://www.stata.com/meeting/uk11/abstracts/UK11_eberhardt.pdf

- EGGER, H. & FALKINGER, J. 2015. *International trade and financial integration under technological specialization and uncertainty*. CESifo Area Conference on Global Economy, 22 23 May, Munich: CESifo.
- EIA 2013. Energy Information Administration Nigeria Country Report. Washington, DC: US Energy Information Administration.
- ELDER, J. & SERLETIS, A. 2010. Oil price uncertainty. *Journal of Money, Credit and Banking*, 42(6), 1137-1159.
- ELDER, J. & SERLETIS, A. 2011. Volatility in oil prices and manufacturing activity: An investigation of real options. *Macroeconomic Dynamics*, 15(S3), 379-395.
- FARZANEGAN, M. R. & MARKWARDT, G. 2009. The effects of oil price shocks on the Iranian economy. *Energy Economics*, 31(1), 134-151.
- FERDERER, J. P. 1997. Oil price volatility and the macroeconomy. *Journal of Macroeconomics*, 18(1), 1-26.
- GIL-ALANA, L. A. & YAYA, O. S. 2014. The relationship between oil prices and the Nigerian stock market. An analysis based on fractional integration and cointegration. *Energy Economics*, 46, 328-333.
- GNIMASSOUN, B. 2015. The importance of the exchange rate regime in limiting current account imbalances in Sub-Saharan African countries. *Journal of International Money and Finance*, 53, 36-74.
- GOLDSTEIN, M. & KHAN, M. S. 1985. Income and price effects in foreign trade. In: Jones, R. W. & Kenen, P. B. (eds.) *Handbook of International Economics*, 2, 1041-1105.
- GONZÁLEZ, A., TERÄSVIRTA, T. & VAN DIJK, D. 2005. Panel smooth transition regression models. SSE/EFI Working Paper Series in Economics and Finance No. 604, Stockholm: Stockholm School of Economics.
- GOURINCHAS, P.-O. & REY, H. 2005. International financial adjustment. *NBER Working Paper No. 11155.* Cambridge, MA: National Bureau of Economic Research.
- HAKURA, D. & BILLMEIER, A. 2008. Trade elasticities in the Middle East and Central Asia: What is the role of oil? *IMF Working Paper No. WP/08/216*. Washington, DC: International Monetary Fund.
- HAMILTON, J. D. 1983. Oil and the macroeconomy since World War II. *Journal of Political Economy*, 91(2), 228-248.
- HAMILTON, J. D. 2003. What is an oil shock? *Journal of Econometrics*, 113(2), 363-398.
- HAMILTON, J. D. 2008. Oil and the macroeconomy. In: Durlauf, S. N. & Blume, L. E. (eds.) *The New Palgrave Dictionary of Economics*, 2nd Edition. Basingstoke: Palgrave Macmillan, 172-177.
- HAMILTON, J. D. 2011. Nonlinearities and the macroeconomic effects of oil prices. *Macroeconomic Dynamics*, 15(S3), 364-378.
- HANSEN, B. E. 1996. Inference when a nuisance parameter is not identified under the null hypothesis. *Econometrica*, 64(2), 413-430.
- HANSEN, B. E. 1999. Threshold effects in non-dynamic panels: Estimation, testing, and inference. *Journal of Econometrics*, 93(2), 345-368.

- HARBERGER, A. C. 1950. Currency depreciation, income, and the balance of trade. *Journal of Political Economy*, 58(1), 47-60.
- HEATHCOTE, J. & PERRI, F. 2002. Financial autarky and international business cycles. *Journal of Monetary Economics*, 49(3), 601-627.
- HEATHCOTE, J. & PERRI, F. 2004. Financial globalization and real regionalization. *Journal of Economic Theory*, 119(1), 207-243.
- HERRERA, A. M., LAGALO, L. G. & WADA, T. 2015. Asymmetries in the response of economic activity to oil price increases and decreases? *Journal of International Money and Finance*, 50, 108-133.
- HODRICK, R. J. & PRESCOTT, E. C. 1997. Postwar US business cycles: An empirical investigation. *Journal of Money, Credit, and Banking*, 29(1), 1-16.
- HOECHLE, D. 2007. Robust standard errors for panel regressions with cross-sectional dependence. *Stata Journal*, 7(3), 281-312.
- HUANG, B.-N., HWANG, M. & PENG, H.-P. 2005. The asymmetry of the impact of oil price shocks on economic activities: An application of the multivariate threshold model. *Energy Economics*, 27(3), 455-476.
- HUMMELS, D. 2007. Transportation costs and international trade in the second era of globalization. *Journal of Economic Perspectives*, 21(3), 131-154.
- HUNTINGTON, H. G. 2015. Crude oil trade and current account deficits. *Energy Economics*, 50, 70-79.
- HUYNH, B. T. 2016. Energy price shocks and external balances. *Canadian Journal of Economics*, 49(2), 789-814.
- IM, K. S., PESARAN, M. H. & SHIN, Y. 2003. Testing for unit roots in heterogeneous panels. *Journal of Econometrics*, 115(1), 53-74.
- IMF 2015. Regional Economic Outlook. Sub-Saharan Africa: Navigating Headwinds. Washington, DC: International Monetary Fund, World Economic and Financial Surveys.
- INTERNATIONAL MONETARY FUND. 2012. *World Economic Outlook*. Washington, DC: International Monetary Fund.
- INTERNATIONAL MONETARY FUND. 2014. Direction of Trade Statistics. Washington, DC: International Monetary Fund.
- INTERNATIONAL MONETARY FUND. 2015. International Financial Statistics. Washington, DC: International Monetary Fund.
- IWAYEMI, A. & FOWOWE, B. 2011. Impact of oil price shocks on selected macroeconomic variables in Nigeria. *Energy Policy*, 39(2), 603-612.
- JAHAN-PARVAR, M. R. & MOHAMMADI, H. 2011. Oil prices and real exchange rates in oil-exporting countries: A bounds testing approach. *Journal of Developing Areas*, 45(1), 309-318.
- JIMÉNEZ-RODRÍGUEZ, R. & SÁNCHEZ, M. 2005. Oil price shocks and real GDP growth: Empirical evidence for some OECD countries. *Applied Economics*, 37(2), 201-228.
- JO, S. 2014. The effects of oil price uncertainty on global real economic activity. *Journal of Money, Credit and Banking*, 46(6), 1113-1135.
- JOBLING, A. & JAMASB, T. 2015. Price volatility and demand for oil: A comparative analysis of developed and developing countries. *Cambridge Working Papers in Economics No. 1512*. Cambridge: University of Cambridge.
- KELLOGG, R. 2010. The effect of uncertainty on investment: Evidence from Texas oil drilling. *NBER Working Paper No. 16541*. Cambridge, MA: National Bureau of Economic Research.
- KILIAN, L. 2009. Not all oil price shocks are alike: Disentangling demand and supply shocks in the crude oil market. *American Economic Review*, 99(3), 1053-1069.

- KILIAN, L., REBUCCI, A. & SPATAFORA, N. 2007. Oil shocks and external balances. *IMF Working Paper No. WP/07/110*. Washington, DC: International Monetary Fund.
- KILIAN, L., REBUCCI, A. & SPATAFORA, N. 2009. Oil shocks and external balances. *Journal of International Economics*, 77(2), 181-194.
- KILIAN, L. & VIGFUSSON, R. J. 2011a. Are the responses of the US economy asymmetric in energy price increases and decreases? *Quantitative Economics*, 2(3), 419-453.
- KILIAN, L. & VIGFUSSON, R. J. 2011b. Nonlinearities in the oil price-output relationship. *Macroeconomic Dynamics*, 15(S3), 337-363.
- KILIAN, L. & VIGFUSSON, R. J. 2014. The role of oil price shocks in causing U.S. recessions. *CEPR Discussion Paper No. DP10040*. London: Centre for Economic Policy Research.
- KODONGO, O. & OJAH, K. 2013. Real exchange rates, trade balance and capital flows in Africa. *Journal of Economics and Business*, 66, 22-46.
- KOOP, G., PESARAN, M. H. & POTTER, S. M. 1996. Impulse response analysis in nonlinear multivariate models. *Journal of Econometrics*, 74(1), 119-147.
- KORHONEN, I. & JUURIKKALA, T. 2009. Equilibrium exchange rates in oilexporting countries. *Journal of Economics and Finance*, 33(1), 71-79.
- KORHONEN, I. & LEDYAEVA, S. 2010. Trade linkages and macroeconomic effects of the price of oil. *Energy Economics*, 32(4), 848-856.
- KOSE, M. A., PRASAD, E., ROGOFF, K. & WEI, S.-J. 2006. Financial globalization: A reappraisal. *IMF Working Paper No. WP/06/189*. Washington, DC: International Monetary Fund.
- KOSE, M. A., PRASAD, E. S. & TAYLOR, A. D. 2011. Thresholds in the process of international financial integration. *Journal of International Money and Finance*, 30(1), 147-179.
- KOSE, M. A., PRASAD, E. S. & TERRONES, M. E. 2003. Financial integration and macroeconomic volatility. *IMF Working Paper No. WP/03/50*. Washington, DC: International Monetary Fund.
- KOSE, M. A., PRASAD, E. S. & TERRONES, M. E. 2009. Does financial globalization promote risk sharing? *Journal of Development Economics*, 89(2), 258-270.
- KOSE, M. A. & RIEZMAN, R. 2001. Trade shocks and macroeconomic fluctuations in Africa. *Journal of Development Economics*, 65(1), 55-80.
- KUBONIWA, M. 2014. A comparative analysis of the impact of oil prices on oil-rich emerging economies in the Pacific Rim. *Journal of Comparative Economics*, 42(2), 328-339.
- KWIATKOWSKI, D., PHILLIPS, P. C., SCHMIDT, P. & SHIN, Y. 1992. Testing the null hypothesis of stationarity against the alternative of a unit root: How sure are we that economic time series have a unit root? *Journal of Econometrics*, 54(1-3), 159-178.
- LANE, P. R. & MILESI-FERRETTI, G. M. 2007. The external wealth of nations mark II: Revised and extended estimates of foreign assets and liabilities, 1970–2004. *Journal of International Economics*, 73(2), 223-250.
- LAURSEN, S. & METZLER, L. A. 1950. Flexible exchange rates and the theory of employment. *Review of Economics and Statistics*, 32(4), 281-299.
- LE, T.-H. & CHANG, Y. 2013. Oil price shocks and trade imbalances. *Energy Economics*, 36, 78-96.
- LEE, K., NI, S. & RATTI, R. A. 1995. Oil shocks and the macroeconomy: The role of price variability. *Energy Journal*, 16(4), 39-56.

- LEVIN, A., LIN, C.-F. & CHU, C.-S. J. 2002. Unit root tests in panel data: Asymptotic and finite-sample properties. *Journal of Econometrics*, 108(1), 1-24.
- LITZENBERGER, R. H. & RABINOWITZ, N. 1995. Backwardation in oil futures markets: Theory and empirical evidence. *Journal of Finance*, 50(5), 1517-1545.
- LIZARDO, R. A. & MOLLICK, A. V. 2010. Oil price fluctuations and US dollar exchange rates. *Energy Economics*, 32(2), 399-408.
- LORDE, T., JACKMAN, M. & THOMAS, C. 2009. The macroeconomic effects of oil price fluctuations on a small open oil-producing country: The case of Trinidad and Tobago. *Energy Policy*, 37(7), 2708-2716.
- MADDALA, G. S. & WU, S., 1999. A comparative study of unit root tests with panel data and a new simple test. *Oxford Bulletin of Economics and Statistics*, 61(S1), 631-652.
- MAGEE, S. P. 1973. Currency contracts, pass-through, and devaluation. *Brookings Papers on Economic Activity*, 1973(1), 303-325.
- MAGUD, N. & SOSA, S. 2013. When and why worry about real exchange rate appreciation? The missing link between Dutch disease and growth. *Journal of International Commerce, Economics and Policy*, 4(2), 1-27.
- MARQUEZ, J. 1990. Bilateral trade elasticities. *Review of Economics and Statistics*, 72(1), 70-77.
- MATSUYAMA, K. 1987. Current account dynamics in a finite horizon model. *Journal* of International Economics, 23(3), 299-313.
- MCKENZIE, M. D. 1999. The impact of exchange rate volatility on international trade flows. *Journal of Economic Surveys*, 13(1), 71-106.
- MCKENZIE, M. D. & BROOKS, R. D. 1997. The impact of exchange rate volatility on German-US trade flows. *Journal of International Financial Markets, Institutions and Money*, 7(1), 73-87.
- MEHRARA, M. & SAREM, M. 2009. Effects of oil price shocks on industrial production: Evidence from some oil-exporting countries. *OPEC Energy Review*, 3(3-4), 170-183.
- MOHAMMADI, H. & JAHAN-PARVAR, M. R. 2012. Oil prices and exchange rates in oil-exporting countries: Evidence from TAR and M-TAR models. *Journal of Economics and Finance*, 36(3), 766-779.
- MORK, K. A., OLSEN, Ø. & MYSEN, H. T. 1994. Macroeconomic responses to oil price increases and decreases in seven OECD countries. *Energy Journal*, 15(4), 19-35.
- MUHAMMAD, S. D. 2010. The impact of oil prices volatility on export earning in Pakistan. *European Journal of Scientific Research*, 41(4), 543-550.
- MUHANJI, S. & OJAH, K. 2011. External shocks and persistence of external debt in open vulnerable economies: The case of Africa. *Economic Modelling*, 28(4), 1615-1628.
- NAUDÉ, W. 2010. The global economic crisis and developing countries: Effects, responses and options for sustainable recovery. *Poverty and Public Policy*, 2(2), 211-235.
- NIGERIAN NATIONAL BUREAU OF STATISTICS. 2012. GDP Expenditure Report Q4. Abuja: National Bureau of Statistics.
- NIGERIAN NATIONAL BUREAU OF STATISTICS. 2013. Foreign Trade Report Q2. Abuja: National Bureau of Statistics.
- OBSTFELD, M. 1982. Aggregate spending and the terms of trade: Is there a Laursen-Metzler effect? *Quarterly Journal of Economics*, 97(2), 251-270.
- ONAFOWORA, O. 2003. Exchange rate and trade balance in East Asia: Is there a J-curve? *Economics Bulletin*, 5(18), 1-13.

- OPEC 2015. World Oil Outlook. Vienna: Organisation of the Petroleum Exporting Countries.
- ÖZLALE, Ü. & PEKKURNAZ, D. 2010. Oil prices and current account: A structural analysis for the Turkish economy. *Energy Policy*, 38(8), 4489-4496.
- PERSSON, T. & SVENSSON, L. E. 1985. Current account dynamics and the terms of trade: Harberger-Laursen-Metzler two generations later. *Journal of Political Economy*, 93(1), 43-65.
- PESARAN, M. H. 2004. General diagnostic tests for cross section dependence in panels. *CESifo Working Paper No. 1229*. Munich: CESifo.
- PESARAN, M. H. 2006. Estimation and inference in large heterogeneous panels with a multifactor error structure. *Econometrica*, 74(4), 967-1012.
- PESARAN, M. H. 2007. A simple panel unit root test in the presence of cross-section dependence. *Journal of Applied Econometrics*, 22(2), 265-312.
- PESARAN, M. H., SHIN, Y. & SMITH, R. P. 1999. Pooled mean group estimation of dynamic heterogeneous panels. *Journal of the American Statistical Association*, 94(446), 621-634.
- PESARAN, M. H. & SMITH, R. 1995. Estimating long-run relationships from dynamic heterogeneous panels. *Journal of Econometrics*, 68(1), 79-113.
- PLANTE, M. & TRAUM, N. 2012. Time-varying oil price volatility and macroeconomic aggregates. CAEPR Working Paper No. 2012-002. Bloomington: Indiana University, Center for Applied Economics and Policy Research.
- QUINN, D., SCHINDLER, M. & TOYODA, A. M. 2011. Assessing measures of financial openness and integration. *IMF Economic Review*, 59(3), 488-522.
- QURESHI, M. S. & TSANGARIDES, C. G. 2012. Hard or soft pegs? Choice of exchange rate regime and trade in Africa. *World Development*, 40(4), 667-680.
- REBOREDO, J. C., RIVERA-CASTRO, M. A. & ZEBENDE, G. F. 2014. Oil and US dollar exchange rate dependence: A detrended cross-correlation approach. *Energy Economics*, 42, 132-139.
- REBUCCI, A. & SPATAFORA, N. 2006. Oil prices and global imbalances. In: *IMF World Economic Outlook, April 2006: Globalization and Inflation*. Washington, DC: International Monetary Fund, 71-96.
- REINHART, C. M. 1995. Devaluation, relative prices, and international trade: Evidence from developing countries. *IMF Staff Papers*, 42(2), 290-312.
- ROSE, A. K. 1990. Exchange rates and the trade balance: Some evidence from developing countries. *Economics Letters*, 34(3), 271-275.
- ROSE, A. K. & YELLEN, J. L. 1989. Is there a J-curve? Journal of Monetary *Economics*, 24(1), 53-68.
- RUBIN, J. & TAL, B. 2008. Will soaring transport costs reverse globalization? *StrategEcon – CIBC World Markets Research*, May 27, 4-7.
- SADORSKY, P. 1999. Oil price shocks and stock market activity. *Energy Economics*, 21(5), 449-469.
- SADORSKY, P. 2014. Modeling volatility and correlations between emerging market stock prices and the prices of copper, oil and wheat. *Energy Economics*, 43, 72-81.
- SCHMID, M. 1976. A model of trade in money, goods and factors. *Journal of International Economics*, 6(4), 347-361.
- SEN, P. 1990. Terms-of-trade shock and the current account in a monetary economy. *Economica*, 57(227), 383-394.

- SEN, P. 1991. Imported input price and the current account in an optimizing model without capital mobility. *Journal of Economic Dynamics and Control*, 15(1), 91-101.
- SEN, P. 1994. Savings, investment, and the current account. In: van der Ploeg, F. (ed.) *The Handbook of International Macroeconomics*. Oxford: Basil Blackwell, 506– 534.
- SEN, P. & TURNOVSKY, S. J. 1989. Deterioration of the terms of trade and capital accumulation: A re-examination of the Laursen-Metzler effect. *Journal of International Economics*, 26(3), 227-250.
- SHIU-SHENG, C. & KAI-WEI, H. 2013. Oil price volatility and bilateral trade. *Energy Journal*, 34(1), 207-229.
- SVENSSON, L. E. 1984. Oil prices, welfare, and the trade balance. *Quarterly Journal* of Economics, 99(4), 649-672.
- SVENSSON, L. E. & RAZIN, A. 1983. The terms of trade and the current account: The Harberger-Laursen-Metzler effect. *Journal of Political Economy*, 91(1), 97-125.
- UN 2013. World Statistics Pocketbook, 2013 Edition. Series V, No. 37. New York: United Nations, Department of Economic and Social Affairs, Statistics Division.
- UNITED NATIONS CONFERENCE ON TRADE AND DEVELOPMENT. 2014. United Nations Conference on Trade and Development Statistics. New York City: United Nations.
- VAN ROBAYS, I. 2012. Macroeconomic uncertainty and the impact of oil shocks. *ECB Working Paper No. 1479.* Frankfurt: European Central Bank.
- WANG, Y., WU, C. & YANG, L. 2013. Oil price shocks and stock market activities: Evidence from oil-importing and oil-exporting countries. *Journal of Comparative Economics*, 41(4), 1220-1239.
- WILSON, P. 2001. Exchange rates and the trade balance for dynamic Asian economies – Does the J-curve exist for Singapore, Malaysia, and Korea? *Open Economies Review*, 12(4), 389-413.
- WORLD BANK 2012. Global Economic Prospects: Uncertainties and Vulnerabilities – Sub-Saharan Africa Region (Annex), Volume 4. Washington, DC: World Bank, 147-160.
- WORLD BANK. 2015. World Development Indictors. Washington, DC: World Bank.
- YOL, M. A. & BAHARUMSHAH, A. Z. 2007. Estimating exchange rate and bilateral trade balance relationships: The experience of Sub-Saharan African countries. *South African Journal of Economics*, 75(1), 35-51.
- ZIVOT, E. & ANDREWS, D. W. K. 2002. Further evidence on the Great Crash, the oilprice shock, and the unit-root hypothesis. *Journal of Business and Economic Statistics*, 20(1), 25-44.

Appendices:

Appendix A: Response of Nigeria's Nonoil, Oil and Overall Trade Balances to shocks- Conditional on Volatility Regimes:



Response of the Non oil Trade Balance to Shocks, Conditional on Volatility Regime(Standard deviation)



Response of the Non oil Trade Balance to Shocks, Conditional on Volatility Regime (Standard deviation)



Response of the oil Trade Balance to Shocks, Conditional on Volatility Regime(Standard deviation)



Response of the oil Trade Balance to Shocks, Conditional on Volatility Regime(Standard deviation)



Response of the Overall Trade Balance to Shocks, Conditional on Volatility Regime(Standard deviation)



Response of the Overall Trade Balance to Shocks, Conditional on Volatility Regime(Standard deviation)



Response of Non Oil Trade Balance to Shocks, Conditional on Volatility Regime- (GARCH)



Response of Non Oil Trade Balance to Shocks, Conditional on Volatility Regime- (GARCH)



Response of the oil Trade Balance to Shocks, Conditional on Volatility Regime-(GARCH)



Response of the oil Trade Balance to Shocks, Conditional on Volatility Regime- (GARCH)



Response of the Overall Trade Balance to Shocks, Conditional on Volatility Regime- (GARCH)



Response of the Overall Trade Balance to Shocks, Conditional on Volatility Regime- (GARCH)





Source: Author's Calculations using data from International Monetary Funds' Direction of Trade Statistics.



Source: Author's Calculations using data from International Monetary Funds' Direction of Trade Statistics.



Source: Author's Calculations using data from International Monetary Funds' Direction of Trade Statistics.



Source: Author's Calculations using data from International Monetary Funds' Direction of Trade Statistics.



Source: Author's Calculations using data from International Monetary Funds' Direction of Trade Statistics.



Source: Author's Calculations using data from International Monetary Funds' Direction of Trade Statistics.



Source: Author's Calculations using data from International Monetary Funds' Direction of Trade Statistics.



Source: Author's Calculations using data from International Monetary Funds' Direction of Trade Statistics.
Angola						Cam	eroon	
	mean	SD	min	max	mean	SD	min	max
Trade Balance	016111	2.060801	-13.47279	10.82011	.0067863	.9401589	-6.904539	6.158983
RER	.0103856	.4999176	-1.330062	7.193141	.0204803	.316244	1969948	7.57404
Real Oil Price	.0069381	.424199	-1.252226	1.299446	.0171655	.1557313	7095728	.418601
Foreign Income	.0071508	.0086834	0264969	.0373459	.0070882	.0084562	0264969	.0373459
Domestic Income	.0165173	.0276826	1097374	.0558243	.0063418	.0070178	0144844	.0126858
Observations	795				923			

Appendix C: Descriptive Statistics

	Ethiopia					Gł	nana	
	mean	SD	min	max	mean	SD	min	max
Trade Balance	.0033985	1.171595	-9.846349	11.04876	.0048547	.9147921	-5.824139	7.433585
RER	.0235097	.3278264	2977157	7.525371	.0218146	.308352	1952667	7.485463
Real Oil Price	.0213204	.1717651	6500229	.8220717	.0180779	.1631681	664416	.4627022
Foreign Income	.0068349	.0080847	0264969	.0373459	.007232	.0084995	0264969	.0373459
Domestic Income	.0142623	.0170214	0411644	.0552158	.0135467	.006676	.0050945	.0457954
Observations	893				947			

	Кепуа					Nig	geria	
	mean	SD	min	max	mean	SD	min	max
Trade Balance	0025567	.5836638	-2.430815	3.385756	.0197573	1.02238	-5.11513	8.622837
RER	.0076307	.3106623	2669356	7.493796	.0132211	.4068748	4277097	8.85859
Real Oil Price	.0038576	.1671712	6913333	.4598918	.0094357	.2218769	6105766	1.355754
Foreign Income	.0073072	.008587	0264969	.0373459	.0072828	.0085418	0264969	.0373459
Domestic Income	.0076421	.005936	0038319	.0216751	.0132611	.0184495	0154438	.1079197
Observations	946				953			

	South Africa				Tanzania			
	mean	SD	min	max	mean	SD	min	max
Trade Balance	.00321	.3705764	-3.155076	3.25893	0017695	.8098516	-5.202265	4.508404
RER	.0285751	.3876653	23476	7.532501	.0150131	.3059141	2344995	7.413122
Real Oil Price	.0305131	.1471437	6120074	.2913617	.0109711	.1682127	6623492	.4339528
Foreign Income	.0070852	.0090504	0264969	.0373459	.0073693	.0086276	0264969	.0373459
Domestic Income	.0083142	.0052152	0110207	.0137978	.0123577	.0054623	.000761	.0197849
Observations	605				955			

Oil Importers- Ethi Tanzania	opia, Ghana, Kenya &	Oil exporters- Ango	ola, Cameroon & Nigeria
Long run estimate	es	Long run estimate	S
Real Oil price	-0.0645*	Real Oil price	-0.0675
-	(-1.73)	-	(-0.71)
Real GDP	1.271****	Real GDP	0.0599
	(14.30)		(0.46)
Short run estimate	es	Short run estimate	es
Error	-0.507**	Error	-0.222
correction		correction	
	(-3.05)		(-0.78)
Real oil price	0.0859***	Real oil price	0.0255
	(2.61)		(1.49)
Real GDP	-0.641	Real GDP	0.296***
	(-1.45)		(3.50)
Constant	-2.248*	Constant	1.201
	(-1.85)		(0.89)
N	105	N	63
t statistics in parenthes	es	t statistics in parenthes	es
* <i>p</i> < 0.1, ** <i>p</i> < 0.05, **	*** <i>p</i> < 0.01	* <i>p</i> < 0.1, ** <i>p</i> < 0.05, **	** <i>p</i> < 0.01

Appendix D: Price Elasticities of Oil Demand for Sample SSA Countries. Pooled mean group estimation of the price elasticity of demand for oil - 1990-2011

Notes: The sample consists of the countries examined in Chapter 4. All variables are in natural logarithmic terms. The dependent variable is oil consumption, thousands of barrels per day, obtained from the United States Energy Information Agency database. The real oil price and real GDP data are from the IMF IFS. All data are annual from 1990-2011. The oil demand equation estimated is:

 $lnD_{it} = \alpha_i + \delta lnD_{i,t-1} + \beta_1 lnROP_{i,t} + \beta_2 lnGDP_{i,t} + \varepsilon_{i,t}$

Where D, ROP and GDP are oil consumption, real oil price, and real domestic GDP respectively. This oil demand equation is frequently used to estimate price and income elasticities – See Cooper (2003) ,Jobling and Jamasb (2015) and references therein.

Variable	IPS Test statistic	MW test statistic	CIPS test statistic
Ln(ttb)	-3.914***	51.344	-0.849
	(0.000)	(0.979)	(0.198)
Ln(ntb)	-3.774***	206.129***	0.571
	(0.000)	(0.000)	0.716
ТТВ	-1.692**	99.986**	-2.210**
	(0.045)	(0.024)	(0.014)
NTB	-2.573***	129.884***	-2.596***
	(0.005)	(0.000)	(0.005)
ОТВ	-3.634***	158.934***	-3.8181***
	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.001)
Ln(fint)	-1.368*	73.173	-1.391*
	(0.086)	(0.505)	(0.082)
Ln(tot)	-1.25	62.975	0.094
	(0.450)	(0.816)	(0.537)
Ln(gdpdiff)	2.496	63.372	2.981
	(0.994)	(0.94)	(0.999)
Ln(roilp)	-2.184**	80.184	26.228
	(0.014)	(0.291)	(1.000)
Ln(rer)	1.275	70.928	0.680
	(0.899)	(0.580)	(0.752)

Notes: All tests have the null hypothesis that the series have unit toots, against the alternative of stationary series. A time trend is included in all tests and the number of lags that minimises the AIC is selected. IPS test statistic is the Im et al. (2003) Z statistic. CIPS is the test for unit roots in heterogeneous panels which allows for cross-section dependence by augmenting ADF tests with cross sectional averages of the individual series, as proposed by Pesaran (2007). MW combines the p-values from N independent unit root tests, as developed by Maddala and Wu (1999). The tests are conducted for the full sample with N=37, T=21.

Appendix F- Data sources										
Variable	Source									
Oil exports and imports, Billions of US \$	IMF WEO									
Total exports and imports, Billions of US \$	IMF DOTS									
Nominal US\$ exchange rates	IMF IFS									
Consumer Price Indices	IMF WEO									
World and domestic GDP in constant 2005 US \$	WDI									
Nominal GDP, Billions of US \$	WEO									
Terms of Trade index	WDI									
Total assets and Liabilities, Millions of US \$	Updated and extended version of dataset constructed by Lane and Milesi-Ferretti (2007)									
Oil price	IMF IFS									

Notes: IMF- International Monetary Fund; WEO- World Economic Outlook; DOTS- Direction of Trade Statistics; IFS- International Financial Statistics; WDI- World Bank's World Development Indicators

Appendix E- Unit Root Tests:

Appendix G- List of sample countries:

Oil Importing SSA countries	Oil exporting SSA countries
Benin	Angola
Botswana	Chad
Burkina Faso	Democratic Republic of Congo
Burundi	Republic of Congo
Cabo Verde	Equatorial Guinea
Central African Republic	Gabon
Comoros	Nigeria
Ethiopia	Sudan
Ghana	
Guinea	
Guinea Bissau	
Кепуа	
Lesotho	
Madagascar	
Malawi	
Mali	
Mauritania	
Mauritius	
Mozambique	
Namibia	
Niger	
Rwanda	
Seychelles	
South Africa	
Swaziland	
Tanzania	
The Gambia	
Uganda	
Zambia	

Notes: Countries are those that have at least 75% of observations on all relevant variables over the 1990-2010 period. Oil exporters are those that have average oil exports at least 15% of total exports; and oil imports less than 100% of oil exports.

Low average integration: Below 160% of GDP	Intermediate average integration: Between 160% and 200% of GDP	High average integration: Above 200% of GDP
Benin Botswana Burkina Faso Burundi Cabo Verde Central African Republic Chad Comoros Eritrea Ethiopia Gabon Ghana Guinea Kenya Madagascar Malawi Mali Namibia Niger Nigeria Rwanda Sierra-Leone South Africa Swaziland Tanzania The Gambia Uganda	Angola Democratic Republic of Congo Mozambique	Congo Equatorial Guinea Guinea-Bissau Lesotho Liberia Mauritania Mauritius Seychelles Sudan São Tomé and Principe Zambia

Appendix H: Grouping of countries by average levels of international financial integration, 1990-2011

Notes: The Table groups our sample countries into high, intermediate and low integration levels based on the estimated threshold levels of integration which range from around 160% of GDP to 397% of GDP, depending on the estimated models, and on whether the dependent variable is the nonoil balance or overall balance. 200% of GDP is chosen as the cut off for high integration because the estimated thresholds are close to this figure in many cases. The grouping is done based on the average level of integration for each country over the sample period, and is intended to give an idea of the distribution of countries, on average, across regimes. However, it does not represent the countries included in any one model since countries switch between low and high volatility regimes over time depending on their level of integration during each year, and the model then uses observations on all countries in each regime.

Donondont										
variable		Baselin	e model			Woder				
_	m = 0	m = 1	m = 2	m *	m = 0	m = 1	m = 2	m *		
Ln(ttb)	0.004	0.064	0.177	m *= 1	0.000	0.000	0.470	<i>m</i> *= 1		
Ln(ntb)	0.023	0.120		m *= 1	0.000	0.024	0.281	m *= 1		
ОТВ	0.336			m *= 0	0.757			m *= 0		
NTB	0.031	0.045	0.011	m *= 1	0.018	0.018	0.036	<i>m</i> *= 2		
ТТВ	0.066	0.277		<i>m</i> *= 1	0.079	0.035	0.053	<i>m</i> *= 2		

Appendix I: Linearity tests for models when controlling for the 2008-2009 crisis. Linearity Tests: Full sample with time dummies (p - values)

Linearity Tests: Oil importers with time dummies (ho-values)

Dependent		Baselin	e model			Model with RER				
variable _	<i>m</i> = 0	<i>m</i> = 1	<i>m</i> = 2	<i>m</i> *	m = 0	<i>m</i> = 1	<i>m</i> = 2	<i>m</i> *		
Ln(ttb)	0.002	0.400		<i>m</i> *= 1	0.002	0.028	0.378	<i>m</i> *= 1		
Ln(ntb)	0.000	0.183		m *= 1	0.000	0.004	0.544	m *= 1		
ОТВ	0.383			m *= 0	0.112			m *= 0		
NTB	0.013	0.109		m *= 1	0.007	0.000	0.045	<i>m</i> *= 2		
TTB	0.051	0.187		m *= 1	0.005	0.019	0.129	m *= 1		

Linearity Tests	Oil exporters with	time dummies	$(\rho - values)$)
-----------------	--------------------	--------------	-------------------	---

Dependent variable	Model with RER and domestic real oil price				Model with RER			
	m = 0	m = 1	<i>m</i> = 2	<i>m</i> *	m = 0	m = 1	<i>m</i> = 2	<i>m</i> *
Ln(ttb)	0.173			m *= 0	0.489			m *= 0
Ln(ntb)	0.039	0.193	0.369	<i>m</i> *= 2	0.039	0193	0.369	<i>m</i> *= 2
Ln(otb)	0.953			m *= 0	0.953			m *= 0
OTB	0.976			m *= 0	0.953			m *= 0
NTB	0.004	0.031	0.36	m *= 1	0.016	0.012	0.104	<i>m</i> *= 2
ТТВ	0.172			m *= 1	0.276			m *= 0

Notes: m refers to the number of thresholds or regimes. m=0 refers to testing the null hypothesis of a linear model against the alternative of a PSTR model with two regimes. m=1 refers to testing the null hypothesis of a PSTR with two regimes against the alternative of a PSTR with three regimes. m=2 refers to testing the null hypothesis of a PSTR with three regimes against the alternative of a PSTR with three regimes. The optimal value of m, i.e. m*, is selected based on the strongest rejection of the null hypothesis. Ln(ttb) and Ln(ntb) refer to our preferred overall and nonoil trade balance measures in equations (i) respectively. OTB, NTB and TTB refer to the oil, nonoil and overall trade balances as a percentage of GDP, as in equations (ii). Note that for the oil exporter subsample, only the models that show a significant threshold are shown. Evidently the threshold is not robust to using the terms of trade in place of the real exchange rate. For the full sample and oil importer subsample, the results are significant in a similar way when using the TOT or RER in combination with the domestic real oil price. These results are available upon request.